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How to Use This Volume

HOW TO USE VOLUME 1

Scope of Volume 1 ...

This volume, which is a reprint of volume 1 of the looseleaf edition of AICPA
Professional Standards, includes the currently effective pronouncements on
professional standards issued by the the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA).

How This Volume Is Arranged ...

The contents of this volume are arranged as follows:

Statements on Auditing Standards and related Auditing
Interpretations

Introduction

The General Standards

The Standards of Field Work

The First, Second, and Third Standards of Reporting
The Fourth Standard of Reporting

Other Types of Reports

Special Topics

Compliance Auditing

Special Reports of the Committee on Auditing Procedure

Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements and
related Attest Engagements Interpretations

Attest Engagements

Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements

Financial Forecasts and Projections

Reporting on Pro Forma Financial Information

Reporting on an Entity’s Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Compliance Attestation

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

How to Use This Volume ...

The arrangement of material is indicated in the general table of contents at
the front of the volume. There is a detailed table of contents covering the
material within each major division.

Cross-REFERENCES TO SASs

There are three parts relating to auditing standards as follows:

Part I is a list of Statements on Auditing Procedure Nos. 1-54, State-
ments on Auditing Standards, and Statements on Standards for Attestation
Engagements issued to date.

Part II provides a list of sources of sections in the current text.

Part III is a list of sections in Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1,
Codification of Auditing Standards and Procedures.

AICPA Professional Standards



How to Use This Volume
AupiTING (UNITED STATES)

The major divisions are divided into sections, each with its own section
number. Each paragraph within a section is decimally numbered. For example,
AU section 210.04 refers to the fourth paragraph of section 210, Training and
Proficiency of the Independent Auditor.

Auditing Interpretations are numbered in the 9000 series with the last three
digits indicating the section to which the Interpretation relates. Interpretations
immediately follow their corresponding section. For example, Interpretations
related to section 311 are numbered 9311 which directly follows section 311.

There are six appendixes relating to auditing standards as follows:

Appendix A provides the historical background for the present State-
ments on Auditing Standards.

Appendix B provides an analysis of International Standards on Auditing
to AICPA Statements on Auditing Standards.

Appendix C indicates sections and paragraphs of the text cross-referenced
to Auditing Interpretations.

Appendix D provides a list of AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides and
Statements of Position.

Appendix E provides a schedule of changes in Statements on Auditing
Standards since the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1,
Codification of Auditing Standards and Procedures, Nos. 33 through 54.

Appendix F provides a list of other auditing publications published by
the AICPA as of January 1, 2003, that have been reviewed by the AICPA
Audit and Attest Standards staff and are therefore presumed to be appro-
priate as defined in section 150, Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.
A topical index is provided for the Auditing division, and is identified as AU

Topical Index.

ATTESTATION ENGAGEMENTS

Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements and Attest Engage-
ments Interpretations appear with the prefix AT in their section numbers.
Attest Engagements Interpretations are numbered in the 9000 series with the
last three digits indicating the section to which the Interpretation relates.
Interpretations immediately follow their corresponding section. For example,
Interpretations relating to section 101 are numbered 9101 which directly
follows section 101.

A topical index is provided for this division and is identified as AT Topical
Index.

Topical Index ...

The topical indexes use the key word method to facilitate reference to the
pronouncements. The indexes are arranged alphabetically by topic and refer
the reader to major divisions, sections, and paragraph numbers.

Master Topical Index ...

The Master Topical Index, appearing on the following pages, includes the
major headings from each one of the indexes in the AICPA Professional
Standards. The letter citations refer the reader to the index in which the major
headings are used.

Indexes are cited in these volumes as follows:

Copyright © 2003, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



How to Use This Volume

Citation
Auditing (United States) AU
Attestation Engagements AT
Accounting and Review Services AR
Code of Professional Conduct ET
Bylaws BL
Consulting Services CS
Tax Services TS
Personal Financial Planning PFP
Continuing Professional Education CPE

A search for information by subject heading may begin either (1) at the level
of the Master Topical Index to identify the individual indexes which contain
detailed entries on the subject or (2) at the level of the detailed topical index
related to the subject.

Reference Abbreviations ...

References to AICPA Professional Standards use the same citations as listed
in the Master Topical Index.

The abbreviation AC is used to indicate references to the Accounting
Standards—Current Text published by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board. The Current Text contains an abridged version of the currently effective
financial and reporting standards as amended to date. Quotations of accounting
standards in this volume are derived from the original pronouncements and
may have been editorially changed in the Current Text.

AICPA Professional Standards






Master Topical Index

MASTER TOPICAL INDEX

References are to indexes in the AICPA Professional Standards.

A

ACCEPTABLE SUBJECTS ............... CPE
ACCOUNTABILITY ..o AU
ACCOUNTANT . ... AT
ACCOUNTANT, INDEPENDENT............ AR
ACCOUNTING ..........couunnn. AR; AU; BL
ACCOUNTING AND REVIEW SERVICES

COMMITTEE . ... ... .. BL
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES—See Estimation
ACCOUNTING GUIDES, INDUSTRY ......... AU
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD

OPINIONS . ... ET
ACCOUNTING RESEARCH BULLETINS .. .... ET
ACCOUNTING SERVICES ............. AR; ET
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS EXECUTIVE

COMMITTEE ... oo BL

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE—See Payables
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE—See Receivables
ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING . ........ AU

ACQUISITION OF A BUSINESS—See
Business Combinations

ACTS DISCREDITABLE . . ............. BL; ET
ACTUARIES . ... ... AU
ADDRESSEE OF AUDITOR'S REPORT .. ... .. AU

ADMINISTRATIVE CONTROL—See
Internal Control

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS . ......... T8

ADMISSION TO ASSOCIATION—See
International Associates

ADMISSION TO MEMBERSHIP—See

Membership

ADVERSE OPINIONS. . ............ AR; AT; AU
ADVERTISING. . . ... ET
ADVICE TO CLIENTS ...t BL; TS
ADVOCACY .. e BL
AFFILIATED COMPANIES ................ AU
AGGREGATION—See Summarization
AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES ......... AT; AU
AGREEMENTS—See Contracts

ALLOCATIONOF COST. . ... .o ovee e AU
ALTERNATIVE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES. ... AU
ALTERNATIVE PRACTICE STRUCTURE . ... .. ET

AICPA Professional Standards

AMENDMENTS ... ..o BL
AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION .. .......... AU
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CPAs . ...... AR; AU;

........................... BL; CPE; ET

ANALYTICAL PROCEDURES AR; AT; AU
ANNUAL MEETINGS—See Meetings of Institute
ANNUAL REPORTS—See Reports to Stockholders

ANSWERS TO QUESTIONS—See
Questions on Returns

APPLICABILITY . ..o AT
APPRAISALS. ... ET
APPRAISERS. . . ... AU
APS—See Alternative Practice Structure

ASSEMBLY. . ..o AT
ASSERTIONS . ..o AT
ASSESSMENT ..ot AU
ASSETS ..o AU

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES—See
Affiliated Companies

ASSOCIATES—See International Associates
ASSOCIATION WITH FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS ... .o AU
ASSURANCE SERVICES EXECUTIVE

COMMITTEE. .. ... BL
ATTEST .o AT
ATTEST DOCUMENTATION . . ... ...ttt . . AT
ATTEST ENGAGEMENTS. ......... AT; AU; ET
ATTEST SERVICES .. .. ... CS
ATTESTATION ... AT; BL
ATTESTATION ENGAGEMENTS .. .......... ET
ATTESTATIONRISK .. ...t AT
ATTESTATION STANDARDS . ............. AT
ATTESTER .. oot AT
ATTESTING . ... AT
ATTORNEYS—See Lawyers
AUDIT COMMITTEE. ... ... ..t t AU; BL
AUDIT DOCUMENTATION—AIso see

Working Papers...................... AU
AUDIT ENGAGEMENT . ........... AR; AU; ET
AUDITFUNCTION .. ..ot AU
AUDIT GUIDES, INDUSTRY .. ............. AU
AUDIT OF INSTITUTE .. ...t BL

AUD

21
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AUD

Master Topical Index

References are to indexes in the AICPA Professional Standards.

AUDIT PROGRAM—See Program, Audit
AUDIT RISK—See Risk

AUDIT SAMPLING . .. ... .o AU
AUDITTESTS ... ..o AU
AUDITING INTERPRETATIONS . ... ......... AU
AUDITING PROCEDURES. . ............... AU

AUDITING STANDARDS—See Generally
Accepted Auditing Standards

AUDITING STANDARDS BOARD. . . ......... BL
AUDITOR, INDEPENDENT ............. AT; AU
AUDITOR, INTERNAL. . ............... AT; AU

AUDITORS’ OPINIONS—See Opinions, Auditors’

AUDITORS' REPORTS—AIso see

Reports, Auditors’ ............ ... ... AU
AUTHORITIES, REGULATORY—See

Regulatory Agencies

AUTHORIZATION. . ... oot AR; AU

BALANCE SHEETS—See
Statements of Financial Position

BALLOT—See Mail Ballot

BANKERS . . ... ... AU
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING . . ............... AU
BILLINGS TOCLIENTS .................. ET
BOARD OF DIRECTORS. .......... AU; BL; ET
BOARD OF EXAMINERS. .. ............... BL
BOARDS OF INSTITUTE ................. BL
BONDHOLDERS ............. ...t ET

BOOK VALUE—See Carrying Amount
BOOKS—See Records

BORROWING CONTRACT ............. AU; ET
BUDGETS. ... ... AU; BL
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS. . ....... AT; AU; ET
BUSINESS ENTERPRISE . . ............... AU
BUSINESS VALUATION . .. ............... AR
BYLAWS OF INSTITUTE. .. ... BL
C

CAPITAL STRUCTURE . ... ... AU
CAPITAL, WORKING—See Working Capital

CAPITALIZATION. . .. ..o AU
CAPSULE INFORMATION. . ............... AU
CARRYING AMOUNT .. ... AU
CASH—AIso see Solvency ............... AU

CASH BASIS STATEMENTS—See Special Reports
CASH FLOWS—See Statements of Cash Flows

CENSURE ..t BL
CERTIFICATE, CPA—See CPA Certificate
CERTIFICATE OF MEMBERSHIP .. ... ...... BL
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS . . . .. BL; CS;
.............................. ET; PFP
CHAIRMAN OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS. . . . .. BL
CHANGE OF ACCOUNTANTS . ............ AR
CHANGE OF AUDITORS . .. ...\ \vee AU
CHANGES, ACCOUNTING ............ AR; AU

CHANGES, PRICE LEVEL—See
Price Level Changes

CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS. . .......... ET
CIRA—See Common Interest Realty Association

CIVIC ORGANIZATIONS .. ......... ... ... ET
CLAIMS. ... AU
CLASSIFICATION . . ..o oo AU
CLIENTS......... AR; AT; AU; CS; ET; PFP; TS
CLOSERELATIVE . ..., ET
CLOSELY HELD COMPANIES. . ........ AU; ET

CODE OF CONDUCT—See Conduct,
Code of Professional

COLLATERAL ..o AU
COLLECTION AGENTS. ... oooo et ET
COLLUSION—See Fraud

COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .. .... AU
COMBINED REPORTS . ................. AT

COMFORT LETTERS—See Letters for
Underwriters

COMMISSIONS . ..o ET
COMMITTEE . ... AU; BL
COMMON CARRIERS—See Regulated Industries
COMMON INTEREST REALTY

ASSOCIATION. .. ..o ET

COMMUNICATION . .. ......... AR; AT; AU; BL;
........................ CS; ET; PFP; TS

COMPARABILITY .. ...t AR; AU
COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS. ............ ... ... AR; AU
COMPARATIVE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL

INFORMATION. .. ... AT
COMPENSATING BALANCES . ............ AU
COMPETENCE. ............. AU; BL; CPE; ET
COMPILATION ENGAGEMENT ......... AR; ET
COMPILATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS ...t AR; AU
COMPILATION OF PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS. ... AT

Copyright © 2003, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



Master Topical Index
References are to indexes in the AICPA Professional Standards.

COMPILATION REPORTS .. ...ovoinnn AR
COMPLAINTS AGAINST MEMBERS .. ....... BL
COMPLETENESS .. ... AT; AU
COMPLIANCE ATTESTATION . ............ AT
COMPLIANCE AUDITING. . . ..o AU
COMPLIANCE REPORTS—See Special Reports
COMPLIANCE TESTS . ..o AU
COMPONENTS. ... AT
COMPONENTS OF ABUSINESS .. ...... AR; AU
COMPREHENSIVE BASIS OF

ACCOUNTING ................v. AR; AU
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION . . . .. AU
CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . .. .. AU

CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATIONS—See
Common Interest Realty Association

CONDUCT, CODE OF

PROFESSIONAL. ... AR; AU; BL; CS; ET; PFP
CONFIDENTIAL CLIENT

INFORMATION . . ........... AR; AU; ET; TS
CONFIRMATIONS . . ... ..o AR; AU
CONFLICT OF INTERESTS ............ AU; ET
CONSISTENCY. ... AU

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. .. AU
CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS . ... ... AU
CONSOLIDATING INFORMATION. . . ........ AU
CONSULTATION. .. ..o AU
CONSULTING SERVICES .......... AT; CS; ET
CONTINGENCIES . .. ..o AR; AU
CONTINGENTFEES .. ......... ... ... ... ET
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES ............... AU
CONTINUING AUDITOR. . . ..o oo AU
CONTINUING INDEPENDENT

ACCOUNTANT . . ..o AR
CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION—

Also see Training and Education ....... CPE
CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT . ............ BL
CONTRACTS .ot AU
CONTROL ... AU
CONTROLRISK . ... AT; AU
CONTROLLERS . ... ... ET
CONTROLLERSHIP SERVICES. . ........... AR

CONVICTION OF CRIME—See
Criminal Conviction

COOPERATIVE ARRANGEMENTS .......... ET

AICPA Professional Standards

COOPERATIVES—See Common Interest
Realty Association

CORPORATE JOINT VENTURES—See
Jointly Owned Companies

CORRECTION OF ERROR. . ........... AR; AU
COST ..o AU
COST-BENEFIT RELATIONSHIPS . .......... AU
COSTMETHOD. .......covviiiiia AU
COUNCIL OF INSTITUTE .. . ... .ot s BL; ET

COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS—See Resolutions
of Council

COURTDECISIONS . .. ... oo D]
COVERED MEMBERS . .................. ET
CPACERTIFICATE. .. ... BL

CPA EXAMINATION—See Examination,
Uniform CPA

CREDIT,CPE ... ... ..o CPE
CREDITUNIONS . .......... ... ... ... ET
CREDITORS ... ... AU
CRIMINAL CONVICTION. . .. ........ooa BL
CRITERIA .. ... AT
CURRENT LIABILITIES. . ... ..o AU
CURRENT-VALUE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS ...t AU
CUTOFFDATES ... AU

D

DATA ... AU; TS
DATAPROCESSING ................. AU; ET
DATE OF REPORT............... AR; AT; AU
DEBT ..o AU
DECISIONS. . ... ... T8
DECLARATIONS . ... IN]
DEFALCATIONS—See Fraud
DEFENSE INDUSTRY QUESTIONNAIRE . ... .. AT
DEFICIENCIES ......... ... ..ot AT
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSIONPLANS .. ...... AU

DEFINITIONS—See Terminology
DEPARTURE FROM STANDARD REPORT . .. .. AU
DEPARTURES FROM ESTABLISHED

23

PRINCIPLES . .. .............. AR; AU; ET
DEPOSITORY INSTITUTIONS . . .. .......... AU
DEPRECIATION. .. ...... ..o AU
DERIVATIVES—See Investments

DER
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References are to indexes in the AICPA Professional Standards.

DESIGN . ... AU EMPHASIS OF A MATTER ......... AR; AT; AU
DESIGN EFFECTIVENESS EVALUATION.. . . ... AT EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS . ............ ET
DESIGN SUITABILITY . .................. AT EMPLOYEES .. ... i, AU; ET
DESIGNATIONOF FIRM. .. ............... ET EMPLOYERS . . o+ oo ET
DETECTIONRISK . ... AT EMPLOYMENT. .. ET
DILIGENCE . ... BT ENGAGEMENT ................. AR; AT; AU
DIRECTORS—See Board of Directors ENGAGEMENT LETTERS .. . .. .. AR; AT; AU; ET
DISCIPLINARY SANCTIONS . .. ......... AU; BL ENGAGEMENT PERFORMANCE . AT
DISCIPLINARY SUSPENSION—See
Suspension of Membership ENGINEERS ... ... ... ... ... . AU
DISCLAIMER OF OPINION . .. . . ... AR; AT; AU ENTITY .o AT
DISCLOSURE . .......... AR; AU; CPE; ET; TS ENTITY, ACCOUNTING. . ................ AT
DISCOVERY ....coveeeeeaeeaee. .. AR; AU ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS . ........ AU
DISCREDITABLE ACTS—See Acts Discreditable EQUITY METHOD. . ....... ...ttt AU
DISCRIMINATION . ..................... ET ERROR CORRECTION—See Correction of Error
DISPUTES WITH CLIENTS . . .............. ET ERRORS—AIso see Fraud .. ............. TS
DIVISION FOR CPA FIRMS (AICPA). . ..... AU; BL ESTATES . o o oo ET
DOCUMENTAHON—NSO see ESTIMATION . .. oo, AR; AU; TS
Audit Documentation .. ....... AT; CPE; PFP
ETHICALPRINCIPLES . ................. AU
DUE PROFESSIONAL
CARE . ... . ... .. . ... AT; AU; CS; ET; TS ETHICS DIVISION—See Professional
DUES .« oot BL Ethics Division
EVALUATION BASED IN PART ON REPORT
E OF OTHER PRACTITIONER ............ AT
EVENTS ... ...t AR; AU; TS
EARNED SURPLUS—See Retained Earnings
EVIDENTIAL MATTER. . ........... AR; AT; AU
EARNINGS . ........... ... i, AU EXAMINATION AT
ECONOMIC ACTIVITY .. ... AU T T
EXAMINATION OF PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL
ECONOMIC CONDITIONS . ... oo AU STATEMENTS ...\ AT
EDP—See Data Processing EXAMINATION REPORTS—See Reports
EDP SERVICE CENTER—See Service on Attest Engagements
Organizations
EXAMINATION, UNIFORMCPA .. .......... BL
EDUCATION AND TRAINING—See Training )
and Education EXAMINERS—See Board of Examiners
EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTIONS . . ........... ET EXAMPLES—See lllustrations
EDUCATIONAL SERVICES ... ...t ET EXCEPT FOR OPINION—See Qualified Opinion
EDUCATORS. ... ... ET EXECUTION OF INSTRUMENTS ........... BL
EFFECTIVENESS. . ...... ... ...t AU EXECUTIVE SEARCH SERVICES . .......... ET
EFFICIENCY .. ... AU EXPENSES .. ........ ... AU; BL; TS
ELECTED OFFICIALS. . .................. ET EXPERTS—See Specialists
ELECT'ONS .......................... BL EXPLANATORY LANGUAGE ........... AT, AU
ELECTRONIC SITE—See Information EXPORT SALES. ...\ AU
Technology (IT) )
ELEMENTS. AT EXTERNAL AUDITOR—See Auditor, Independent
ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL EXTERNAL INFORMATION .. ............. AT
STATEMENTS .................. AR; AU EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS . ............... AU
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F

FACULTY MEMBERS . .................. ET
FAIR PRESENTATION . .. ............. AR; AU
FAIR VALUE—AIso see Valuation .......... AU
FAMILY RELATIONSHIPS . ............ AU; ET
FEASIBILITY STUDIES . ................. ET
FEDERAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

ADVISORY BOARD (FASAB) ............ ET
FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE ACT .. ..... AU

FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION
(FDIC)—See Federal Deposit Insurance Act

FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE—See
Compliance Auditing

FEDERAL INCOME TAXES—See Income Taxes

FEES . o ET
FELONY—See Criminal Conviction
FIDUCIARY . ..ot ET

FIELD WORK—See Standards of Field Work,
Audit or Standards of Field Work, Attest

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

BOARD ... AU; ET
FINANCIAL FORECASTS AND
PROJECTIONS. . . ... AT

FINANCIAL INFORMATION—See Financial
Statements

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS . .............. ET
FINANCIAL INTEREST. . .. ..ot ET
FINANCIAL POSITION . . ... ... ..o oae s AR; AU
FINANCIAL REPORTING . ................ BL
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. . ..... AR; AT; AU; ET
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INSTITUTE .... BL
FINDINGS. . ..o AT
FINES—See Penalties

FRM .o AU; BL; ET
FRMNAME ... ..t ET
FIRST-IN, FIRST-OUT. .. ...t AU
FISCALPERIOD . ... AU; BL

FIXED ASSETS—See Property
FOOTNOTES—See Notes to Financial Statements

FOREIGN CITIZENSHIP—See International
Associates

FOREIGN CORRUPT PRACTICES ACT
OF 1977 ... AT; AU

FOREIGN COUNTRY .................... AU
FORGERY—See Fraud

AICPA Professional Standards

FORM 10K (SEC) ........... ... ... ... AU
FORM10-Q(SEC)......coviiii AU
FORM 990 (INTERNAL REVENUE) .. ........ AU
FORM OF ORGANIZATION .. .............. ET

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION.. . . . .. AT; AU
FRAUD ... ..o AR; AU
FUND-RAISING ORGANIZATIONS . .......... ET

FUNDS STATEMENT—See Statements of
Cash Flows

G

GAIN CONTINGENCIES ... ... AU
GENERAL STANDARDS. ................. ET
GENERAL STANDARDS, ATTEST........... AT
GENERAL STANDARDS, AUDIT . ....... AR; AU
GENERALUSE ........ ... ..ot AT
GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING

PRINCIPLES. ................ AR; AU; ET
GENERALLY ACCEPTED AUDITING

STANDARDS . .................. AR; AU
GENERALLY ACCEPTED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS . ... ...t AU

GENERALLY ACCEPTED GOVERNMENTAL
AUDITING STANDARDS—See Governmental
Auditing Standards

GEOGRAPHICAREAS . .................. AU
GEOLOGISTS ..o AU
GIFTS. .o ET
GOINGCONCERN. . .......... ...t AR; AU
GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS BOARD .............. AU; ET
GOVERNMENTAL AGENCIES. ... ... AU; BL; ET

GOVERNMENTAL AUDITING STANDARDS .. .. AU

25

GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES . . ... .......... AU
GOVERNMENTAL REPORTING ENTITY. .. .... ET
GRANTS. ... .. AU
GUARANTEES AND WARRANTIES .......... AU
GUIDELINES . .. ... .o AU
GUI
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H

HARASSMENT . ... ... i ET
HARD DATA ... AT
HEALTH AND WELFARE PLANS. ........... ET
HEDGING—See Investments

HIERARCHY OF GAAP . . .. ...t AU
HISTORICAL COST ... .o AU
HISTORICAL SUMMARIES ... ............. AU
HOLDINGOUT ...... .o ET

HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATIONS—See Common
Interest Realty Association

HYPOTHETICAL ASSUMPTION .. .......... AT
I

ILLEGALACTS . ...ttt AR; AU

ILLUSTRATIONS . . ....... AR; AT; AU; PFP; TS

IMMEDIATE FAMILY. .. ... ET

IMPAIRMENT. .. ... AU

IMPLEMENTATION ENGAGEMENT .. ....... PFP

INCOME STATEMENTS—See Statements of
Income

INCOME TAX RETURNS—See Tax Returns

INCOME TAXES .. ... AU
INCOMPETENCE. . ..................... BL
INCONSISTENT INFORMATION .. .......... AT
INDEPENDENCE . . ........ AR; AT; AU; BL; ET

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR—See Auditor,
Independent

INDIVIDUAL IN A POSITION TO INFLUENCE
AN ATTEST ENGAGEMENT. . ........... ET
INDUSTRY ACCOUNTING GUIDES—See
Accounting Guides, Industry

INDUSTRY AUDIT GUIDES—See Audit Guides,
Industry

INDUSTRY PRACTICES .. ............ AR; AU
INFORMATION . ................... AR; AU
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (IT) .......... AU
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE. . ... BL
INHERENTRISK . ............o it AT
INQUIRIES .................... AR; AT; AU

INSTITUTE—See American Institute of CPAs
INSTRUMENTS—See Execution of Instruments
INSURANCE . . ..o BL
INSURANCE COMPANIES . ............ AU; ET

INTEGRITY ... ET
INTENTIONAL MISSTATEMENT—See Fraud

INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS ......... AU
INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION . .. .. AT; AU
INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ... .. AT; AU

INTERNAL AUDIT—See Auditor, Internal
INTERNAL AUDITOR—See Auditor, Internal

INTERNAL CONTROL. . ........... AR; AT; AU
INTERNAL REVENUE CODE . . ............ TS
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE . ... ... .. AU; TS
INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATE. . ........ BL; ET

INTERNATIONAL AUDITING STANDARDS . ... AU

INTERPRETATIONS, AUDITING—See Auditing
Interpretations

INTERPRETATIONS OF RULES OF

CONDUCT ... ET
INTERPRETIVE PUBLICATIONS. . .......... AU
INTERVIEWS ... .. ... ET
INVENTORIES .. ........ ... .. ... AR; AU
INVESTEES . . .................. AR; AU; ET
INVESTMENT ADVISORY SERVICES .. ...... ET
INVESTMENT CLUBS. . ................. ET
INVESTMENT COMPANIES. .. ............ ET
INVESTMENTS . ......... ot AU; ET
INVESTORS. . ... AU; ET
IRREGULARITIES—See Fraud

J
JOINT CLOSELY HELD INVESTMENT .. ..... ET
JOINTTRIALBOARD .. .......ccivvnnn BL
JOINTLY OWNED COMPANIES . .. ......... AR
JUDGMENT . ............. AR; AU; CS; ET; TS
K
KEYFACTORS. . ... AT
KEYPOSITION. . . ... ET
KINSHIP—See Family Relationships
KNOWLEDGE .. ................ AR; AT; AU
L
LAST-IN, FIRST-OUT. . ... ..o AU
LAWS—AIso see Compliance

Attestation . ............. ... ... AU; ET
LAWSUITS—See Litigation
LAWYERS ... ... .. AR; AU; ET
LEASES .. .. AU; ET
LEGAL MATTERS. .. ................ AT; AU
LEGISLATORS . . ... oo ET
LETTERHEADS . ...... ..o ET
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LETTERS FOR UNDERWRITERS ........... AU

LETTERS OF REPRESENTATION—See
Representation Letters

LIABILITIES ... AU; BL
LICENSES ... AU
LIENS ..o ET
LIMITATIONS .. ..o AT; PFP
LIMITED ASSURANCE. . ................. AR
LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS ................ ET

LIMITED REVIEW—See Review of Interim
Financial Information

LIMITEDUSE . .......... .. AT
LINEOFCREDIT. .. ..o AU
LINES OF BUSINESS—See Segment Information
LIQUIDATION . . . oo AU
LITERATURE—See Publications

LITIGATION . ....... ..ot AR; AU; BL; ET

LITIGATION SERVICES—See Legal Matters
LOAN AGREEMENTS—See Borrowing Contract

LOSS CONTINGENCIES .. ...ttt AU
LOSS RESERVES (INSURANCE) ........... AU
LOSSES. ..o AU
M
MAIL BALLOT. ..o BL
MANAGEMENT. ........... AR; AT; AU; BL; ET
MANAGEMENT CONSULTING SERVICES—AIso
see Consulting Services .. ............ BL
MANAGEMENT CONSULTING SERVICES
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE ... ........... BL
MANAGEMENT SERVICES ............... AR
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS ..o AT
MANAGER . ... ... o ET

MANUALS—See Publications
MARKETABLE SECURITIES—See Investments
MATCHING PRINCIPLE . . . ............... AU

MATERIAL WEAKNESSES—See Reportable
Conditions

MATERIALITY . ... AR; AT; AU; ET
MATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS ... ....... AU

MD&A—See Management's Discussion
and Analysis

MEASURABILITY. .. ..o AT
MEASUREMENT . ................... AR; AU

AICPA Professional Standards

MEETINGS, GENERAL PROVISIONS. . ....... BL
MEETINGS OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS ... ... BL
MEETINGS OF COUNCIL . . . ... ..ottt BL
MEETINGS OF INSTITUTE . . ... ........... BL
MEMBER OR MEMBER'S FIRM. .. .......... ET
MEMBERS—AIso see Membership ... ... ET; TS
MEMBERS-AT-LARGE OF COUNCIL ......... BL
MEMBERS NOT IN PUBLIC PRACTICE . ... ... ET
MEMBERSHIP. . ............... AU; BL; CPE
MERGERS—See Business Combinations

MILITARY SERVICE . ... ... BL
MINUTES OF MEETINGS ... ........... AU; BL

MISAPPROPRIATION—See Fraud
MISLEADING FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS ........... ... ... AR; AU
MISREPRESENTATION . .............. ET; TS
MISSION OF THE INSTITUTE. . ............ BL
MISSTATEMENTS . .................. AT; AU

MISTAKES—See Fraud
MONITORING AND UPDATING

ENGAGEMENTS . ............. .. ... PFP
MULTIPLE COMPONENTS. . .............. AT
MULTIPLE LOCATIONS . ... ... ... AT
MUNICIPALITIES . . ..o ET

N
NATIONAL REVIEWBOARD .. ............. AU
NATURE, TIMING, AND EXTENT ........... AT
NEGATIVE ASSURANCE ................. AU
NEGLIGENCE . ........ ... it AU
NETINCOME . ... ... . AU
NET REALIZABLE VALUE. . ............... AU
NEWSLETTERS. . ... it ET
NOMINATIONS . ... BL
NONATTEST SERVICES ................. AT
NONAUDIT SERVICES . . ... .............. AU
NONBUSINESS ORGANIZATIONS .......... AU
NONCLIENTS . ... oo AU; ET
NONCOMPLIANCE . .................... AT
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES . .............. AU
NONFINANCIAL DATA . . ..o AT
NONMONETARY TRANSACTIONS .......... AU
NONPARTICIPANT PARTIES. . ............. AT

NONPAYMENT OF FINANCIAL OBLIGATION . .. BL
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NONPROFIT ORGANIZATIONS—See
Nonbusiness Organizations

NONPUBLIC ENTERPRISES. .. ........ AR; AU
NONSTATISTICAL SAMPLING .. ........... AU
NORMAL LENDING PROCEDURES, TERMS,

AND REQUIREMENTS. ................ ET
NOT-FOR-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS ......... ET
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ... AR; AU
NOTIFICATION . ................ AR; AU; BL

o
OBJECTIVESOFAUDIT............. ... AU
OBJECTIVES OF INSTITUTE .............. BL
OBJECTIVITY ...t AT; AU; BL; ET
OBLIGATIONS. . ... AU
OBSOLESCENCE . ..., AU
OFFICE. .. ... ET
OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

(OMB) ... AU
OFFICERS. ... ..o ET
OFFICERS OF INSTITUTE . ............... BL
OIL AND GASRESERVES ................ AU

OMB—See Office of Management and
Budget (OMB)

OMITTED AUDITING PROCEDURES ... . . .. .. AU
OPINIONS, ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

BOARD ... AU
OPINIONS, AUDITORS .. . ... .. AR; AT; AU; ET
ORGANIZATION OF INSTITUTE ............ BL
ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE. ... ... .. ... AU
ORGANIZATIONS, PROFESSIONAL ... . ... .. AU

OTHER AUDITORS’ REPORTS—See Reports,
Other Auditors’

OTHER INFORMATION. . .. ............... AT
OVER-THE-COUNTER STOCKS. ............ AU
OWNERS—See Stockholders/Owners

OWNERS’ EQUITY—See Stockholders’ Equity

OWNERSHIP. ......... ... ..o AU
P

PARENT COMPANY. .................... AU
PARTIAL PRESENTATION . ............... AT
PARTNERS . ... ..o ET
PARTNERS AND PROFESSIONAL

EMPLOYEES ................oitt. ET
PARTNERSHIPS ........ ... ...t ET

PAYABLES . ... AU
PAYROLLS ...t ET
PEERREVIEWBOARD . ................. BL
PEER REVIEWDIVISION . . ... ... oo . .. BL
PENALTIES . . ... AU; TS
PENSION PLANS . . ..o AU
PERIOD OF THE PROFESSIONAL

ENGAGEMENT . ... ET
PERMANENT COMMITTEES, BOARDS,

ANDDIVISIONS. . ..o BL
PERSONAL FINANCIAL PLANNING . . . .. ET; PFP
PERSONAL FINANCIAL PLANNING

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE . . ............ BL
PERSONAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .. .... AR
PERSONNEL—See Employees
PIECEMEAL OPINIONS. . ... ............. AU

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS—See
Common Interest Realty Association

PLANNING ................... AR; AU; PFP
PLANNING AND SUPERVISION. . . . .. AT; CS; ET
POLICIES, ACCOUNTING . .. ............. AU
POLITICAL CAMPAIGNS . ... ............. ET
POOLING OF INTERESTS. ............... AU

POSITIVE ASSURANCE—See Letters for
Underwriters

PRACTICE-MONITORING PROGRAMS . ... BL; ET
PRACTICE OF PUBLIC

ACCOUNTING . . .....ooveenn .. AT; BL; ET
PRACTITIONER . ...t AT
PRE-AWARD SURVEYS. ................. AT
PREDECESSOR AUDITOR ............... AU
PREDECESSOR INDEPENDENT

ACCOUNTANT ... AR

PREPARER’S DECLARATION—See Declarations

PRESCRIBED REPORT FORMS—See
Special Reports

PRESENTATION GUIDELINES. . ........... AT
PRESIDENT OF INSTITUTE .............. BL
PRICE LEVEL CHANGES ................ AU

PRINCIPLES, ACCOUNTING—See Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS ........... AU
PRIORPERIOD ITEMS . ................. AU
PRIOR YEARRETURNS ................. TS
PRIVATE COMPANIES PRACTICE

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE. ............. BL
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PRIVILEGED COMMUNICATION—See
Confidential Client Information

PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION.. . . . .. AT
PRO FORMA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ... ... AU
PROBABILITY . . ..o AU

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT—See Training
and Education

PROFESSIONAL ETHICS DIVISION .. .. .. AU; BL
PROFESSIONAL ETHICS EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE ...t BL

PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATIONS—See
Organizations, Professional

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. . ............. ET
PROFESSIONAL SKEPTICISM ... .......... AU
PROFICIENCY OF AUDITOR. .. ............ AU

PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENTS—See
Statements of Income

PROGRAM, AUDIT . ....... ... AU
PROGRAM DEVELOPERS, CPE .. ......... CPE
PROGRAM INSTRUCTORS, CPE . ......... CPE
PROGRAM SPONSORS, CPE............. CPE
PROMOTERS . ... oo ET
PROPERTY. ... AU
PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS .. ...t AT; AU
PROSPECTUSES ....... ... ..o AU

PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES—See
Contingencies

PROXY STATEMENTS. . ................. AU
PUBLICENTITY ... AT
PUBLIC REPRESENTATIVES ... ........... BL
PUBLIC STATEMENTS . ................. BL
PUBLIC UTILITIES—See Utilities, Public

PUBLIC WAREHOUSES. . ................ AU
PUBLICATIONS ............. ... AU; ET
PUBLICLY TRADED COMPANIES. .. ... .. AR; AU
PURCHASE/SALE OF PRACTICE. . ......... ET
PURCHASES ... ... ...t AU

Q

QUALIFIED OPINION . . . .. ... .t AR; AT; AU
QUALITY CONTROL . ... AT; AU
QUESTIONSONRETURNS .. ............. TS
QUORUM . ... BL

AICPA Professional Standards

R
RATES (INCOME TAXES). . ...ttt AU
REALESTATE. ........ .., AU
REALISTIC POSSIBILITY STANDARD . ....... T8

REALIZABLE VALUE, NET—See Net
Realizable Value

RECEIVABLES. ................. AR; AU; ET
RECOMMENDATIONS .. ... PFP
RECORDS. ... ... AU; ET
REFERRALS . ... ... ET
REFUNDS—See Claims
REGISTRAR ...\t ET
REGISTRATION STATEMENTS. ............ AU
REGULATED INDUSTRIES . .. ............. AU
REGULATIONS—AIso see Compliance

Attestation. ............. ... ... AU; ET
REGULATORY AGENCIES . ........ AR; AT; AU
REINSTATEMENT OF MEMBERSHIP. . ... . ... BL
REISSUED REPORTS . .................. AU
RELATED PARTIES . ......... it AU
RELATIONSHIP WITH CLIENTS ......... AU; ET
RELATIVES—See Family Relationships
RELEVANCE . . ... AT; AU
RELIABILITY . ... AR; AU
RELIANCE ON WORK OF OTHERS . ......... AU
REPORTABLE CONDITIONS. ........... AT; AU
REPORTS . ........ ..ot AR; AT; AU; BL; ET
REPORTS, AUDITORS". . ...t ET

REPORTS ON AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES—See
Agreed-Upon Procedures

REPORTS ON ATTEST ENGAGEMENTS . . . ... AT

REPORTS ON COMPLIANCE ATTESTATION—See
Compliance Attestation

REPORTS ON INTERNAL CONTROL—AIso
see Internal Control . ................. AU

REPORTS ON MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS—See Management's
Discussion and Analysis

REPORTS ON PRO FORMA FINANCIAL
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INFORMATION . ....... .. AT
REPORTS ON PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS ... ...t AT
REP
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REPORTS, OTHER AUDITORS'. .. ....... AT; AU [
REPORTS TO STOCKHOLDERS. .. ......... AU
SALES .t AU
REPRESENTATION LETTERS. . . . ... AR; AT; AU
SANCTIONS—See Disciplinary Sanctions
REPRESENTATIONAL FAITHFULNESS . .. .. .. AU
SAVINGS PLANS . . ..o ET
RESEARCH. . ..o BL
SCOPE LIMITATIONS . .. ... oee ... CS; PFP
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS. .. .. AU
SCOPEOFAUDIT .. ovvoveeeeeeene AU
RESERVATIONS & .o vvoveeeee e AU
SCOPE OF ENGAGEMENT . .. ............ AT
RESERVATIONS ABOUT ENGAGEMENT. . . . .. AT
SCOPE OF EXAMINATION . .............. AR
RESERVATIONS ABOUT SUBJECT MATTER
ORASSERTION ... ..\ AT SCOPEOFPRACTICE ... BL
RESERVES . .o oo AU SEC—See Securities and Exchange Commission
RESIGNATON. BL SEC PRACTICE SECTION. . ........... BL; ET
) SEC PRACTICE SECTION EXECUTIVE
RESOLUTIONS OF COUNCIL . .. ........ BL; ET CoMmITTEE BL
RESOLUTIONS OF MEMBERSHIP. . .. ....... BL SECRETARY OF INSTTUTE BL
RESPONSIBILITIES TO CLIENTS .. ......... ET SECURITIES—See Investments
RESPONSIBILITIES TO COLLEAGUES ... .. ... ET SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 . Al
RESPONSIBILITES TOPUBLIC ... ......... ET SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
RESPONSIBLE PARTY. .. ..ovvoeevean. . AT COMMISSION . .. .......... AR; AT; AU; BL
RESTATEMENTS. . .. oovve oo AU SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 . .. .. AU
RESTRICTIONS . . ..o\ o v AT; AU SEGMENT. ...ttt AT
RESTRUCTURING OF DEBT. . ............. AU SEGMENT INFORMATION. . .. ..ot AU
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS .. ......... AR: AU SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA . ............ AU
RETAINED EARNINGS . ..o\ AU SELF-STUDY PROGRAMS. . . ............ CPE
RETENTION OF MEMBERSHIP—See SERVICEBUREAUS . . ... ET
Membership SERVICE ORGANIZATIONS . . . ..o v AU
RETENTION OF RECORDS. .. ............. ET SERVICES . o+ oo AU
RETIREMENT PLANS. . .................. ET SHAREHOLDERS—See Stockholders/Owners
RETROACTIVITY ... ..o AU; BL SIGNATURES . o oo TS
REVENUE. ..., AU SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE .. ............. ET
REVIEW . ... e AT SINGLE AUDITACTOF 1984, . . ... ....... AU
REVIEW ENGAGEMENT .. ............. AR; ET SOCIAL CLUBS .+ o eoeee e ET
REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ... AR; AU SOFT INFORMATION .+ oo AT
REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL SOLICITATION—See Advertising
INFORMATION—AIso see Interim
Financial Information . ................ AU SOLVENCY ... AT
REVIEW REPORTS—AIso see Reports on SOURCES OF INFORMATION .. ... ... AR; AU
Attest Engagements ............. AR; AU SPECIALREPORTS ...t AR; AU
RIGHTS ..ot AU; BL SPECIALISTS ..o AT; AU; PFP
RISK. .t AU SPECIALIZATION . .o ovov e BL; ET
ROYALTIES. . oot AU SPECIFIED PARTIES ..o, AT
RULES OF CONDUCT . ... ovoe e AU SPOUSE OF MEMBER . ... .............. ET
RULES OF PROCEDURE . ................ BL STAFF MEMBERS .. .....ovoeenn.. BL; ET
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STANDARD REPORTS—See Auditors’ Reports
STANDARDS, ATTESTATION—See

Attestation Standards
STANDARDS, FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING ... .. AU
STANDARDS, GENERAL—See General

Standards or General Standards, Attest
or General Standards, Audit

STANDARDS OF FIELD WORK, ATTEST. .. ... AT
STANDARDS OF FIELD WORK, AUDIT . ... ... AU
STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE . ......... BL
STANDARDS OF REPORTING, ATTEST ...... AT

STANDARDS OF REPORTING, AUDIT .. .. AR; AU

STANDARDS, TECHNICAL—See Technical
Standards

STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL

UNITS ..o AU
STATE BOARDS OF ACCOUNTANCY. ... AU; CPE
STATE SOCIETIES, CPA . ......... AU; BL; CPE
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS ... ... .. AR; AU
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME . ... ... .. AR
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION . . . .. AU
STATEMENTS OF INCOME . .. ............ AU
STATEMENTS OF POSITION (AICPA). ... .... AU
STATEMENTS OF RETAINED

EARNINGS. ........ ...t AR; AU
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'

EQUITY ... AU

STATEMENTS ON QUALITY CONTROL
STANDARDS—AIso see Quality Control ... AR

STATEMENTS ON STANDARDS FOR
ATTESTATION ENGAGEMENTS—See
Attestation Engagements

STATEMENTS ON STANDARDS FOR

CONSULTING SERVICES . ............. CS
STATISTICAL SAMPLING . ............... AU
STATISTICAL SUMMARIES .. ............. AU

STATUTORY REPORTING REQUIREMENTS ... AU
STEWARDSHIP—See Accountability
STOCK—See Inventories

STOCK EXCHANGES .. .............. ... AU
STOCK TRANSFER AGENT .. ............. ET
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ... AU
STOCKHOLDERS/OWNERS ........... AU; ET
STUDENT FUNDS. . ... ..ot ET
SUBCONTRACTORS . .. .. ... ET
SUBJECTMATTER . ... AT
SUBJECT TO OPINION—See Qualified Opinion

SUBORDINATION . . .o ET

AICPA Professional Standards

SUBSEQUENT DISCOVERY OF FACTS—See
Discovery

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS. ....... AR; AT; AU; TS
SUBSTANCE V.FORM. . ................. AU
SUBSTANTIVE TESTS . . ................. AU
SUCCESSOR ACCOUNTANT . ... ET
SUCCESSORAUDITOR . ... ..o AU
SUCCESSOR INDEPENDENT

ACCOUNTANT ... .o AR
SUFFICIENT RELEVANT DATA . .. .......... CS
SUMMARIZATION . .......... .ot AU
SUPERVISION. .. ...t AR; AU; ET
SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL

INFORMATION ... ... AR; AU
SUSPENSION OF ASSOCIATION . .......... BL
SUSPENSION OF MEMBERSHIP ........... BL
SYSTEM OF QUALITY CONTROL . ... AR;AT; AU
SYSTEMATIC AND RATIONAL

ALLOCATION . ..o oo AU

T

TAX BOOKLETS—See Publications
TAX EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE ... .......... BL
TAXPRACTICE . ... oo PFP
TAX RATES—See Rates (Income Taxes)
TAXRETURN POSITIONS . ............... TS
TAXRETURNS .............. AR; AU; BL; TS
TAXSERVICES .. ... ET; TS
TAXES oo AU
TAXPAYERS . ... AU
TECHNICAL STANDARDS ... ............. BL
TERM OF OFFICE ........oovviiiiennne. BL
TERMINATION OF AFFILIATION .. .......... BL
TERMINATION OF ENGAGEMENT .......... ET
TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP . .......... BL
TERMINOLOGY . ... AR; AT; AU;

.................. CPE; CS; ET; PFP; TS
TESTS OF CONTROLS . ................. AU
TIMEPERIODS . ...t AU
TIMELINESS . . .. ..o AU

TIMESHARE DEVELOPMENTS—See
Common Interest Realty Association

TITLES, PROFESSIONAL . . .. ... a s ET

TRADE ASSOCIATIONS . .. ... ET

TRAINING AND EDUCATION . .......... AU; BL
TRA
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TRAINING AND PROFICIENCY . ............ AT \Y
TRANSACTIONS . ..o AU VACANCES. BL
TRIALBALANCE . .o AR VALIDITY—See Representation Faithfulness
TRlAL BOARD """"""""""""""""" AU vALUATlON Al p F H \ll I I u AU ET
TRUSTFUNDS .. oo ET enTURES Jouz(; Sese aJ'r , ilueo' o
, —See Jointly Owne
TRUSTEES .. ..o ET Companies
TRUSTS ..o AU; ET
VICE CHAIRMAN OF BOARD OF
U DIRECTORS .......... ...t BL
’ VICE PRESIDENTS OF INSTITUTE
NASSERTED CLAIMS— |
3NALSJ[S)ITED FINCANCIA?_ S'IS':'(I?E(;/IIaEIlT;S AR; AU (APPOINTED) - ..o e BL
o ' VIOLATIONS OF LAW—See lllegal Acts
UNAUDITED INFORMATION . .. ............ AU VOLUNTARY INFORMATION AT
UNCERTAINTIES . . ...ttt AR; AU VOTING RIGHTS BL
UNDERSTANDING WITH ENTITY ........... AR T T T
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Part |

List of Statements on Auditing Procedure
Nos. 1-54, Statements on Auditing
Standards, and Statements on Standards
for Attestation Engagements Issued to Date

Statements on Auditing Procedure

Date
No. Issued Title

1 Oct. 1939 Extensions of Auditing Procedure

2 Dec. 1939 The Auditor’s Opinion on the Basis of a Restricted
Examination

3 Feb. 1940 Inventories and Receivables of Department Stores,
Instalment Houses, Chain Stores, and Other
Retailers

4 Mar. 1941 Clients’ Written Representations Regarding
Inventories, Liabilities, and Other Matters

5 Feb. 1941 The Revised SEC Rule on “Accountants’
Certificates”

6 Mar. 1941 The Revised SEC Rule on “Accountants’
Certificates”

7 Mar. 1941 Contingent Liability Under Policies With Mutual
Insurance Companies

8 Sept. 1941 Interim Financial Statements and the Auditor’s
Report Thereon

9 Dec. 1941 Accountants’ Reports on Examinations of Securities
and Similar Investments Under the Investment
Company Act

10 June 1942 Auditing Under Wartime Conditions

11 Sept. 1942  The Auditor’s Opinion on the Basis of a Restricted
Examination (No. 2)

12 Oct. 1942 Amendment to Extensions of Auditing Procedure

13 Dec. 1942 The Auditor’s Opinion on the Basis of a Restricted
Examination (No. 3) Face-Amount Certificate
Companies

14 Dec. 1942 Confirmation of Public Utility Accounts Receivable

15 Dec. 1942 Disclosure of the Effect of Wartime Uncertainties
on Financial Statements

16 Dec. 1942 Case Studies on Inventories

17 Dec. 1942 Physical Inventories in Wartime

18 Jan. 1943 Confirmation of Receivables From the Government
19 Nov. 1943 Confirmation of Receivables (Positive and Negative
Methods)

20 Dec. 1943 Termination of Fixed Price Supply Contracts
21 July 1944 Wartime Government Regulations
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Cross-References to SASs

Statements on Auditing Procedure—continued

Date
No. Issued Title
22 May 1945 References to the Independent Accountant in
Securities Registrations
23 Dec. 1949 Clarification of Accountant’s Report When Opinion
is Omitted (Revised)
24 Oct. 1948 Revision in Short-Form Accountant’s Report or
Certificate
25 Oct. 1954 Events Subsequent to the Date of Financial
Statements
26 April 1956 Reporting on Use of “Other Procedures”
27 July 1957 Long-Form Reports
28 Oct. 1957 Special Reports
29 Oct. 1958 Scope of the Independent Auditor’s Review of
Internal Control
30 Sept. 1960 Responsibilities and Functions of the Independent
Auditor in the Examination of Financial Statements
31 Oct. 1961 Consistency
32 Sept. 1962 Qualifications and Disclaimers
33 Dec. 1963 Auditing Standards and Procedures (a codification)
34 Sept. 1965  Long-Term Investments
35 Nov. 1965 Letters for Underwriters
36 Aug. 1966 Revision of “Extensions of Auditing Procedure”
Relating to Inventories
37 Sept. 1966 Special Report: Public Warehouses Controls and
Auditing Procedures for Goods Held
38 Sept. 1967  Unaudited Financial Statements
39 Sept. 1967 Working Papers
40 Oct. 1968 Reports Following a Pooling of Interests
41 Oct. 1969 Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date
of the Auditor’s Report
42 Jan. 1970 Reporting When a Certified Public Accountant Is
Not Independent
43 Sept. 1970 Confirmation of Receivables and Observation of
Inventories
44 April 1971 Reports Following a Pooling of Interests
45 July 1971 Using the Work and Reports of Other Auditors
46 July 1971 Piecemeal Opinions
47 Sept. 1971 Subsequent Events
48 Oct. 1971 Letters for Underwriters
49 Nov. 1971 Reports on Internal Control
50 Nov. 1971 Reporting on the Statement of Changes in
Financial Position
51 July 1972 Long-Term Investments
52 Oct. 1972 Reports on Internal Control Based on Criteria
Established by Governmental Agencies
53 Nov. 1972 Reporting on Consistency and Accounting Changes
54 Nov. 1972 The Auditor’s Study and Evaluation of Internal

Control
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Statements on Auditing Standards’

No.

Date
Issued

Title Section

37

1

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

Nov. 1972
Oct. 1974

Dec. 1974

Dec. 1974

July 1975

July 1975

Oct. 1975

Dec. 1975

Dec. 1975

Dec. 1975

Dec. 1975

Jan. 1976

May 1976

Dec. 1976
Dec. 1976

Jan. 1977

Codification of Auditing Standards See

and Procedures. ................. Part ITT!

Reports on Audited Financial Statements
[Superseded by SAS 58]

The Effects of EDP on the Auditor’s
Study and Evaluation of Internal
Control [Superseded by SAS 48]

Quality Control Considerations for a
Firm of Independent Auditors
[Superseded by SAS 25]

The Meaning of “Present Fairly in
Conformity With Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles” in the
Independent Auditor’s Report
[Superseded by SAS 69]

Related Party Transactions [Superseded
by SAS 45]

Communications Between Predecessor
and Successor Auditors [Superseded
by SAS 84]

Other Information in Documents
Containing Audited Financial
Statements................... ... 550

The Effect of an Internal Audit
Function on the Scope of the
Independent Auditor’s Examination
[Superseded by SAS 65]

Limited Review of Interim Financial
Information [Superseded by SAS 24]

Using the Work of a Specialist
[Superseded by SAS 73]

Inquiry of a Client’s Lawyer
Concerning Litigation, Claims,
and Assessments................. 337

Reports on a Limited Review of Interim
Financial Information [Superseded by
SAS 24]

Special Reports [Superseded by SAS 62]

Reports on Comparative Financial
Statements [Superseded by SAS 58]

The Independent Auditor’s
Responsibility for the Detection of
Errors or Irregularities [Superseded
by SAS 53]

* Outstanding Statements are indicated in boldface type.

! Portions of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1 have been superseded by subsequent
pronouncements.
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Statements on Auditing Standards—continued

Date
No. Issued Title Section
17 Jan. 1977 Illegal Acts by Clients [Superseded by

SAS 54]

18 May 1977 Unaudited Replacement Cost
Information [Withdrawn by the
Auditing Standards Board]

19 June 1977 Client Representations [Superseded by
SAS 85]

20 Aug. 1977 Required Communication of Material
Weaknesses in Internal Accounting
Control [Superseded by SAS 60]

21 Dec. 1977 Segment Information [Rescinded by the
Auditing Standards Board]?

22 Mar. 1978 Planning and Supervision. ....... 311
23 Oct. 1978 Analytical Review Procedures
[Superseded by SAS 56]

24 Mar. 1979 Review of Interim Financial
Information [Superseded by SAS 36]

25 Nov. 1979 The Relationship of Generally
Accepted Auditing Standards to

Quality Control Standards . . .. .. 161
26 Nov. 1979 Association With Financial
Statements .................... 504

27 Dec. 1979 Supplementary Information Required
by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board [Superseded by
SAS 52]

28 June 1980 Supplementary Information on the
Effects of Changing Prices
[Withdrawn by SAS 52]

29 July 1980 Reporting on Information
Accompanying the Basic
Financial Statements in
Auditor-Submitted Documents . . . 551

30 July 1980 Reporting on Internal Accounting
Control [Superseded by SSAE 2]

31 Aug. 1980 Evidential Matter................ 326
32 Oct. 1980 Adequacy of Disclosure of Financial
Statements .................... 431

33 Oct. 1980 Supplementary Oil and Gas Reserve
Information [Superseded by SAS 45]

2 The Auditing Standards Board (ASB) has rescinded Statement on Auditing Standards No. 21,
effective for audits of financial statements to which Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Statement No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, has been
applied. FASB Statement No. 131 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1997, with
earlier application encouraged. The Audit Issues Task Force of the ASB has issued an interpretation
of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 31, Evidential Matter, entitled “Applying Auditing Proce-
dures to Segment Disclosures in Financial Statements,” to provide guidance for audits of financial
statements of entities that have implemented FASB Statement No. 131. The auditing interpretation
appears in section 9326, Evidential Matter: Auditing Interpretations of Section 326, paragraphs .22
through .35.
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Statements on Auditing Standards—continued

Date
No. Issued

Title

39

Section

34 Mar. 1981

35 April 1981

36 April 1981

37 April 1981
38 April 1981
39 June 1981
40 Feb. 1982

41 April 1982

42 Sept. 1982

43  Aug. 1982

44 Dec. 1982

45  Aug. 1983

46  Sept. 1983

47 Dec. 1983

The Auditor’s Considerations When a
Question Arises About an Entity’s

Continued Existence [Superseded by
SAS 59]

Special Reports—Applying
Agreed-Upon Procedures to Specified
Elements, Accounts, or Items of a
Financial Statement [Superseded by
SAS 75]

Review of Interim Financial
Information [Superseded by
SAS 71]

Filings Under Federal Securities
Statutes . .......................

Letters for Underwriters [Superseded

by SAS 49]
Audit Sampling ..................

Supplementary Mineral Reserve
Information [Superseded by
SAS 52]

Working Papers [Superseded by
SAS 96]

Reporting on Condensed Financial
Statements and Selected
FinancialData..................

Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards®

Special-Purpose Reports on Internal
Accounting Control at Service
Organizations [Superseded by
SAS 70]

Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—1983*

Consideration of Omitted
Procedures After the Report
Date ...........................

Audit Risk and Materiality in
Conducting an Audit ............

711

350

552

390

312

3 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 43 has been integrated within sections 150.06 (super-
seded by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 95), 320.50-.56 (superseded by Statement on Audit-
ing Standards No. 55), 320.59-.62 (superseded by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 55), 331.14,

350.46, 420.16, 901.01, 901.24,

and 901.28.

4 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 45 has created new sections 313, Substantive Tests Prior
to the Balance Sheet Date; 334, Related Parties; and 557, Supplementary Oil and Gas Reserve

Information (withdrawn by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 52).

AICPA Professional Standards



40 Cross-References to SASs

Statements on Auditing Standards—continued

Date
No. Issued Title Section

48 July 1984 The Effects of Computer
Processing on the Audit of
Financial Statements®

49 Sept. 1984 Letters for Underwriters [Superseded
by SAS 72]

50 July 1986 Reports on the Application of
Accounting Principles . ......... 625

51 July 1986 Reporting on Financial Statements
Prepared for Use in Other
Countries...................... 534

52 April 1988 Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—1987¢. .. ............

53 April 1988 The Auditor’s Responsibility to Detect
and Report Errors and Irregularities
[Superseded by SAS 82]

54 April 1988 Illegal Acts by Clients . ........... 317
55 April 1988 Consideration of Internal Control

in a Financial Statement Audit . . . 319
56 April 1988 Analytical Procedures ........... 329
57 April 1988 Auditing Accounting Estimates . .. 342
58 April 1988 Reports on Audited Financial

Statements .................... 508

59 April 1988 The Auditor’s Consideration of an
Entity’s Ability to Continue as a

GoingConcern . ................ 341
60 April 1988 Communication of Internal

Control Related Matters Noted

inan Audit. .................... 325
61 April 1988 Communication With Audit

Committees.................... 380
62 April 1989 Special Reports. ................. 623

63 April 1989 Compliance Auditing Applicable to
Governmental Entities and Other
Recipients of Governmental Financial
Assistance [Superseded by SAS 68]

5 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 48 has been integrated within sections 311.03, 311.09,
311.10, 318.07 (superseded by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 56), 320.33 and 320.34 (super-
seded by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 55), 320.37 (superseded by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 55), 320.57 and 320.58 (superseded by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 55),
320.65-.68 (superseded by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 55) and 326.12.

6 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 52 has been integrated within sections 411.05—.08
(superseded by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69) and 551.15 and has created a new section
558, Required Supplementary Information.
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Statements on Auditing Standards—continued

Date
No. Issued Title Section

64 Dec. 1990 Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—19907
65 April 1991 The Auditor’s Consideration of the
Internal Audit Function in an
Audit of Financial Statements. . . . 322
66 June 1991 Communication of Matters About
Interim Financial Information Filed
or to Be Filed With Specified
Regulatory Agencies—An
Amendment to SAS No. 36, Review
of Interim Financial Information
[Superseded by SAS 71]
67 Nov. 1991 The Confirmation Process ........ 330
68 Dec. 1991 Compliance Auditing Applicable to
Governmental Entities and Other
Recipients of Governmental Financial
Assistance [Superseded by SAS 74]
69 Jan. 1992 The Meaning of Present Fairly in
Conformity With Generally Accepted

Accounting Principles® .......... 411
70 April 1992 Service Organizations®. . .......... 324
71 May 1992 Interim Financial Information .. .. 722A10
72 Feb. 1993 Letters for Underwriters and Certain

Other Requesting Parties........ 634
73 July 1994 Using the Work of a Specialist . . ... 336

74 Feb. 1995 Compliance Auditing
Considerations in Audits of
Governmental Entities and
Recipients of Governmental
Financial Assistance ............ 801

75 Sept. 1995 Engagements to Apply Agreed-Upon
Procedures to Specified Elements,
Accounts, or Items of a Financial
Statement [Withdrawn by SAS 93]

76 Sept. 1995 Amendments to Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 72, Letters
for Underwriters and Certain
Other Requesting Parties'!

7 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 64 has been integrated within sections 341.12, 508.74
(formerly paragraph .83, renumbered and amended, effective for reports issued or reissued on or after
February 29, 1996, by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 79), and 543.16.

8 Title of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69 has been amended by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 93.

9 Title of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 70 has been amended by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 88.

10 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 71 has been superseded by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 100 at section 722. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 71, as amended by State-
ment on Auditing Standards No. 90, has been moved to section 722A until the effective date of
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 100.

1 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 76 has been integrated within section 634.01, 634.09,
634.10, 634.64, and AT section 300.01 (superseded by Statement on Standards for Attestation
Engagements No. 10).
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Statements on Auditing Standards—continued

Date
No. Issued Title Section

77 Nov. 1995 Amendments to Statements on
Auditing Standards No. 22,
Planning and Supervision, No. 59,
The Auditor’s Consideration of an
Entity’s Ability to Continue as a
Going Concern, and No. 62,
Special Reports12

78 Dec. 1995 Consideration of Internal Control
in a Financial Statement Audit:
An Amendment to Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 55'3

79 Dec. 1995 Amendment to Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 58,
Reports on Audited Financial
Statements'*

80 Dec. 1996 Amendment to Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 31,

Evidential Matter'®
81 Dec. 1996 Auditing Investments [Superseded by

SAS 92]
82 Feb. 1997 Consideration of Fraud in a

Financial Statement Audit . ... .. 316A16
83 Oct. 1997 Establishing an Understanding

With the Client!”
84 Oct. 1997 Communications Between

Predecessor and Successor

Auditors. . ..................... 315
85 Nov. 1997 Management Representations . . . . 33318

86 Mar. 1998 Amendment to Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 72,
Letters for Underwriters and
Certain Other Requesting
Parties'?

12 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 77 has been integrated within sections 311.05, 341.13,
544.02, 544.04, 623.05, and 623.08.

13 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 78 has been integrated within section 319.

14 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 79 has been integrated within section 508.11, 508.19,
508.29-.32, 508.45-.49, 508.61, 508.62, and 508.74-.76.

15 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 80 has been integrated within section 326.07, 326.12—
.14, 326.16-.22, and 326.25.

16 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82 has been superseded by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 99 at section 316. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, as originally issued in
February 1997, has been moved to section 316A until the effective date of Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 99.

17 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 83 has been integrated within section 310.05—.07.

18 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 85 has been amended by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 99 at section 333. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 85, as amended by Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 89, has been moved to section 333A until the effective date of Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 99.

19 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 86 has been integrated with section 634.20, 634.22,
634.29, 634.33, 634.34, 634.55, 634.57, and 634.64.
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Statements on Auditing Standards—continued

Date
No. Issued Title Section
87 Sept. 1998 Restricting the Use of an Auditor’s
Report ............ .. ... ... ... 532
88 Dec. 1999 Service Organizations and

Reporting on Consistency?’

89 Dec. 1999 Audit Adjustments?®!

90 Dec. 1999 Audit Committee Communications

91 Apr. 2000 Federal GAAP Hierarchy??

92 Sept. 2000 Auditing Derivative Instruments,
Hedging Activities, and
Investments in Securities. . ...... 332

93 Oct. 2000 Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—2000%*

94 May 2001 The Effect of Information
Technology on the Auditor’s
Consideration of Internal Control
in a Financial Statement Audit2®

95 Dec. 2001 Generally Accepted Auditing

Standards . ..................... 150
96 Jan. 2002 Audit Documentation............. 339
97 June 2002 Amendment to Statement on

Auditing Standards No. 50,

Reports on the Application of
Accounting Principles

98 Sept. 2002 Omnibus Statement on Auditing
Standards—200227

929 Oct. 2002 Consideration of Fraud in a

22

Financial Statement Audit. ...... 316
100 Nov. 2002 Interim Financial Information .. .. 722
101 Jan. 2003 Auditing Fair Value Measurements

and Disclosures................. 328

20 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 88 has been integrated within sections 324 (title),
324.03, 324.06-.10, and 420.07-.11.

21 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 89 has been integrated within sections 310.06, 333.06,
333.16, 380.09, and 380.10.

22 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 90 has been integrated within sections 380.03, 380.11,
and 722A.25-.27.

23 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 91 has been integrated within section 411.14, 411.15,
and 411.18.

24 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 93 has been integrated within sections 315.02, 315.12,
411 (title), 411.01, 508.08, and 622.

25 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 94 has been integrated within section 319.

26 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 97 has been integrated within section 625.01—.07 and
625.09-.11.

2T Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98 has been integrated within sections 150.05, 161
(headnote), 161.02, 161.03, 312.34-.36, 312.38, 312.39, 312.41, 324.57-.61, 9324[.41-.42], 508.65,
530.03-.05, 550.07, 551.12, 551.15, 551.16, 558.02, 558.08-.11, 560.01, and 561.01-.03.
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Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements

Date
No. Issued Title Section

1 Mar. 1986 Attestation Standards [Revised and
recodified by SSAE 10; see AT
sections 101, 301, and 401]

1 Dec. 1987 Attest Services Related to MAS
Engagements [Revised and recodified
by SSAE 10; see AT sections 101,
301, and 401]

1 Oct. 1985 Financial Forecasts and Projections
[Revised and recodified by SSAE 10;
see AT sections 101, 301, and 401]

1 Sept. 1988 Reporting on Pro Forma Financial
Information [Revised and recodified
by SSAE 10; see AT sections 101,
301, and 401]

2 May 1993 Reporting on an Entity’s Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting
[Revised and recodified by SSAE 10;
see AT section 501]

3 Dec. 1993 Compliance Attestation [Revised and
recodified by SSAE 10; see AT section
601]

4 Sept. 1995 Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements
[Revised and recodified by SSAE 10;
see AT section 201]

5 Nov. 1995 Amendment to Statement on Standards
for Attestation Engagements No. 1,
Attestation Standards [Revised and
recodified by SSAE 10; see AT section
101]

6 Dec. 1995 Reporting on an Entity’s Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting:
An Amendment to Statement on
Standards for Attestation
Engagements No. 2 [Revised and
recodified by SSAE 10; see AT
section 501]

7 Oct. 1997 Establishing an Understanding With
the Client [Revised and recodified by
SSAE 10; see AT section 101]

8 Mar. 1998 Management’s Discussion and Analysis
[Revised and recodified by SSAE 10;
see AT section 701]

9 Jan. 1999 Amendments to Statement on Standards
for Attestation Engagements Nos. 1,
2, and 3 [Revised and recodified by
SSAE 10; see AT sections 101, 501,
and 601]
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Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements—continued

Date
No. Issued Title Section

10 Jan. 2001 Attestation Standards: Revision
and Recodification?®

11 Jan. 2002 Attest Documentation?®

12 Sept. 2002 Amendment to Statement on
Standards for Attestation
Engagements No. 10, Attestation
Standards: Revision and
Recodification

9

[The next page is 47.]

28 Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 10 has been integrated within AT

sections 101, 201, 301, 401, 501, 601, and 701.
29 Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 11 has been integrated within AT

sections 101.100-[.108], 201[.27-.30], 301[.17], and 301[.32].
30 Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 12 has been integrated within AT

section 101.17 and 101.18.
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Section Contents Source
100 Introduction
110 Responsibilities and Functions of the Independent .
Auditor. . ... . SAS1
150 Generally Accepted Auditing Standards......... SAS 95
161 The Relationship of Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards to Quality Control Standards .. ..... SAS 25
200 The General Standards
201 Nature of the General Standards. .............. SAS 1"
210 Training and Proficiency of the Independent .
Auditor. . ... . SAS1
220 Independence. .............. ... ..., SAS 17
230 Due Professional Care in the Performance .
Of WOrk ..ot SAS 151
230A Due Professional Care in the Performance .
of Work ... ... SAS 1
300 The Standards of Field Work
310 Appointment of the Independent Auditor........ SAS 1"
311 Planning and Supervision .................... SAS 22
312 Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting
anAudit. . ... .. .. SAS 47
313 Substantive Tests Prior to the Balance-Sheet
Date . ... SAS 45
315 Communications Between Predecessor and
Successor Auditors . .......... ... . . .. SAS 84
316 Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement
Audit ..o SAS 992
316A Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement
Audit ... SAS 82
317 Illegal Acts by Clients. . ...................... SAS 54
319 Consideration of Internal Control in a Financial
Statement Audit........................... SAS 55

" Portions of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1 have been superseded by subsequent
pronouncements. See Part III.

1 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1, section 230, has been amended by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 99 at section 230. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1, section 230, as
amended by Statement on Auditing Standards Nos. 41 and 82, has been moved to section 230A until
the effective date of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 99.

2 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82 has been superseded by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 99 at section 316. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, as originally issued in
February 1997, has been moved to section 316A until the effective date of Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 99.
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Section Contents Source
322 The Auditor’s Consideration of the Internal
Audit Function in an Audit of Financial
Statements. . .......... ... .. ... ... SAS 65
324 Service Organizations ....................... SAS 703
325 Communication of Internal Control Related
Matters Noted in an Audit.................. SAS 60
326 Evidential Matter .......................... SAS 31
328 Auditing Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures. ... SAS 101
329 Analytical Procedures ... .................... SAS 56
330 The Confirmation Process.................... SAS 67
331 Inventories . .......... ... ... ... .. .. . ... SAS1°
332 Auditing Derivative Instruments, Hedging
Activities, and Investments in Securities ... ... SAS 92
333 Management Representations ................ SAS 854
333A Management Representations ................ SAS 85
334 Related Parties. . ........................... SAS 45
336 Using the Work of a Specialist . ............... SAS 73
337 Inquiry of a Client’s Lawyer Concerning
Litigation, Claims, and Assessments. ......... SAS 12
339 Audit Documentation ....................... SAS 96
341 The Auditor’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability
to Continue as a Going Concern. ............. SAS 59
342 Auditing Accounting Estimates ............... SAS 57
350 Audit Sampling ............................ SAS 39
380 Communications With Audit Committees. .. .. .. SAS 61
390 Consideration of Omitted Procedures After the
ReportDate............... ... ... ......... SAS 46
400 The First, Second, and Third Standards of
Reporting
410 Adherence to Generally Accepted Accounting .
Principles......... ... ... .. ... .. ... .. ..., SAS 1

" Portions of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1 have been superseded by subsequent
pronouncements. See Part III.

3 Title of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 70 has been amended by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 88.

4 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 85 has been amended by Statement on Auditing Stand-
ards No. 99 at section 333. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 85, as amended by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 89, has been moved to section 333A until the effective date of Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 99.
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Section Contents Source

411 The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles . . . . .. SAS 69°
420 Consistency of Application of Generally Accepted .

Accounting Principles. . ..................... SAS 1
431 Adequacy of Disclosure in Financial Statements. . . . SAS 32
435 Segment Information ........................ SAS 216
500 The Fourth Standard of Reporting
504 Association With Financial Statements ......... SAS 26
508 Reports on Audited Financial Statements ....... SAS 58
530 Dating of the Independent Auditor’s Report. . .. .. SAS 1"
532 Restricting the Use of an Auditor’s Report ... .. .. SAS 87
534 Reporting on Financial Statements Prepared for

Use in Other Countries ..................... SAS 51
543 Part of Audit Performed by Other Independent .

Auditors. . ...... .. SAS 1
544 Lack of Conformity With Generally Accepted .

Accounting Principles. .. ....... ... ... ... ... SAS 1
550 Other Information in Documents Containing

Audited Financial Statements. ............... SAS 8
551 Reporting on Information Accompanying the Basic

Financial Statements in Auditor-Submitted

Documents.............. ... ... SAS 29
552 Reporting on Condensed Financial Statements and

Selected Financial Data..................... SAS 42
558 Required Supplementary Information. .......... SAS 52
560 Subsequent Events .......................... SAS 1
561 Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the .

Date of the Auditor’s Report ................. SAS 1
600 Other Types of Reports
622 Engagements to Apply Agreed-Upon Procedures to

Specified Elements, Accounts, or Items of a

Financial Statement........................ SAS 757

" Portions of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1 have been superseded by subsequent
pronouncements. See Part III.

5 Title of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69 has been amended by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 93.

6 The Auditing Standards Board (ASB) has rescinded Statement on Auditing Standards No. 21,
effective for audits of financial statements to which Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Statement No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, has been
applied. FASB Statement No. 131 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1997, with
earlier application encouraged. The Audit Issues Task Force of the ASB has issued an interpretation
of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 31 entitled “Applying Auditing Procedures to Segment
Disclosures in Financial Statements,” to provide guidance for audits of financial statements of
entities that have implemented FASB Statement No. 131. The auditing interpretation appears in
section 9326, Evidential Matter: Auditing Interpretations of Section 326, paragraphs .22 through .35.

7 The ASB has withdrawn Statement on Auditing Standards No. 75 and its auditing interpreta-
tion, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after June 30, 2001, in order
to consolidate the guidance applicable to agreed-upon procedures engagements in professional stand-
ards. For guidance relating to performing and reporting on agreed-upon procedures engagements,
practitioners should refer to AT section 201, Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements.
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Section Contents Source
623 Special Reports. . ............ ..., SAS 62
625 Reports on the Application of Accounting

Principles.......... ... .. . i i SAS 50
634 Letters for Underwriters and Certain Other
Requesting Parties ........................ SAS 72
700 Special Topics
711 Filings Under Federal Securities Statutes ...... SAS 37
722 Interim Financial Information . ............... SAS 1008
T22A Interim Financial Information . ............... SAS 71
800 Compliance Auditing
801 Compliance Auditing Considerations in Audits of
Governmental Entities and Recipients of
Governmental Financial Assistance .......... SAS 74
900 Special Reports of the Committee on
Auditing Procedure
901 Public Warehouses—Controls and Auditing .
Procedures for Goods Held . . ................ SAS 1

Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements

AT
Section Contents Source
101 Attest Engagements SSAE 10
201 Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements SSAE 10
301 Financial Forecasts and Projections SSAE 10
401 Reporting on Pro Forma Financial Information SSAE 10
501 Reporting on an Entity’s Internal Control Over SSAE 10
Financial Reporting

601 Compliance Attestation SSAE 10
701 Management’s Discussion and Analysis SSAE 10

" Portions of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1 have been superseded by subsequent
pronouncements. See Part III.

8 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 71 has been superseded by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 100 at section 722. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 71, as amended by State-
ment on Auditing Standards No. 90, has been moved to section 722A until the effective date of
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 100.
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Cross-References to SASs 50-1

List of Sections in Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 1, Codification of Auditing
Standards and Procedures’

Section Title"
100 Introduction
110 Responsibilities and Functions of the Independent
Auditor
150 Generally Accepted Auditing Standards [Superseded by
SAS 95]
200 The General Standards
201 Nature of the General Standards
210 Training and Proficiency of the Independent Auditor
220 Independence
230 Due Professional Care in the Performance of Work!’ 2
300 The Standards of Field Work
310 Appointment of the Independent Auditor!
320 The Auditor’s Study and Evaluation of Internal Control
[Superseded by SAS 55]
320A Appendix A—Relationship of Statistical Sampling to
Generally Accepted Auditing Standards [Superseded by
SAS 39]
320B Appendix B—Precision and Reliability for Statistical
Sampling in Auditing [Superseded by SAS 39]
330 Evidential Matter [Superseded by SAS 31]
331 Inventories!
332 Evidential Matter for Long-Term Investments [Superseded
by SAS 81]
338 Working Papers [Superseded by SAS 41]
400 The First, Second and Third Standards of Reporting
410 Adherence to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
420 Consistency of Application of Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles
430 Adequacy of Informative Disclosure [Superseded by SAS 32]
500 The Fourth Standard of Reporting
510 Expression of Opinion in the Auditor’s Report [Superseded

by SAS 2]

* Outstanding sections are listed in boldface type.

1 Current section titles are listed. Section titles reflect amendments and conforming changes
resulting from subsequent pronouncements.

2 Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1, section 230, has been amended by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 99 at section 230. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1, section 230, as
amended by Statement on Auditing Standards Nos. 41 and 82, has been moved to section 230A until
the effective date of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 99.
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Section Title!

511 Unqualified Opinion [Superseded by SAS 2]

512 Qualified Opinion [Superseded by SAS 2]

513 Adverse Opinion [Superseded by SAS 2]

514 Disclaimer of Opinion [Superseded by SAS 2]

515 Piecemeal Opinion [Superseded by SAS 2]

516 Unaudited Financial Statements [Superseded by SAS 26]

517 Reporting When a Certified Public Accountant Is Not
Independent [Superseded by SAS 26]

518 Negative Assurance [Superseded by SAS 26]

530 Dating of the Independent Auditor’s Report

535 Opinions on Prior Year’s Statements [Superseded by SAS 2]

540 Circumstances Which Require a Departure From the
Standard Short-Form Report [Superseded by SAS 2]

541 Restrictions Imposed by the Client [Superseded by SAS 2]

542 Other Conditions Which Preclude the Application of
Necessary Auditing Procedures [Superseded by SAS 58]

543 Part of Audit Performed by Other Independent
Auditors!

544 Lack of Conformity With Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles

545 Inadequate Disclosure [Superseded by SAS 58]

546 Reporting on Inconsistency [Superseded by SAS 58]

547 Unusual Uncertainties as to the Effect of Future
Developments on Certain Items [Superseded by SAS 2]

560 Subsequent Events

561 Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date
of the Auditor’s Report

600 Other Types of Reports

610 Long-Form Reports [Superseded by SAS 29]

620 Special Reports [Superseded by SAS 14]

630 Letters for Underwriters [Superseded by SAS 38]

640 Reports on Internal Control [Superseded by SAS 30]

641 Reports on Internal Control Based on Criteria Established
by Governmental Agencies [Superseded by SAS 30]

700 Special Topics

710 Filings Under Federal Securities Statutes [Superseded by
SAS 37]

900 Special Reports of the Committee on Auditing Procedure

901 Public Warehouses—Controls and Auditing

Procedures for Goods Held!

[The next page is 51.]

1 Current section titles are listed. Section titles reflect amendments and conforming changes
resulting from subsequent pronouncements.
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AU Section 100

STATEMENTS ON AUDITING
STANDARDS — Introduction

Statements on Auditing Standards are issued by the Auditing
Standards Board, the senior technical body of the Institute designated to
issue pronouncements on auditing matters. Rule 202 of the Institute’s
Code of Professional Conduct requires adherence to the applicable
generally accepted auditing standards promulgated by the Institute. It
recognizes Statements on Auditing Standards as interpretations of
generally accepted auditing standards and requires that members be
prepared to justify departures from such Statements.

Interpretations are issued by the Audit Issues Task Force of the
Auditing Standards Board to provide timely guidance on the application
of pronouncements of that Board. Interpretations are reviewed by the
Auditing Standards Board. An interpretation is not as authoritative as
a pronouncement of that Board, but members should be aware that they
may have to justify a departure from an interpretation if the quality of
their work is questioned.

... responsibilities and functions of independent auditor
.. . generally accepted auditing standards . . . quality
control standards . . .

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section Paragraph
110 Responsibilities and Functions of the Independent Auditor .01-.10
Distinction Between Responsibilities of Auditor and
Management. . ... .02-.03
Professional Qualifications . .......... ... . ... ... ... .04-.05
Responsibility to the Profession .. ....................... .10
150 Generally Accepted Auditing Standards .01-.09
Auditing Standards. . ... ... .02-.04
Interpretive Publications . ............... ... ... ........ .05-.06
Other Auditing Publications . .......................... .07-.08
Effective Date . . ... ..o .09
161 The Relationship of Generally Accepted Auditing Standards to
Quality Control Standards .01-.03

[The next page is 61.]
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AU Section 110

Responsibilities and Functions of the
Independent Auditor

Source: SAS No. 1, section 110; SAS No. 78; SAS No. 82.
Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: November, 1972.

.01 The objective of the ordinary audit of financial statements by the
independent auditor is the expression of an opinion on the fairness with which
they present, in all material respects, financial position, results of operations,
and its cash flows in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
The auditor’s report is the medium through which he expresses his opinion or,
if circumstances require, disclaims an opinion. In either case, he states
whether his audit has been made in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards. These standards require him to state whether, in his
opinion, the financial statements are presented in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles and to identify those circumstances in which such
principles have not been consistently observed in the preparation of the financial
statements of the current period in relation to those of the preceding period.

Distinction Between Responsibilities of Auditor
and Management

.02 The auditor has a responsibility to plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement, whether caused by error or fraud.! Because of the
nature of audit evidence and the characteristics of fraud, the auditor is able to
obtain reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that material misstatements
are detected.? The auditor has no responsibility to plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance that misstatements, whether caused by errors
or fraud, that are not material to the financial statements are detected. [Paragraph
added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.03 The financial statements are management’s responsibility. The auditor’s
responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements. Management
is responsible for adopting sound accounting policies and for establishing and

1 See section 312, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an Audit, and section 316, Consid-
eration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit. The auditor’s consideration of illegal acts and
responsibility for detecting misstatements resulting from illegal acts is defined in section 317, Illegal
Acts by Clients. For those illegal acts that are defined in that section as having a direct and material
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts, the auditor’s responsibility to detect
misstatements resulting from such illegal acts is the same as that for error or fraud. [Footnote added,
effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

2 See section 230, Due Professional Care in the Performance of Work, paragraphs .10 through .13.
[Footnote added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December
15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]
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maintaining internal control that will, among other things, initiate, record,
process, and report transactions (as well as events and conditions) consistent
with management’s assertions embodied in the financial statements. The
entity’s transactions and the related assets, liabilities, and equity are within
the direct knowledge and control of management. The auditor’s knowledge of
these matters and internal control is limited to that acquired through the
audit. Thus, the fair presentation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles® is an implicit and integral part of
management’s responsibility. The independent auditor may make suggestions
about the form or content of the financial statements or draft them, in whole
or in part, based on information from management during the performance of
the audit. However, the auditor’s responsibility for the financial statements he
or she has audited is confined to the expression of his or her opinion on them.
[Revised, April 1989, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards Nos. 53 through 62. As amended,
effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after
January 1, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 78. Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82,
February 1997. Revised, April 2002, to reflect conforming changes necessary
due to the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 94.]

Professional Qualifications

.04 The professional qualifications required of the independent auditor
are those of a person with the education and experience to practice as such.
They do not include those of a person trained for or qualified to engage in
another profession or occupation. For example, the independent auditor, in
observing the taking of a physical inventory, does not purport to act as an
appraiser, a valuer, or an expert in materials. Similarly, although the inde-
pendent auditor is informed in a general manner about matters of commercial
law, he does not purport to act in the capacity of a lawyer and may appropri-
ately rely upon the advice of attorneys in all matters of law. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82,
February 1997.]

.05 In the observance of generally accepted auditing standards, the inde-
pendent auditor must exercise his judgment in determining which auditing
procedures are necessary in the circumstances to afford a reasonable basis for
his opinion. His judgment is required to be the informed judgment of a
qualified professional person. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

Detection of Fraud

[.06-.09] [Superseded January 1977 by Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 16, as superseded by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 53, as super-
seded by section 316. Paragraphs renumbered by the issuance of Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

3 The responsibilities and functions of the independent auditor are also applicable to financial
statements presented in conformity with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally
accepted accounting principles; references in this section to financial statements presented in con-
formity with generally accepted accounting principles also include those presentations. [Footnote
added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after January 1, 1997,
by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 78. Footnote renumbered by the issuance of Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]
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Responsibility to the Profession

.10 The independent auditor also has a responsibility to his profession,
the responsibility to comply with the standards accepted by his fellow practi-
tioners. In recognition of the importance of such compliance, the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants has adopted, as part of its Code of
Professional Conduct, rules which support the standards and provide a basis
for their enforcement. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

[The next page is 81.]
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AU Section 150
Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

(Supersedes SAS No. 1, section 150)
Source: SAS No. 95; SAS No. 98.

Effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December
15, 2001, unless otherwise indicated.

.01 An independent auditor plans, conducts, and reports the results of an
audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS).
Auditing standards provide a measure of audit quality and the objectives to be
achieved in an audit. Auditing procedures differ from auditing standards.
Auditing procedures are acts that the auditor performs during the course of an
audit to comply with auditing standards.

Auditing Standards

.02 The general, field work, and reporting standards (the 10 standards)
approved and adopted by the membership of the AICPA, as amended by the
AICPA Auditing Standards Board (ASB), are as follows:

General Standards

1. The auditis to be performed by a person or persons having adequate
technical training and proficiency as an auditor.

2. Inall matters relating to the assignment, an independence in mental
attitude is to be maintained by the auditor or auditors.

3. Due professional care is to be exercised in the performance of the
audit and the preparation of the report.

Standards of Field Work

1. The work is to be adequately planned and assistants, if any, are to
be properly supervised.

2. Asufficient understanding of internal control is to be obtained to plan
the audit and to determine the nature, timing, and extent of tests to
be performed.

3. Sufficient competent evidential matter is to be obtained through
inspection, observation, inquiries, and confirmations to afford a
reasonable basis for an opinion regarding the financial statements
under audit.

Standards of Reporting

1. The report shall state whether the financial statements are pre-
sented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP).

2. The report shall identify those circumstances in which such princi-
ples have not been consistently observed in the current period in
relation to the preceding period.
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3. Informative disclosures in the financial statements are to be re-
garded as reasonably adequate unless otherwise stated in the report.

4. The report shall contain either an expression of opinion regarding
the financial statements, taken as a whole, or an assertion to the
effect that an opinion cannot be expressed. When an overall opinion
cannot be expressed, the reasons therefor should be stated. In all
cases where an auditor’s name is associated with financial state-
ments, the report should contain a clear-cut indication of the char-
acter of the auditor’s work, if any, and the degree of responsibility
the auditor is taking.

.03 Rule 202, Compliance With Standards, of the AICPA Code of Profes-
sional Conduct [ET section 202.01], requires an AICPA member who performs
an audit (the auditor) to comply with standards promulgated by the ASB.! The
ASB develops and issues standards in the form of Statements on Auditing
Standards (SASs) through a due process that includes deliberation in meetings
open to the public, public exposure of proposed SASs, and a formal vote. The
SASs are codified within the framework of the 10 standards.

.04 The auditor should have sufficient knowledge of the SASs to identify
those that are applicable to his or her audit. The nature of the 10 standards
and the SASs requires the auditor to exercise professional judgment in apply-
ing them. Materiality and audit risk also underlie the application of the 10
standards and the SASs, particularly those related to field work and report-
ing.? The auditor should be prepared to justify departures from the SASs.

Interpretive Publications

.05 Interpretive publications consist of auditing Interpretations of the
SASs, appendixes to the SASs,® auditing guidance included in AICPA Audit
and Accounting Guides, and AICPA auditing Statements of Position.? Inter-
pretive publications are not auditing standards. Interpretive publications are
recommendations on the application of the SASs in specific circumstances,
including engagements for entities in specialized industries. An interpretive
publication is issued under the authority of the ASB after all ASB members
have been provided an opportunity to consider and comment on whether the
proposed interpretive publication is consistent with the SASs. [As amended,
effective September 2002, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98.]

.06 The auditor should be aware of and consider interpretive publications
applicable to his or her audit. If the auditor does not apply the auditing
guidance included in an applicable interpretive publication, the auditor should
be prepared to explain how he or she complied with the SAS provisions
addressed by such auditing guidance.

1 In certain engagements, the auditor also may be subject to other auditing requirements, such
as Government Auditing Standards issued by the comptroller general of the United States, or rules
and regulations promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

2 See section 312, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an Audit.

3 Appendixes to SASs referred to in paragraph .05 of this section do not include previously issued
appendixes to original pronouncements that when adopted modified other SASs. [Footnote added,
effective September 2002, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98.]

4 Auditing Interpretations of the SASs are included in the codified version of the SASs and are
cross-referenced from the related AU sections in Appendix C. AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides
and auditing Statements of Position are listed in Appendix D. [Footnote renumbered by the issuance
of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98, September 2002.]
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Other Auditing Publications

.07 Other auditing publications include AICPA auditing publications not
referred to above; auditing articles in the Journal of Accountancy and other
professional journals; auditing articles in the AICPA CPA Letter; continuing
professional education programs and other instruction materials, textbooks,
guide books, audit programs, and checklists; and other auditing publications
from state CPA societies, other organizations, and individuals.? Other audit-
ing publications have no authoritative status; however, they may help the
auditor understand and apply the SASs.

.08 If an auditor applies the auditing guidance included in an other
auditing publication, he or she should be satisfied that, in his or her judgment,
it is both relevant to the circumstances of the audit, and appropriate. In
determining whether an other auditing publication is appropriate, the auditor
may wish to consider the degree to which the publication is recognized as being
helpful in understanding and applying the SASs and the degree to which the
issuer or author is recognized as an authority in auditing matters. Other
auditing publications published by the AICPA that have been reviewed by the
AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff are presumed to be appropriate.5

Effective Date

.09 This section is effective for audits of financial statements for periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2001.

[The next page is 97.]

5 The auditor is not expected to be aware of the full body of other auditing publications. [Footnote
renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98, September 2002.]

6 Other auditing publications published by the AICPA that have been reviewed by the AICPA
Audit and Attest Standards staff are listed in Appendix F. [Footnote renumbered by the issuance of
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98, September 2002.]
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AU Section 161

The Relationship of Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards to Quality Conirol Standards

(Supersedes SAS No. 4)!"!
Source: SAS No. 25; SAS No. 98.
Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: November, 1979.

.01 The independent auditor is responsible for compliance with generally
accepted auditing standards in an audit engagement. Rule 202 [ET section
202.01] of the Rules of Conduct of the Code of Professional Conduct of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants requires members to com-
ply with such standards when associated with financial statements.

.02 A firm of independent auditors has a responsibility to adopt a system
of quality control in conducting an audit practice.? Thus, a firm should estab-
lish quality control policies and procedures to provide it with reasonable
assurance that its personnel comply with generally accepted auditing stand-
ards in its audit engagements. The nature and extent of a firm’s quality control
policies and procedures depend on factors such as its size, the degree of
operating autonomy allowed its personnel and its practice offices, the nature
of its practice, its organization, and appropriate cost-benefit considerations.
[Revised, April 2002, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 96. As amended, effective
September 2002, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98.]

.03 Generally accepted auditing standards relate to the conduct of indi-
vidual audit engagements; quality control standards relate to the conduct of a
firm’s audit practice as a whole. Thus, generally accepted auditing standards
and quality control standards are related, and the quality control policies and
procedures that a firm adopts may affect both the conduct of individual audit
engagements and the conduct of a firm’s audit practice as a whole. However,
deficiencies in or instances of noncompliance with a firm’s quality control
policies and procedures do not, in and of themselves, indicate that a particular
audit engagement was not performed in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards. [As amended, effective September 2002, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 98.]

[The next page is 131.]

W' [Footnote deleted by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98, September 2002.]

2 The elements of quality control are identified in Statement on Quality Control Standards
(SQCS) No. 2, System of Quality Control for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice [QC
section 20]. A system of quality control is broadly defined as a process to provide the firm with
reasonable assurance that its personnel comply with applicable professional standards and the firm’s
standards of quality. [Footnote added, effective September 2002, by Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 98.]
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AU Section 201
Nature of the General Standards

Source: SAS No. 1, section 201.
Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: November, 1972.

.01 The general standards are personal in nature and are concerned with
the qualifications of the auditor and the quality of his work as distinct from
those standards which relate to the performance of his field work and to his
reporting. These personal, or general, standards apply alike to the areas of
field work and reporting.

[The next page is 151.]
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AU Section 210

Training and Proficiency of the
Independent Auditor

Source: SAS No. 1, section 210; SAS No. 5.
Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: November, 1972.

.01 The first general standard is:

The audit is to be performed by a person or persons having adequate technical
training and proficiency as an auditor.

.02 This standard recognizes that however capable a person may be in
other fields, including business and finance, he cannot meet the requirements
of the auditing standards without proper education and experience in the field
of auditing.

.03 In the performance of the audit which leads to an opinion, the inde-
pendent auditor holds himself out as one who is proficient in accounting and
auditing. The attainment of that proficiency begins with the auditor’s formal
education and extends into his subsequent experience. The independent audi-
tor must undergo training adequate to meet the requirements of a professional.
This training must be adequate in technical scope and should include a
commensurate measure of general education. The junior assistant, just enter-
ing upon an auditing career, must obtain his professional experience with the
proper supervision and review of his work by a more experienced superior. The
nature and extent of supervision and review must necessarily reflect wide
variances in practice. The auditor charged with final responsibility for the
engagement must exercise a seasoned judgment in the varying degrees of his
supervision and review of the work done and judgment exercised by his
subordinates, who in turn must meet the responsibility attaching to the
varying gradations and functions of their work.

.04 The independent auditor’s formal education and professional experi-
ence complement one another; each auditor exercising authority upon an
engagement should weigh these attributes in determining the extent of his
supervision of subordinates and review of their work. It should be recognized
that the training of a professional man includes a continual awareness of
developments taking place in business and in his profession. He must study,
understand, and apply new pronouncements on accounting principles and
auditing procedures as they are developed by authoritative bodies within the
accounting profession.

.05 In the course of his day-to-day practice, the independent auditor
encounters a wide range of judgment on the part of management, varying from
true objective judgment to the occasional extreme of deliberate misstatement.
He is retained to audit and report upon the financial statements of a business
because, through his training and experience, he has become skilled in ac-
counting and auditing and has acquired the ability to consider objectively

AICPA Professional Standards AU §21005



152 The General Standards

and to exercise independent judgment with respect to the information recorded
in books of account or otherwise disclosed by his audit. [As amended July, 1975
by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 5.]

[The next page is 161.]
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AU Section 220
Independence

Source: SAS No. 1, section 220.
Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: November, 1972.

.01 The second general standard is:

In all matters relating to the assignment, an independence in mental attitude
is to be maintained by the auditor or auditors.

.02 This standard requires that the auditor be independent; aside from
being in public practice (as distinct from being in private practice), he must be
without bias with respect to the client since otherwise he would lack that
impartiality necessary for the dependability of his findings, however excellent
his technical proficiency may be. However, independence does not imply the
attitude of a prosecutor but rather a judicial impartiality that recognizes an
obligation for fairness not only to management and owners of a business but
also to creditors and those who may otherwise rely (in part, at least) upon the
independent auditor’s report, as in the case of prospective owners or creditors.

.03 It is of utmost importance to the profession that the general public
maintain confidence in the independence of independent auditors. Public
confidence would be impaired by evidence that independence was actually
lacking, and it might also be impaired by the existence of circumstances which
reasonable people might believe likely to influence independence. To be inde-
pendent, the auditor must be intellectually honest; to be recognized as inde-
pendent, he must be free from any obligation to or interest in the client, its
management, or its owners. For example, an independent auditor auditing a
company of which he was also a director might be intellectually honest, but it
is unlikely that the public would accept him as independent since he would be
in effect auditing decisions which he had a part in making. Likewise, an
auditor with a substantial financial interest in a company might be unbiased
in expressing his opinion on the financial statements of the company, but the
public would be reluctant to believe that he was unbiased. Independent audi-
tors should not only be independent in fact; they should avoid situations that
may lead outsiders to doubt their independence.

.04 The profession has established, through the AICPA’s Code of Profes-
sional Conduct, precepts to guard against the presumption of loss of independence.
“Presumption” is stressed because the possession of intrinsic independence is a
matter of personal quality rather than of rules that formulate certain objective
tests. Insofar as these precepts have been incorporated in the profession’s code,
they have the force of professional law for the independent auditor.

.05 The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has also adopted
requirements for independence of auditors who report on financial statements
filed with it that differ from the AICPA requirements in certain respects.™!

W [Footnote deleted, December 2001, to acknowledge the dissolution of the Independence Stand-
ard Board.]
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.06 The independent auditor should administer his practice within the
spirit of these precepts and rules if he is to achieve a proper degree of
independence in the conduct of his work.

.07 To emphasize independence from management, many corporations
follow the practice of having the independent auditor appointed by the board
of directors or elected by the stockholders.

[The next page is 165.]
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AU Section 230

Due Professional Care in the Performance
of Work

Source: SAS No. 1, section 230; SAS No. 41; SAS No. 82; SAS No. 99.
Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: November, 1972.

.01 The third general standard is:

Due professional care is to be exercised in the planning and performance of the
audit and the preparation of the report.!

[As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on
or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.02 This standard requires the independent auditor to plan and perform
his or her work with due professional care. Due professional care imposes a
responsibility upon each professional within an independent auditor’s organi-
zation to observe the standards of field work and reporting. [As amended,
effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.03 Cooley on Torts, a legal treatise, describes the obligation for due care
as follows:

Every man who offers his services to another and is employed assumes the duty
to exercise in the employment such skill as he possesses with reasonable care
and diligence. In all these employments where peculiar skill is requisite, if one
offers his services, he is understood as holding himself out to the public as
possessing the degree of skill commonly possessed by others in the same
employment, and if his pretentions are unfounded, he commits a species of
fraud upon every man who employs him in reliance on his public profession.
But no man, whether skilled or unskilled, undertakes that the task he assumes
shall be performed successfully, and without fault or error; he undertakes for
good faith and integrity, but not for infallibility, and he is liable to his employer
for negligence, bad faith, or dishonesty, but not for losses consequent upon pure
errors of judgment.?

[As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on
or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.04 The matter of due professional care concerns what the independent
auditor does and how well he or she does it. The quotation from Cooley on Torts

" [Title amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

! This amendment revises the third general standard of the ten generally accepted auditing
standards. [Footnote added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

2 D. Haggard, Cooley on Torts, 472 (4th ed., 1932). [Footnote added, effective for audits of
financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82.]
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provides a source from which an auditor’s responsibility for conducting an
audit with due professional care can be derived. The remainder of the section
discusses the auditor’s responsibility in the context of an audit. [As amended,
April 1982, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 41. As amended, effective
for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15,
1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.05 An auditor should possess “the degree of skill commonly possessed”
by other auditors and should exercise it with “reasonable care and diligence”
(that is, with due professional care). [Paragraph added, effective for audits of
financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.06 Auditors should be assigned to tasks and supervised commensurate
with their level of knowledge, skill, and ability so that they can evaluate the
audit evidence they are examining. The auditor with final responsibility for the
engagement should know, at a minimum, the relevant professional accounting
and auditing standards and should be knowledgeable about the client.? The
auditor with final responsibility is responsible for the assignment of tasks to,
and supervision of, assistants.? [Paragraph added, effective for audits of
financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

Professional Skepticism

.07 Due professional care requires the auditor to exercise professional
skepticism. Professional skepticism is an attitude that includes a questioning
mind and a critical assessment of audit evidence. The auditor uses the knowl-
edge, skill, and ability called for by the profession of public accounting to
diligently perform, in good faith and with integrity, the gathering and objective
evaluation of evidence. [Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.08 Gathering and objectively evaluating audit evidence requires the
auditor to consider the competency and sufficiency of the evidence. Since
evidence is gathered and evaluated throughout the audit, professional skepti-
cism should be exercised throughout the audit process. [Paragraph added,
effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.09 The auditor neither assumes that management is dishonest nor as-
sumes unquestioned honesty. In exercising professional skepticism, the audi-
tor should not be satisfied with less than persuasive evidence because of a
belief that management is honest. [Paragraph added, effective for audits of
financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

Reasonable Assurance

.10 The exercise of due professional care allows the auditor to ob-
tain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material

3 See section 311, Planning and Supervision, paragraph .07. [Footnote added, effective for audits
of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82.]

4 See section 311.11. [Footnote added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods
ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]
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misstatement, whether caused by error or fraud. Absolute assurance is not
attainable because of the nature of audit evidence and the characteristics of
fraud. Therefore, an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards may not detect a material misstatement. [Paragraph
added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.11 The independent auditor’s objective is to obtain sufficient competent
evidential matter to provide him or her with a reasonable basis for forming an
opinion. The nature of most evidence derives, in part, from the concept of
selective testing of the data being audited, which involves judgment regarding
both the areas to be tested and the nature, timing, and extent of the tests to be
performed. In addition, judgment is required in interpreting the results of
audit testing and evaluating audit evidence. Even with good faith and integ-
rity, mistakes and errors in judgment can be made. Furthermore, accounting
presentations contain accounting estimates, the measurement of which is
inherently uncertain and depends on the outcome of future events. The auditor
exercises professional judgment in evaluating the reasonableness of account-
ing estimates based on information that could reasonably be expected to be
available prior to the completion of field work.? As a result of these factors, in
the great majority of cases, the auditor has to rely on evidence that is persua-
sive rather than convincing.’ [Paragraph added, effective for audits of finan-
cial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.12 Because of the characteristics of fraud, a properly planned and per-
formed audit may not detect a material misstatement. Characteristics of fraud
include (a) concealment through collusion among management, employees, or
third parties; (b) withheld, misrepresented, or falsified documentation; and (c)
the ability of management to override or instruct others to override what
otherwise appears to be effective controls. For example, auditing procedures
may be ineffective for detecting an intentional misstatement that is concealed
through collusion among personnel within the entity and third parties or
among management or employees of the entity. Collusion may cause the
auditor who has properly performed the audit to conclude that evidence
provided is persuasive when it is, in fact, false. In addition, an audit conducted
in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards rarely involves
authentication of documentation, nor are auditors trained as or expected to be
experts in such authentication. Furthermore, an auditor may not discover the
existence of a modification of documentation through a side agreement that
management or a third party has not disclosed. Finally, management has the
ability to directly or indirectly manipulate accounting records and present
fraudulent financial information by overriding controls in unpredictable ways.
[Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods
ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No.
82. As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods begin-
ning on or after December 15, 2002, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 99.]

.13 Since the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements is based on the
concept of obtaining reasonable assurance, the auditor is not an insurer and

5 See section 342, Auditing Accounting Estimates. [Footnote added, effective for audits of finan-
cial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Stand-
ards No. 82.]

6 See section 326, Evidential Matter. [Footnote added, effective for audits of financial statements
for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]
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his or her report does not constitute a guarantee. Therefore, the subsequent
discovery that a material misstatement, whether from error or fraud, exists in
the financial statements does not, in and of itself, evidence (a) failure to obtain
reasonable assurance, (b) inadequate planning, performance, or judgment, (¢)
the absence of due professional care, or (d) a failure to comply with generally
accepted auditing standards. [Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82.]

[The next page is 171.]
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AU Section 230A

Due Professional Care in the Performance
of Work

Source: SAS No. 1, section 230; SAS No. 41; SAS No. 82.
Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: November, 1972.

.01 The third general standard is:

Due professional care is to be exercised in the planning and performance of the
audit and the preparation of the report.!

[As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on
or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.02 This standard requires the independent auditor to plan and perform
his or her work with due professional care. Due professional care imposes a
responsibility upon each professional within an independent auditor’s organi-
zation to observe the standards of field work and reporting. [As amended,
effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.03 Cooley on Torts, a legal treatise, describes the obligation for due care
as follows:

Every man who offers his services to another and is employed assumes the duty
to exercise in the employment such skill as he possesses with reasonable care
and diligence. In all these employments where peculiar skill is requisite, if one
offers his services, he is understood as holding himself out to the public as
possessing the degree of skill commonly possessed by others in the same
employment, and if his pretentions are unfounded, he commits a species of
fraud upon every man who employs him in reliance on his public profession.
But no man, whether skilled or unskilled, undertakes that the task he assumes
shall be performed successfully, and without fault or error; he undertakes for
good faith and integrity, but not for infallibility, and he is liable to his employer
for negligence, bad faith, or dishonesty, but not for losses consequent upon pure
errors of judgment.?

[As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on
or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.04 The matter of due professional care concerns what the independent
auditor does and how well he or she does it. The quotation from Cooley on Torts

" [Title amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

! This amendment revises the third general standard of the ten generally accepted auditing
standards. [Footnote added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

2 D. Haggard, Cooley on Torts, 472 (4th ed., 1932). [Footnote added, effective for audits of
financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82.]
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provides a source from which an auditor’s responsibility for conducting an
audit with due professional care can be derived. The remainder of the section
discusses the auditor’s responsibility in the context of an audit. [As amended,
April 1982, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 41. As amended, effective
for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15,
1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.05 An auditor should possess “the degree of skill commonly possessed”
by other auditors and should exercise it with “reasonable care and diligence”
(that is, with due professional care). [Paragraph added, effective for audits of
financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.06 Auditors should be assigned to tasks and supervised commensurate
with their level of knowledge, skill, and ability so that they can evaluate the
audit evidence they are examining. The auditor with final responsibility for the
engagement should know, at a minimum, the relevant professional accounting
and auditing standards and should be knowledgeable about the client.? The
auditor with final responsibility is responsible for the assignment of tasks to,
and supervision of, assistants.? [Paragraph added, effective for audits of
financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

Professional Skepticism

.07 Due professional care requires the auditor to exercise professional
skepticism. Professional skepticism is an attitude that includes a questioning
mind and a critical assessment of audit evidence. The auditor uses the knowl-
edge, skill, and ability called for by the profession of public accounting to
diligently perform, in good faith and with integrity, the gathering and objective
evaluation of evidence. [Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.08 Gathering and objectively evaluating audit evidence requires the
auditor to consider the competency and sufficiency of the evidence. Since
evidence is gathered and evaluated throughout the audit, professional skepti-
cism should be exercised throughout the audit process. [Paragraph added,
effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.09 The auditor neither assumes that management is dishonest nor as-
sumes unquestioned honesty. In exercising professional skepticism, the audi-
tor should not be satisfied with less than persuasive evidence because of a
belief that management is honest. [Paragraph added, effective for audits of
financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

Reasonable Assurance

.10 The exercise of due professional care allows the auditor to ob-
tain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material

3 See section 311, Planning and Supervision, paragraph .07. [Footnote added, effective for audits
of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82.]

4 See section 311.11. [Footnote added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods
ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]
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misstatement, whether caused by error or fraud. Absolute assurance is not
attainable because of the nature of audit evidence and the characteristics of
fraud. Therefore, an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards may not detect a material misstatement. [Paragraph
added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.11 The independent auditor’s objective is to obtain sufficient competent
evidential matter to provide him or her with a reasonable basis for forming an
opinion. The nature of most evidence derives, in part, from the concept of
selective testing of the data being audited, which involves judgment regarding
both the areas to be tested and the nature, timing, and extent of the tests to be
performed. In addition, judgment is required in interpreting the results of
audit testing and evaluating audit evidence. Even with good faith and integ-
rity, mistakes and errors in judgment can be made. Furthermore, accounting
presentations contain accounting estimates, the measurement of which is
inherently uncertain and depends on the outcome of future events. The auditor
exercises professional judgment in evaluating the reasonableness of account-
ing estimates based on information that could reasonably be expected to be
available prior to the completion of field work.? As a result of these factors, in
the great majority of cases, the auditor has to rely on evidence that is persua-
sive rather than convincing.® [Paragraph added, effective for audits of finan-
cial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.12 Because of the characteristics of fraud, particularly those involving
concealment and falsified documentation (including forgery), a properly
planned and performed audit may not detect a material misstatement. For
example, an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards rarely involves authentication of documentation, nor are auditors
trained as or expected to be experts in such authentication. Also, auditing
procedures may be ineffective for detecting an intentional misstatement that
is concealed through collusion among client personnel and third parties or
among management or employees of the client. [Paragraph added, effective for
audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15,
1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.18 Since the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements is based on the
concept of obtaining reasonable assurance, the auditor is not an insurer and
his or her report does not constitute a guarantee. Therefore, the subsequent
discovery that a material misstatement, whether from error or fraud, exists in
the financial statements does not, in and of itself, evidence (a) failure to obtain
reasonable assurance, (b) inadequate planning, performance, or judgment, (c)
the absence of due professional care, or (d) a failure to comply with generally
accepted auditing standards. [Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82.]

[The next page is 221.]

5 See section 342, Auditing Accounting Estimates. [Footnote added, effective for audits of finan-
cial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Stand-
ards No. 82.]

6 See section 326, Evidential Matter. [Footnote added, effective for audits of financial statements
for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]
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AU Section 310
Appointment of the Independent Auditor

Source: SAS No. 1, section 310; SAS No. 45; SAS No. 83; SAS No. 89.
Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: November, 1972.

.01 The first standard of field work is:

The work is to be adequately planned and assistants, if any, are to be properly
supervised.

.02 Aspects of supervising assistants are discussed in section 210, Train-
ing and Proficiency of the Independent Auditor, and section 311, Planning and
Supervision. Aspects of planning the field work and the timing of auditing
procedures are discussed in section 311 and section 313, Substantive Tests
Prior to the Balance-Sheet Date. [As amended August 1983, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 45.] (See section 313.)

Appointment of the Independent Auditor

.03 Consideration of the first standard of field work recognizes that early
appointment of the independent auditor has many advantages to both the
auditor and his client. Early appointment enables the auditor to plan his work
so that it may be done expeditiously and to determine the extent to which it
can be done before the balance-sheet date. [As amended August, 1983, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 45.] (See section 313.)

Appointment of Auditor Near or After the
Year-End Date

.04 Although early appointment is preferable, an independent auditor may
accept an engagement near or after the close of the fiscal year. In such instances,
before accepting the engagement, he should ascertain whether circumstances are
likely to permit an adequate audit and expression of an unqualified opinion and,
if they will not, he should discuss with the client the possible necessity for a
qualified opinion or disclaimer of opinion. Sometimes the audit limitations present
in such circumstances can be remedied. For example, the taking of the physical
inventory can be postponed or another physical inventory can be taken which the
auditor can observe. (See section 331.09-.13.)

Establishing an Understanding With the Client

.05 The auditor should establish an understanding with the client regard-
ing the services to be performed for each engagement.? Such an understanding

" [Title amended, effective for engagements for periods ending on or after June 15, 1998, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 83.]

™ Note: Title originally amended and former paragraphs .05—.09 under the heading “Timing of
Audit Work” superseded, August 1983, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 45. (See section 313.)

1 See Statement on Quality Control Standards No. 2, System of Quality Control for a CPA Firm’s
Accounting and Auditing Practice, paragraph 16 [QC section 20.16]. [Footnote added, effective for
engagements for periods ending on or after June 15, 1998, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 83.]
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reduces the risk that either the auditor or the client may misinterpret the
needs or expectations of the other party. For example, it reduces the risk that
the client may inappropriately rely on the auditor to protect the entity against
certain risks or to perform certain functions that are the client’s responsibility.
The understanding should include the objectives of the engagement, manage-
ment’s responsibilities, the auditor’s responsibilities, and limitations of the
engagement.? The auditor should document the understanding in the working
papers, preferably through a written communication with the client. If the
auditor believes an understanding with the client has not been established, he
or she should decline to accept or perform the engagement. [Paragraph added,
effective for engagements for periods ending on or after June 15, 1998, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 83.]

.06 An understanding with the client regarding an audit of the financial
statements generally includes the following matters.

® The objective of the audit is the expression of an opinion on the
financial statements.

® Management is responsible for the entity’s financial statements.

® Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting.

® Management is responsible for identifying and ensuring that the entity
complies with the laws and regulations applicable to its activities.

® Management is responsible for making all financial records and re-
lated information available to the auditor.

® At the conclusion of the engagement, management will provide the
auditor with a letter that confirms certain representations made
during the audit.

® The auditor is responsible for conducting the audit in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
the auditor obtain reasonable rather than absolute assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether caused by error or fraud. Accordingly, a material misstate-
ment may remain undetected. Also, an audit is not designed to detect
error or fraud that is immaterial to the financial statements. If, for
any reason, the auditor is unable to complete the audit or is unable to
form or has not formed an opinion, he or she may decline to express
an opinion or decline to issue a report as a result of the engagement.

® An audit includes obtaining an understanding of internal control
sufficient to plan the audit and to determine the nature, timing, and

2 The objectives of certain engagements may differ. The understanding should reflect the effects
of those objectives on the responsibilities of management and the auditor, and on the limitations of
the engagement. The following are examples:

e Reviews of interim financial information (see section 722, Interim Financial Information,
paragraph .07)
e Audits of recipients of governmental financial assistance (see section 801, Compliance Audit-
ing Considerations in Audits of Governmental Entities and Recipients of Governmental Finan-
cial Assistance, paragraph .10)
e Application of agreed-upon procedures to specified elements, accounts or items of a financial
statement (see AT section 201, Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements)
[Footnote added, effective for engagements for periods ending on or after June 15, 1998, by Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 83. Footnote revised, January 2001, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 10.
Footnote revised, November 2002, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 100.]
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extent of audit procedures to be performed. An audit is not designed
to provide assurance on internal control or to identify reportable
conditions. However, the auditor is responsible for ensuring that the
audit committee or others with equivalent authority or responsibility
are aware of any reportable conditions which come to his or her
attention.

® Management is responsible for adjusting the financial statements to
correct material misstatements and for affirming to the auditor in the
representation letter that the effects of any uncorrected misstate-
ments® aggregated by the auditor during the current engagement and
pertaining to the latest period presented are immaterial, both indi-
vidually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a
whole.

These matters may be communicated in the form of an engagement letter.
[Paragraph added, effective for engagements for periods ending on or after June
15, 1998, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 83. As amended, effective
for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December
15, 1999, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 89.]

.07 An understanding with the client also may include other matters,
such as the following:

® Arrangements regarding the conduct of the engagement (for example,
timing, client assistance regarding the preparation of schedules, and
the availability of documents)

® Arrangements concerning involvement of specialists or internal audi-
tors, if applicable

Arrangements involving a predecessor auditor
Arrangements regarding fees and billing

Any limitation of or other arrangements regarding the liability of the
auditor or the client, such as indemnification to the auditor for liability
arising from knowing misrepresentations to the auditor by manage-
ment (Regulators, including the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion, may restrict or prohibit such liability limitation arrangements.)

® (Conditions under which access to the auditor’s working papers may
be granted to others

® Additional services to be provided relating to regulatory requirements

Arrangements regarding other services to be provided in connection
with the engagement

[Paragraph added, effective for engagements for periods ending on or after June
15, 1998, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 83.]

[The next page is 241.]

3 Section 312, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an Audit, paragraph .04, states that a
misstatement can result from errors or fraud. [Footnote added, effective for audits of financial
statements for periods beginning on or after December 15, 1999, by Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 89.]
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AU Section 311
Planning and Supervision

Source: SAS No. 22; SAS No. 47; SAS No. 48; SAS No. 77.
See section 9311 for interpretations of this section.
Effective for periods ending after September 30, 1978, unless otherwise indicated.

.01 The first standard of field work requires that “the work is to be
adequately planned and assistants, if any, are to be properly supervised.” This
section provides guidance to the independent auditor conducting an audit in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards on the considerations
and procedures applicable to planning and supervision, including preparing an
audit program, obtaining knowledge of the entity’s business, and dealing with
differences of opinion among firm personnel. Planning and supervision con-
tinue throughout the audit, and the related procedures frequently overlap.

.02 The auditor with final responsibility for the audit may delegate
portions of the planning and supervision of the audit to other firm personnel.
For purposes of this section, (a) firm personnel other than the auditor with
final responsibility for the audit are referred to as assistants and (b) the term
auditor refers to either the auditor with final responsibility for the audit or
assistants.

Planning

.03 Audit planning involves developing an overall strategy for the ex-
pected conduct and scope of the audit. The nature, extent, and timing of
planning vary with the size and complexity of the entity, experience with the
entity, and knowledge of the entity’s business. In planning the audit, the
auditor should consider, among other matters:

a. Matters relating to the entity’s business and the industry in which
it operates (see paragraph .07).

b. The entity’s accounting policies and procedures.

c. The methods used by the entity to process significant accounting
information (see paragraph .09), including the use of service organi-
zations, such as outside service centers.

d. Planned assessed level of control risk. (See section 319.)
e. Preliminary judgment about materiality levels for audit purposes.
[ Financial statement items likely to require adjustment.

g. Conditions that may require extension or modification of audit tests,
such as the risk of material error or fraud or the existence of related
party transactions.

h. The nature of reports expected to be rendered (for example, a report
on consolidated or consolidating financial statements, reports on
financial statements filed with the SEC, or special reports such as
those on compliance with contractual provisions).

AICPA Professional Standards AU §31 1.03



242 The Standards of Field Work

[As amended, December, 1983, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 47.
(See section 312.14.) As amended, effective for periods beginning after August
31, 1984, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 48.]

.04 Procedures that an auditor may consider in planning the audit usu-
ally involve review of his records relating to the entity and discussion with
other firm personnel and personnel of the entity. Examples of those procedures
include:

a. Reviewing correspondence files, prior year’s working papers, perma-
nent files, financial statements, and auditor’s reports.

b. Discussing matters that may affect the audit with firm personnel
responsible for non-audit services to the entity.

c¢. Inquiring about current business developments affecting the entity.
Reading the current year’s interim financial statements.

e. Discussing the type, scope, and timing of the audit with management
of the entity, the board of directors, or its audit committee.

f. Considering the effects of applicable accounting and auditing pro-
nouncements, particularly new ones.

g. Coordinating the assistance of entity personnel in data preparation.

h. Determining the extent of involvement, if any, of consultants, spe-
cialists, and internal auditors.

i. [Establishing the timing of the audit work.
J.  Establishing and coordinating staffing requirements.

The auditor may wish to prepare a memorandum setting forth the preliminary
audit plan, particularly for large and complex entities.

.05 In planning the audit, the auditor should consider the nature, extent,
and timing of work to be performed and should prepare a written audit
program (or set of written audit programs) for every audit. The audit program
should set forth in reasonable detail the audit procedures that the auditor
believes are necessary to accomplish the objectives of the audit. The form of the
audit program and the extent of its detail will vary with the circumstances. In
developing the program, the auditor should be guided by the results of the
planning considerations and procedures. As the audit progresses, changed
conditions may make it necessary to modify planned audit procedures. [As
amended, effective for engagements beginning after December 15, 1995, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 77.]

.06 The auditor should obtain a level of knowledge of the entity’s business
that will enable him to plan and perform his audit in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. That level of knowledge should enable him to
obtain an understanding of the events, transactions, and practices that, in his
judgment, may have a significant effect on the financial statements. The level
of knowledge customarily possessed by management relating to managing the
entity’s business is substantially greater than that which is obtained by the
auditor in performing his audit. Knowledge of the entity’s business helps the
auditor in:

a. Identifying areas that may need special consideration.

b. Assessing conditions under which accounting data are produced,
processed, reviewed, and accumulated within the organization.

c¢. Evaluating the reasonableness of estimates, such as valuation of
inventories, depreciation, allowances for doubtful accounts, and per-
centage of completion of long-term contracts.
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d. Evaluating the reasonableness of management representations.

e. Making judgments about the appropriateness of the accounting
principles applied and the adequacy of disclosures.!!!

.07 The auditor should obtain a knowledge of matters that relate to the
nature of the entity’s business, its organization, and its operating charac-
teristics. Such matters include, for example, the type of business, types of
products and services, capital structure, related parties, locations, and produc-
tion, distribution, and compensation methods. The auditor should also consider
matters affecting the industry in which the entity operates, such as economic
conditions, government regulations, and changes in technology, as they relate
to his audit. Other matters, such as accounting practices common to the
industry, competitive conditions, and, if available, financial trends and ratios
should also be considered by the auditor.

.08 Knowledge of an entity’s business is ordinarily obtained through
experience with the entity or its industry and inquiry of personnel of the entity.
Working papers from prior years may contain useful information about the
nature of the business, organizational structure, operating characteristics, and
transactions that may require special consideration. Other sources an auditor
may consult include AICPA accounting and audit guides, industry publica-
tions, financial statements of other entities in the industry, textbooks, peri-
odicals, and individuals knowledgeable about the industry.

.09 The auditor should consider the methods the entity uses to process
accounting information in planning the audit because such methods influence
the design of the internal control. The extent to which computer processing is
used in significant accounting applications,? as well as the complexity of that
processing, may also influence the nature, timing, and extent of audit proce-
dures. Accordingly, in evaluating the effect of an entity’s computer processing
on an audit of financial statements, the auditor should consider matters such
as—

a. The extent to which the computer is used in each significant account-
ing application.

b. The complexity of the entity’s computer operations, including the use
of an outside service center.’

c. The organizational structure of the computer processing activities.

d. The availability of data. Documents that are used to enter informa-
tion into the computer for processing, certain computer files, and
other evidential matter that may be required by the auditor may
exist only for a short period or only in computer-readable form. In
some computer systems, input documents may not exist at all be-
cause information is directly entered into the system. An entity’s
data retention policies may require the auditor to request retention
of some information for his review or to perform audit procedures at

W Footnote deleted to reflect the conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of Statement
on Auditing Standards Nos. 53 through 62.

2 Significant accounting applications are those that relate to accounting information that can
materially affect the financial statements the auditor is auditing. [Footnote added by issuance of
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 48.]

3 See section 324, Service Organizations, for guidance concerning the use of a service center for
computer processing of significant accounting applications. [Footnote revised, June 1992, by issuance
of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 70. Title amended, effective December 1999, by Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 88.]
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a time when the information is available. In addition, certain infor-
mation generated by the computer for management’s internal pur-
poses may be useful in performing substantive tests (particularly
analytical procedures).*

e. The use of computer-assisted audit techniques to increase the effi-
ciency of performing audit procedures.” Using computer-assisted
audit techniques may also provide the auditor with an opportunity
to apply certain procedures to an entire population of accounts or
transactions. In addition, in some accounting systems, it may be
difficult or impossible for the auditor to analyze certain data or test
specific control procedures without computer assistance.

[Paragraph added, effective for periods beginning after August 31, 1984, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 48.]

.10 The auditor should consider whether specialized skills are needed to
consider the effect of computer processing on the audit, to understand the
controls, or to design and perform audit procedures. If specialized skills are
needed, the auditor should seek the assistance of a professional possessing
such skills, who may be either on the auditor’s staff or an outside professional.
If the use of such a professional is planned, the auditor should have sufficient
computer-related knowledge to communicate the objectives of the other profes-
sional’s work; to evaluate whether the specified procedures will meet the
auditor’s objectives; and to evaluate the results of the procedures applied as
they relate to the nature, timing, and extent of other planned audit procedures.
The auditor’s responsibilities with respect to using such a professional are
equivalent to those for other assistants.’ [Paragraph added, effective for
periods beginning after August 31, 1984, by Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 48.]

Supervision

.11 Supervision involves directing the efforts of assistants who are in-
volved in accomplishing the objectives of the audit and determining whether
those objectives were accomplished. Elements of supervision include instruct-
ing assistants, keeping informed of significant problems encountered, review-
ing the work performed, and dealing with differences of opinion among firm
personnel. The extent of supervision appropriate in a given instance depends
on many factors, including the complexity of the subject matter and the
qualifications of persons performing the work. [Paragraph renumbered by the
issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 48, July 1984.]

.12 Assistants should be informed of their responsibilities and the objec-
tives of the procedures that they are to perform. They should be informed of
matters that may affect the nature, extent, and timing of procedures they are
to perform, such as the nature of the entity’s business as it relates to their

4 Section 329, Analytical Procedures, provides guidance pertaining to such procedures. [Footnote
added, effective for periods beginning after August 31, 1984, by Statement on Auditing Standards No.
48.]

5] [Footnote deleted.]

6 Since the use of a specialist who is effectively functioning as a member of the audit team is not
covered by section 336, Using the Work of a Specialist, a computer audit specialist requires the same
supervision and review as any assistant. [Footnote added, effective for periods beginning after
August 31, 1984, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 48.]
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assignments and possible accounting and auditing problems. The auditor with
final responsibility for the audit should direct assistants to bring to his atten-
tion significant accounting and auditing questions raised during the audit so
that he may assess their significance. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 48, July 1984.]

.13 The work performed by each assistant should be reviewed to deter-
mine whether it was adequately performed and to evaluate whether the results
are consistent with the conclusions to be presented in the auditor’s report.
[Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 48, July 1984.]

.14 The auditor with final responsibility for the audit and assistants
should be aware of the procedures to be followed when differences of opinion
concerning accounting and auditing issues exist among firm personnel in-
volved in the audit. Such procedures should enable an assistant to document
his disagreement with the conclusions reached if, after appropriate consult-
ation, he believes it necessary to disassociate himself from the resolution of the
matter. In this situation, the basis for the final resolution should also be
documented. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Audit-
ing Standards No. 48, July 1984.]

Effective Date

.15 Statements on Auditing Standards generally are effective at the time
of their issuance. However, since this section provides for practices that may
differ in certain respects from practices heretofore considered acceptable, this
section will be effective for audits made in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards for periods ending after September 30, 1978. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 48, July
1984.]

[The next page is 251.]
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AU Section 9311

Planning and Supervision: Auditing
Interpretations of Section 311

1. Communications Between the Auditor and Firm Personnel
Responsible for Non-Audit Services

.01 Question—Section 311, Planning and Supervision, paragraph .04b,
lists the following procedure that an auditor may consider in planning an
audit: “Discussing matters that may affect the audit with firm personnel
responsible for non-audit services to the entity.”

.02 What specific things should the auditor consider in performing this
procedure?

.03 Interpretation—The auditor should consider the nature of non-audit
services that have been performed. He should assess whether the services
involve matters that might be expected to affect the entity’s financial state-
ments or the performance of the audit, for example, tax planning or recommen-
dations on a cost accounting system. If the auditor decides that the
performance of the non-audit services or the information likely to have been
gained from it may have implications for his audit, he should discuss the
matter with personnel who rendered the services and consider how the ex-
pected conduct and scope of his audit may be affected. In some cases, the
auditor may find it useful to review the pertinent portions of the work papers
prepared for the non-audit engagement as an aid in determining the nature of
the services rendered or the possible audit implications.

[Issue Date: February, 1980.]

[2.] Planning Considerations for an Audit of a Federally Assisted
Program

[.04-.34] [Withdrawn March, 1989.]

3. Responsibility of Assistants for the Resolution of Accounting and
Auditing Issues

.35 Question—Section 311, Planning and Supervision, paragraph .14,
states, “The auditor with final responsibility for the audit and assistants
should be aware of the procedures to be followed when differences of opinion
concerning accounting and auditing issues exist among firm personnel in-
volved in the audit.” What are the responsibilities of assistants when there are
disagreements or concerns with respect to accounting and auditing issues of
significance to the financial statements or auditor’s report?

.36 Response—Rule 201 of the Code of Professional Conduct [ET section
201.01] states that a member shall “Exercise due professional care in the
performance of professional services.” The discussion of the third general
standard [section 230, Due Professional Care in the Performance of Work,
paragraph .02] states that “due care imposes a responsibility upon each person
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within an independent auditor’s organization to observe the standards of field
work and reporting.” The first general standard requires assistants to meet the
responsibility attached to the work assigned to them.

.37 Accordingly, each assistant has a professional responsibility to bring
to the attention of appropriate individuals in the firm, disagreements or
concerns the assistant might have with respect to accounting and auditing
issues that he believes are of significance to the financial statements or
auditor’s report, however those disagreements or concerns may have arisen. In
addition, each assistant should have a right to document his disagreement if
he believes it is necessary to disassociate himself from the resolution of the
matter.

[Issue Date: February, 1986.]

[4.] Audit Considerations for the Year 2000 Issue
[.38-.47] [Withdrawn July, 2000 by the Audit Issues Task Force.]

[The next page is 255.]
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AU Section 312

Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting
an Audit

Source: SAS No. 47; SAS No. 82; SAS No. 96; SAS No. 98.
See section 9312 for interpretations of this section.

Effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning after June 30, 1984,
unless otherwise indicated.

.01 This section provides guidance on the auditor’s consideration of audit
risk and materiality when planning and performing an audit of financial state-
ments in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Audit risk and
materiality affect the application of generally accepted auditing standards, espe-
cially the standards of field work and reporting, and are reflected in the auditor’s
standard report. Audit risk and materiality, among other matters, need to be
considered together in determining the nature, timing, and extent of auditing
procedures and in evaluating the results of those procedures.

.02 The existence of audit risk is recognized in the description of the
responsibilities and functions of the independent auditor that states, “Because
of the nature of audit evidence and the characteristics of fraud, the auditor is
able to obtain reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that material misstate-
ments are detected.”’ Audit risk? is the risk that the auditor may unknowingly
fail to appropriately modify his or her opinion on financial statements that are
materially misstated.® [As amended, effective for audits of financial state-
ments for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82.]

* This section has been revised to reflect the conforming changes necessary due to the issuance
of Statement on Auditing Standards Nos. 53 through 62.

1 See section 110, Responsibilities and Functions of the Independent Auditor, and section 230,
Due Professional Care in the Performance of Work, for a further discussion of reasonable assurance.
[As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15,
1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

2 In addition to audit risk, the auditor is also exposed to loss or injury to his or her professional
practice from litigation, adverse publicity, or other events arising in connection with financial
statements audited and reported on. This exposure is present even though the auditor has performed
the audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and has reported appropriately
on those financial statements. Even if an auditor assesses this exposure as low, the auditor should
not perform less extensive procedures than would otherwise be appropriate under generally accepted
auditing standards.

3 This definition of audit risk does not include the risk that the auditor might erroneously
conclude that the financial statements are materially misstated. In such a situation, the auditor
would ordinarily reconsider or extend auditing procedures and request that the client perform
specific tasks to re-evaluate the appropriateness of the financial statements. These steps would
ordinarily lead the auditor to the correct conclusion. This definition also excludes the risk of an
inappropriate reporting decision unrelated to the detection and evaluation of misstatements in the
financial statements, such as an inappropriate decision regarding the form of the auditor’s report
because of a limitation on the scope of the audit. [As amended, effective for audits of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 82.]
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.03 The concept of materiality recognizes that some matters, either
individually or in the aggregate, are important for fair presentation of
financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples,® while other matters are not important. The representation in the
auditor’s standard report regarding fair presentation, in all material respects,
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles indicates the
auditor’s belief that the financial statements taken as a whole are not materi-
ally misstated. [As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for
periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82. Revised, October 2000, to reflect conforming changes neces-
sary due to the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 93.]

.04 Financial statements are materially misstated when they contain
misstatements whose effect, individually or in the aggregate, is important
enough to cause them not to be presented fairly, in all material respects, in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Misstatements can
result from errors or fraud.® [As amended, effective for audits of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.05 In planning the audit, the auditor is concerned with matters that
could be material to the financial statements. The auditor has no responsibility
to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that misstate-
ments, whether caused by errors or fraud, that are not material to the financial
statements are detected. [Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.06 The term errors refers to unintentional misstatements or omissions of
amounts or disclosures in financial statements. Errors may involve—

® Mistakes in gathering or processing data from which financial state-
ments are prepared.

® Unreasonable accounting estimates arising from oversight or misin-
terpretation of facts.

® Mistakes in the application of accounting principles relating to
amount, classification, manner of presentation, or disclosure.’

[Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending
on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.07 Although fraud is a broad legal concept, the auditor’s interest specifi-
cally relates to fraudulent acts that cause a misstatement of financial statements.

4 The concepts of audit risk and materiality also are applicable to financial statements presented
in conformity with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting
principles; references in this section to financial statements presented in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles also include those presentations.

5 The auditor’s consideration of illegal acts and responsibility for detecting misstatements
resulting from illegal acts is defined in section 317, Illegal Acts by Clients. For those illegal acts that
are defined in that section as having a direct and material effect on the determination of financial
statement amounts, the auditor’s responsibility to detect misstatements resulting from such illegal
acts is the same as that for errors or fraud. [Footnote added, effective for audits of financial
statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 82.]

8 Errors do not include the effect of accounting processes employed for convenience, such as
maintaining accounting records on the cash basis or the tax basis and periodically adjusting those
records to prepare financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
[Footnote added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December
15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]
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Two types of misstatements are relevant to the auditor’s consideration in a
financial statement audit—misstatements arising from fraudulent financial
reporting and misstatements arising from misappropriation of assets. These
two types of misstatements are further described in section 316, Consideration
of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit. The primary factor that distinguishes
fraud from error is whether the underlying action that results in the misstate-
ment in financial statements is intentional or unintentional. [Paragraph added,
effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December
15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.08 When considering the auditor’s responsibility to obtain reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement,
there is no important distinction between errors and fraud. There is a distinc-
tion, however, in the auditor’s response to detected misstatements. Generally,
an isolated, immaterial error in processing accounting data or applying ac-
counting principles is not significant to the audit. In contrast, when fraud is
detected, the auditor should consider the implications for the integrity of
management or employees and the possible effect on other aspects of the audit.
[Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending
on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.09 When concluding as to whether the effect of misstatements, individu-
ally or in the aggregate, is material, an auditor ordinarily should consider their
nature and amount in relation to the nature and amount of items in the
financial statements under audit. For example, an amount that is material to
the financial statements of one entity may not be material to the financial
statements of another entity of a different size or nature. Also, what is material
to the financial statements of a particular entity might change from one period
to another. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.10 The auditor’s consideration of materiality is a matter of professional
judgment and is influenced by his or her perception of the needs of a reasonable
person who will rely on the financial statements. The perceived needs of a
reasonable person are recognized in the discussion of materiality in Financial
Accounting Standards Board Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No.
2, Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information, which defines mate-
riality as “the magnitude of an omission or misstatement of accounting infor-
mation that, in the light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that
the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would have
been changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement.” That discussion
recognizes that materiality judgments are made in light of surrounding cir-
cumstances and necessarily involve both quantitative and qualitative consid-
erations. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.11 As a result of the interaction of quantitative and qualitative consid-
erations in materiality judgments, misstatements of relatively small amounts
that come to the auditor’s attention could have a material effect on the
financial statements. For example, an illegal payment of an otherwise imma-
terial amount could be material if there is a reasonable possibility that it could
lead to a material contingent liability or a material loss of revenue.” [Para-
graph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82,
February 1997.]

7 See section 317. [Footnote renumbered and amended, effective for audits of financial state-
ments for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]
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Planning the Audit

.12 The auditor should consider audit risk and materiality both in (a)
planning the audit and designing auditing procedures and (b) evaluating
whether the financial statements taken as a whole are presented fairly, in all
material respects, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
The auditor should consider audit risk and materiality in the first circum-
stance to obtain sufficient competent evidential matter on which to properly
evaluate the financial statements in the second circumstance. [Paragraph
renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82,
February 1997.]

Considerations at the Financial Statements Level'®

.18 The auditor should plan the audit so that audit risk will be limited to
a low level that is, in his or her professional judgment, appropriate for express-
ing an opinion on the financial statements. Audit risk may be assessed in
quantitative or nonquantitative terms. [Paragraph renumbered by the issu-
ance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.14 Section 311, Planning and Supervision, requires the auditor, in plan-
ning the audit, to take into consideration, among other matters, his or her
preliminary judgment about materiality levels for audit purposes.® That judg-
ment may or may not be quantified. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.15 According to section 311, the nature, timing, and extent of planning
and thus of the considerations of audit risk and materiality vary with the size
and complexity of the entity, the auditor’s experience with the entity, and his
or her knowledge of the entity’s business. Certain entity-related factors also
affect the nature, timing, and extent of auditing procedures with respect to
specific account balances and classes of transactions and related assertions.
(See paragraphs .24 through .33.) [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.16 An assessment of the risk of material misstatement (whether caused
by error or fraud) should be made during planning. The auditor’s under-
standing of internal control may heighten or mitigate the auditor’s concern
about the risk of material misstatement.!® In considering audit risk, the
auditor should specifically assess the risk of material misstatement of the
financial statements due to fraud.!! The auditor should consider the effect of
these assessments on the overall audit strategy and the expected conduct and
scope of the audit. [Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial state-
ments for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82.]

18] [Footnote renumbered and deleted by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No.
82, February 1997.]

9 This section amends section 311, Planning and Supervision, paragraph .03e, by substituting
the words “Preliminary judgment about materiality levels” in place of the words “Preliminary
estimates of materiality levels.” [Footnote renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

10" See section 319, Consideration of Internal Control in a Financial Statement Audit. [Footnote
added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997,
by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

1 See section 316. [Footnote added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending
on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]
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.17 Whenever the auditor has concluded that there is significant risk of
material misstatement of the financial statements, the auditor should consider
this conclusion in determining the nature, timing, or extent of procedures;
assigning staff; or requiring appropriate levels of supervision. The knowledge,
skill, and ability of personnel assigned significant engagement responsibilities
should be commensurate with the auditor’s assessment of the level of risk for
the engagement. Ordinarily, higher risk requires more experienced personnel
or more extensive supervision by the auditor with final responsibility for the
engagement during both the planning and the conduct of the engagement.
Higher risk may cause the auditor to expand the extent of procedures applied,
apply procedures closer to or as of year end, particularly in critical audit areas,
or modify the nature of procedures to obtain more persuasive evidence. [Para-
graph added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on
or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.18 In an audit of an entity with operations in multiple locations or
components, the auditor should consider the extent to which auditing proce-
dures should be performed at selected locations or components. The factors an
auditor should consider regarding the selection of a particular location or
component include (a) the nature and amount of assets and transactions
executed at the location or component, (b) the degree of centralization of
records or information processing, (c) the effectiveness of the control environ-
ment, particularly with respect to management’s direct control over the exer-
cise of authority delegated to others and its ability to effectively supervise
activities at the location or component, (d) the frequency, timing, and scope of
monitoring activities by the entity or others at the location or component, and
(e) judgments about materiality of the location or component. [Paragraph
added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.19 In planning the audit, the auditor should use his or her judgment as
to the appropriately low level of audit risk and his or her preliminary judgment
about materiality levels in a manner that can be expected to provide, within
the inherent limitations of the auditing process, sufficient evidential matter to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. Materiality levels include an overall level for each
statement; however, because the statements are interrelated, and for reasons
of efficiency, the auditor ordinarily considers materiality for planning purposes
in terms of the smallest aggregate level of misstatements that could be consid-
ered material to any one of the financial statements. For example, if the
auditor believes that misstatements aggregating approximately $100,000
would have a material effect on income but that such misstatements would
have to aggregate approximately $200,000 to materially affect financial posi-
tion, it would not be appropriate for him or her to design auditing procedures
that would be expected to detect misstatements only if they aggregate approxi-
mately $200,000. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.20 The auditor plans the audit to obtain reasonable assurance of detecting
misstatements that he or she believes could be large enough, individually or in the
aggregate, to be quantitatively material to the financial statements. Although the
auditor should be alert for misstatements that could be qualitatively material, it
ordinarily is not practical to design procedures to detect them. Section 326,
Evidential Matter, states that “an auditor typically works within economic limits;
his or her opinion, to be economically useful, must be formed within a reasonable
length of time and at reasonable cost.” [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]
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.21 In some situations, the auditor considers materiality for planning pur-
poses before the financial statements to be audited are prepared. In other situ-
ations, planning takes place after the financial statements under audit have been
prepared, but the auditor may be aware that they require significant modification.
In both types of situations, the auditor’s preliminary judgment about materiality
might be based on the entity’s annualized interim financial statements or financial
statements of one or more prior annual periods, as long as recognition is given to
the effects of major changes in the entity’s circumstances (for example, a signifi-
cant merger) and relevant changes in the economy as a whole or the industry in
which the entity operates. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.22 Assuming, theoretically, that the auditor’s judgment about material-
ity at the planning stage was based on the same information available at the
evaluation stage, materiality for planning and evaluation purposes would be
the same. However, it ordinarily is not feasible for the auditor, when planning
an audit, to anticipate all of the circumstances that may ultimately influence
judgments about materiality in evaluating the audit findings at the completion
of the audit. Thus, the auditor’s preliminary judgment about materiality
ordinarily will differ from the judgment about materiality used in evaluating
the audit findings. If significantly lower materiality levels become appropriate
in evaluating audit findings, the auditor should re-evaluate the sufficiency of
the auditing procedures he or she has performed. [Paragraph renumbered by
the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.23 In planning auditing procedures, the auditor should also consider the
nature, cause (if known), and amount of misstatements that he or she is aware of
from the audit of the prior period’s financial statements. [Paragraph renumbered
by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

Considerations at the Individual Account-Balance or
Class-of-Transactions Level

.24 The auditor recognizes that there is an inverse relationship between
audit risk and materiality considerations. For example, the risk that a particu-
lar account balance or class of transactions and related assertions could be
misstated by an extremely large amount might be very low, but the risk that
it could be misstated by an extremely small amount might be very high.
Holding other planning considerations equal, either a decrease in the level of
audit risk that the auditor judges to be appropriate in an account balance or a
class of transactions or a decrease in the amount of misstatements in the
balance or class that the auditor believes could be material would require the
auditor to do one or more of the following: (a) select a more effective auditing
procedure, (b) perform auditing procedures closer to year end, or (c) increase
the extent of a particular auditing procedure. [Paragraph renumbered and
amended, effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or
after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.25 In determining the nature, timing, and extent of auditing procedures
to be applied to a specific account balance or class of transactions, the auditor
should design procedures to obtain reasonable assurance of detecting misstate-
ments that he or she believes, based on the preliminary judgment about
materiality, could be material, when aggregated with misstatements in other
balances or classes, to the financial statements taken as a whole. Auditors use
various methods to design procedures to detect such misstatements. In some
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cases, auditors explicitly estimate, for planning purposes, the maximum
amount of misstatements in the balance or class that, when combined with
misstatements in other balances or classes, could exist without causing the
financial statements to be materially misstated. In other cases, auditors relate
their preliminary judgment about materiality to a specific account balance or
class of transactions without explicitly estimating such misstatements. [Para-
graph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82,
February 1997.]

.26 The auditor needs to consider audit risk at the individual account-
balance or class-of-transactions level because such consideration directly as-
sists in determining the scope of auditing procedures for the balance or class
and related assertions. The auditor should seek to restrict audit risk at the
individual balance or class level in such a way that will enable him or her, at
the completion of the audit, to express an opinion on the financial statements
taken as a whole at an appropriately low level of audit risk. Auditors use
various approaches to accomplish that objective. [Paragraph renumbered by
the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.27 At the account-balance or class-of-transactions level, audit risk con-
sists of (a) the risk (consisting of inherent risk and control risk) that the
balance or class and related assertions contain misstatements (whether caused
by error or fraud) that could be material to the financial statements when
aggregated with misstatements in other balances or classes and (b) the risk
(detection risk) that the auditor will not detect such misstatements. The
discussion that follows describes audit risk in terms of three component
risks.'? The way the auditor considers these component risks and combines
them involves professional judgment and depends on the audit approach.

a. Inherent risk is the susceptibility of an assertion to a material
misstatement, assuming that there are no related controls. The risk
of such misstatement is greater for some assertions and related
balances or classes than for others. For example, complex calcula-
tions are more likely to be misstated than simple calculations. Cash
is more susceptible to theft than an inventory of coal. Accounts
consisting of amounts derived from accounting estimates pose
greater risks than do accounts consisting of relatively routine, factual
data. External factors also influence inherent risk. For example,
technological developments might make a particular product obso-
lete, thereby causing inventory to be more susceptible to overstate-
ment. In addition to those factors that are peculiar to a specific
assertion for an account balance or a class of transactions, factors
that relate to several or all of the balances or classes may influence
the inherent risk related to an assertion for a specific balance or class.
These latter factors include, for example, a lack of sufficient working
capital to continue operations or a declining industry characterized
by a large number of business failures.

b. Control risk is the risk that a material misstatement that could occur
in an assertion will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by

12 The formula in the appendix [paragraph .48] to section 350, Audit Sampling, describes audit
risk in terms of four component risks. Detection risk is presented in terms of two components: the
risk that analytical procedures and other relevant substantive tests would fail to detect misstate-
ments equal to tolerable misstatement, and the allowable risk of incorrect acceptance for the
substantive test of details. [Footnote renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Stand-
ards No. 82, February 1997.]
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the entity’s internal control. That risk is a function of the effective-
ness of the design and operation of internal control in achieving the
entity’s objectives relevant to preparation of the entity’s financial
statements. Some control risk will always exist because of the inher-
ent limitations of internal control.

c. Detection risk is the risk that the auditor will not detect a material
misstatement that exists in an assertion. Detection risk is a function
of the effectiveness of an auditing procedure and of its application by
the auditor. It arises partly from uncertainties that exist when the
auditor does not examine 100 percent of an account balance or a class
of transactions and partly because of other uncertainties that exist
even if he or she were to examine 100 percent of the balance or class.
Such other uncertainties arise because an auditor might select an
inappropriate auditing procedure, misapply an appropriate proce-
dure, or misinterpret the audit results. These other uncertainties can
be reduced to a negligible level through adequate planning and
supervision and conduct of a firm’s audit practice in accordance with
appropriate quality control standards.

[Paragraph renumbered and amended, effective for audits of financial state-
ments for periods ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82.]

.28 Inherent risk and control risk differ from detection risk in that they
exist independently of the audit of financial statements, whereas detection risk
relates to the auditor’s procedures and can be changed at his or her discretion.
Detection risk should bear an inverse relationship to inherent and control risk.
The less the inherent and control risk the auditor believes exists, the greater
the detection risk that can be accepted. Conversely, the greater the inherent
and control risk the auditor believes exists, the less the detection risk that can
be accepted. These components of audit risk may be assessed in quantitative
terms such as percentages or in nonquantitative terms that range, for example,
from a minimum to a maximum. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.29 When the auditor assesses inherent risk for an assertion related to an
account balance or a class of transactions, he or she evaluates numerous factors
that involve professional judgment. In doing so, the auditor considers not only
factors peculiar to the related assertion, but also, other factors pervasive to the
financial statements taken as a whole that may also influence inherent risk
related to the assertion. If an auditor concludes that the effort required to
assess inherent risk for an assertion would exceed the potential reduction in
the extent of auditing procedures derived from such an assessment, the auditor
should assess inherent risk as being at the maximum when designing auditing
procedures. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.30 The auditor also uses professional judgment in assessing control risk for
an assertion related to the account balance or class of transactions. The auditor’s
assessment of control risk is based on the sufficiency of evidential matter obtained
to support the effectiveness of internal control in preventing or detecting misstate-
ments in financial statement assertions. If the auditor believes controls are
unlikely to pertain to an assertion or are unlikely to be effective, or believes that
evaluating their effectiveness would be inefficient, he or she would assess control
risk for that assertion at the maximum. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance
of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]
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.31 The auditor might make separate or combined assessments of inher-
ent risk and control risk. If the auditor considers inherent risk or control risk,
separately or in combination, to be less than the maximum, he or she should
have an appropriate basis for these assessments. This basis may be obtained,
for example, through the use of questionnaires, checklists, instructions, or
similar generalized materials and, in the case of control risk, the under-
standing of internal control and the performance of suitable tests of controls.
However, professional judgment is required in interpreting, adapting, or ex-
panding such generalized material as appropriate in the circumstances. [Para-
graph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82,
February 1997.]

.32 The detection risk that the auditor can accept in the design of auditing
procedures is based on the level to which he or she seeks to restrict audit risk
related to the account balance or class of transactions and on the assessment
of inherent and control risks. As the auditor’s assessment of inherent risk and
control risk decreases, the detection risk that can be accepted increases. It is
not appropriate, however, for an auditor to rely completely on assessments of
inherent risk and control risk to the exclusion of performing substantive tests
of account balances and classes of transactions where misstatements could
exist that might be material when aggregated with misstatements in other
balances or classes. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997.]

.33 An audit of financial statements is a cumulative process; as the
auditor performs planned auditing procedures, the evidence obtained may
cause him or her to modify the nature, timing, and extent of other planned
procedures. As a result of performing auditing procedures or from other
sources during the audit, information may come to the auditor’s attention that
differs significantly from the information on which the audit plan was based.
For example, the extent of misstatements detected may alter the judgment
about the levels of inherent and control risks, and other information obtained
about the financial statements may alter the preliminary judgment about
materiality. In such cases, the auditor may need to re-evaluate the auditing
procedures he or she plans to apply, based on the revised consideration of audit
risk and materiality for all or certain of the account balances or classes of
transactions and related assertions. [Paragraph renumbered and amended,
effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after
December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82.]

Evaluating Audit Findings

.34 In evaluating whether the financial statements are presented fairly,
in all material respects, in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles, the auditor should consider the effects, both individually and in the
aggregate, of misstatements that are not corrected by the entity. In evaluating
the effects of misstatements, the auditor should include both qualitative and
quantitative considerations (see paragraphs .08—.11). The consideration and
aggregation of misstatements should include the auditor’s best estimate of the
total misstatements in the account balances or classes of transactions that he
or she has examined (hereafter referred to as likely misstatements'®), not just

13 The term likely misstatements includes any known misstatements.
See section 316A.33-.35 for a further discussion of the auditor’s consideration of differences between
the accounting records and the underlying facts and circumstances. Those paragraphs provide
specific guidance on the auditor’s consideration of an audit adjustment that is, or may be, the result
of fraud. [Footnote added, effective September 2002, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98.]

AICPA Professional Standards AU §31234



264 The Standards of Field Work

the amount of misstatements specifically identified (hereafter referred to as
known misstatements).’ Likely misstatements should be aggregated in a way
that enables the auditor to consider whether, in relation to individual amounts,
subtotals, or totals in the financial statements, they materially misstate the
financial statements taken as a whole. Qualitative considerations also influ-
ence the auditor in reaching a conclusion as to whether misstatements are
material. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82, February 1997. As amended, effective September 2002, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98.]

.35 When the auditor tests an account balance or a class of transactions
and related assertions by an analytical procedure, he or she ordinarily would
not specifically identify misstatements but would only obtain an indication of
whether misstatement might exist in the balance or class and possibly its
approximate magnitude. If the analytical procedure indicates that a misstate-
ment might exist, but not its approximate amount, the auditor ordinarily
would have to employ other procedures to enable him or her to estimate the
likely misstatement in the balance or class. When an auditor uses audit
sampling to test an assertion for an account balance or a class of transactions,
he or she projects the amount of known misstatements identified in the sample
to the items in the balance or class from which the sample was selected. That
projected misstatement, along with the results of other substantive tests,
contributes to the auditor’s assessment of likely misstatement in the balance
or class.'®» U8 [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997. As amended, effective September
2002, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98.]

.36 The risk of material misstatement of the financial statements is
generally greater when account balances and classes of transactions include
accounting estimates rather than essentially factual data because of the inher-
ent subjectivity in estimating future events. Estimates, such as those for
inventory obsolescence, uncollectible receivables, and warranty obligations,
are subject not only to the unpredictability of future events but also to mis-
statements that may arise from using inadequate or inappropriate data or
misapplying appropriate data. Since no one accounting estimate can be consid-
ered accurate with certainty, the auditor recognizes that a difference between
an estimated amount best supported by the audit evidence and the estimated
amount included in the financial statements may be reasonable, and such
difference would not be considered to be a likely misstatement. However, if the
auditor believes the estimated amount included in the financial statements is
unreasonable, he or she should treat the difference between that estimate and
the closest reasonable estimate as a likely misstatement. The auditor should
also consider whether the difference between estimates best supported by the
audit evidence and the estimates included in the financial statements, which
are individually reasonable, indicate a possible bias on the part of the entity’s
management. For example, if each accounting estimate included in the finan-
cial statements was individually reasonable, but the effect of the difference
between each estimate and the estimate best supported by the audit evidence

14 If the auditor were to examine all of the items in a balance or a class, the likely misstatement
applicable to recorded transactions in the balance or class would be the amount of known misstate-
ments specifically identified. [Footnote added, effective September 2002, by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 98.]

1151 [Footnote renumbered and deleted by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No.
98, September 2002.]

18] [Footnote renumbered and deleted by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No.
98, September 2002.]
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was to increase income, the auditor should reconsider the estimates taken as
a whole. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82, February 1997. As amended, effective September 2002, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98.]

.37 In prior periods, likely misstatements may not have been corrected by
the entity because they did not cause the financial statements for those periods
to be materially misstated. Those misstatements might also affect the current
period’s financial statements.!” If the auditor believes that there is an unac-
ceptably high risk that the current period’s financial statements may be
materially misstated when those prior-period likely misstatements that affect
the current period’s financial statements are considered along with likely
misstatements arising in the current period, the auditor should include in
aggregate likely misstatement the effect on the current period’s financial
statements of those prior-period likely misstatements. [Paragraph renum-
bered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February
1997.]

.38 If the auditor concludes, based on the accumulation of sufficient
evidential matter, that the effects of likely misstatements, individually or in
the aggregate, cause the financial statements to be materially misstated, the
auditor should request management to eliminate the misstatement. If the
material misstatement is not eliminated, the auditor should issue a qualified
or an adverse opinion on the financial statements. Material misstatements
may be eliminated by, for example, application of appropriate accounting
principles, other adjustments in amounts, or the addition of appropriate dis-
closure of inadequately disclosed matters. Even though the effects of likely
misstatements on the financial statements may be immaterial, the auditor
should recognize that an accumulation of immaterial misstatements in the
balance sheet could contribute to material misstatements of future financial
statements. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 82, February 1997. As amended, effective September 2002, by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98.]

.39 If the auditor concludes that the effects of likely misstatements,
individually or in the aggregate, do not cause the financial statements to be
materially misstated, he or she should recognize that they could still be
materially misstated because of further misstatement remaining undetected.
As the aggregate likely misstatements increase, the risk that the financial
statements may be materially misstated also increases. The auditor generally
reduces this risk of material misstatement in planning the audit by restricting
the extent of detection risk he or she is willing to accept for an assertion related
to an account balance or a class of transactions. The auditor can reduce this
risk of material misstatement by modifying the nature, timing, and extent of
planned auditing procedures in performing the audit. (See paragraph .33.)
Nevertheless, if the auditor believes that such risk is unacceptably high, he or
she should perform additional auditing procedures or satisfy himself or herself
that the entity has adjusted the financial statements to reduce the risk of
material misstatement to an acceptable level. [Paragraph renumbered by the
issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997. As
amended, effective September 2002, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 98.]

17 The measurement of the effect, if any, on the current period’s financial statements of misstate-
ments uncorrected in prior periods involves accounting considerations and is therefore not addressed
in this section. [Footnote renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82,
February 1997. Footnote subsequently renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Stand-
ards No. 98, September 2002.]
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.40 The auditor should document the nature and effect of aggregated
misstatements. The auditor also should document his or her conclusion as to
whether the aggregated misstatements cause the financial statements to be
materially misstated. [Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial state-
ments for periods beginning on or after May 15, 2002, by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 96.]

41 In aggregating likely misstatements that the entity has not corrected,
pursuant to paragraphs .34 and .35, the auditor may designate an amount
below which misstatements need not be accumulated. This amount should be
set so that any such misstatements, either individually or when aggregated
with other such misstatements, would not be material to the financial state-
ments, after the possibility of further undetected misstatements is considered.
[Paragraph added, effective for audits of financial statements for periods
ending on or after December 15, 1997, by Statement on Auditing Standards No.
82. Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Stand-
ards No. 96, January 2002. As amended, effective September 2002, by State-
ment on Auditing Standards No. 98.]

Effective Date

.42 This section is effective for audits of financial statements for periods
beginning after June 30, 1984. [Paragraph renumbered by the issuance of
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 82, February 1997. Paragraph sub-
sequently renumbered by the issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 96, January 2002.]

[The next page is 264-21.]
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AU Section 9312

Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an
Audit: Auditing Interpretations of Section 312

1. The Meaning of the Term Misstatement

.01 Question—Section 312, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an
Audit, paragraph .04, states that financial statements would be considered
materially misstated if “they contain misstatements whose effect, individually
or in the aggregate, is important enough to cause them not to be presented
fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with generally accepted account-
ing principles.” Section 312.04 also states that misstatements can result from
errors or fraud. The term misstatement is used throughout generally accepted
auditing standards; however, this term is not defined. What is the meaning of
the term misstatement?

.02 Interpretation—In the absence of materiality considerations, a mis-
statement causes the financial statements not to be in conformity with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles.! A misstatement may consist of any of the
following:

a. A difference between the amount, classification, or presentation of a
reported financial statement element, account, or item and the
amount, classification, or presentation that would have been re-
ported under generally accepted accounting principles

b. The omission of a financial statement element, account, or item

c. A financial statement disclosure that is not presented in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles

d. The omission of information required to be disclosed in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.

.03 Misstatements may be of two types: known and likely. Section 312.35
refers to known misstatements as “the amount of misstatements specifically
identified.” For example, the failure to accrue an unpaid invoice for goods
received or services rendered prior to the end of the period presented would be
a known misstatement. Section 312.35 refers to likely misstatements as “the
auditor’s best estimate of the total misstatements in the account balances or
classes of transactions....” Likely misstatements may be identified when an
auditor performs analytical or sampling procedures. For example, if an auditor
applies sampling procedures to a certain class of transactions that identify a
known misstatement in the items sampled, the auditor will then determine the
likely misstatement by projecting the known difference identified in the sam-
ple to the total population tested. With regard to analytical procedures, section
312.35 states, in part—

When the auditor tests an account balance or class of transactions and related
assertions by an analytical procedure, he or she ordinarily would not specifi-
cally identify misstatements but would only obtain an indication of whether

1 Reference to generally accepted accounting principles includes, where applicable, a comprehen-
sive basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles as defined in section 623,
Special Reports, paragraph .04.
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misstatements might exist in the balance or class and possibly its approximate
magnitude. If the analytical procedure indicates that a misstatement might
exist, but not its approximate amount, the auditor ordinarily would have to
employ other procedures to enable him or her to estimate the likely misstate-
ment in the balance or class.

.04 Likely misstatements also are associated with accounting estimates.
Section 312.36 states, in part—

The risk of material misstatement of the financial statements is generally
greater when account balances and classes of transactions include accounting
estimates rather than essentially factual data because of the inherent subjec-
tivity in estimating future events. Estimates, such as those for inventory
obsolescence, uncollectible receivables, and warranty obligations, are subject
not only to the unpredictability of future events but also to misstatements that
may arise from using inadequate or inappropriate data or misapplying appro-
priate data. Since no one accounting estimate can be considered accurate with
certainty, the auditor recognizes that a difference between an estimated
amount best supported by the audit evidence and the estimated amount
included in the financial statements may be reasonable, and such difference
would not be considered to be a likely misstatement. However, if the auditor
believes the estimated amount included in the financial statements is unrea-
sonable, he or she should treat the difference between that estimate and the
closest reasonable estimate as a likely misstatement and aggregate it with
other likely misstatements.

[Issue Date: December, 2000.]

2. Evaluating Differences in Estimates
.05 Question—Section 312.36 states, in part—

Since no one accounting estimate can be considered accurate with certainty, the
auditor recognizes that a difference between an estimated amount best supported
by the audit evidence and the estimated amount included in the financial
statements may be reasonable, and such difference would not be considered to be
a likely misstatement. However, if the auditor believes the estimated amount
included in the financial statements is unreasonable, he or she should treat the
difference between that estimate and the closest reasonable estimate as a likely
misstatement and aggregate it with other likely misstatements.

With respect to an estimate, what should the auditor consider in determining
the amount of the likely misstatements to be aggregated?

.06 Interpretation—In determining the amount of the likely misstate-
ments to be aggregated, the auditor considers the “closest reasonable estimate”
which may be a range of acceptable amounts or a point estimate, if that is a
better estimate than any other amount.

.07 In some cases the auditor may use a method that produces a range of
acceptable amounts to determine the reasonableness of amounts recorded. For
example, the auditor’s analysis of specific problem accounts receivable and
recent trends in bad-debt write-offs as a percent of sales may cause the auditor
to conclude that the allowance for doubtful accounts should be between
$130,000 and $160,000. If management’s recorded estimate falls within that
range, the auditor ordinarily would conclude that the recorded amount is
reasonable and no difference would be aggregated. If management’s recorded
estimate falls outside the auditor’s range of acceptable amounts, the difference
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between the recorded amount and the amount at the closest end of the auditor’s
range would be aggregated as a misstatement. For example, if management
has recorded $110,000 as the allowance, the amount by which the recorded
estimate falls outside the range ($20,000) is aggregated as a misstatement.

.08 In other cases the auditor may determine that a point estimate is a
better estimate than any other amount. In those situations, the auditor would
use that amount to determine the reasonableness of the recorded amount. The
auditor would compare the point estimate to the amount recorded by the client
and include any difference in the aggregation of misstatements.?

.09 Section 312.36 indicates that the auditor should be alert to the possi-
bility that management’s recorded estimates are clustered at either end of the
auditor’s range of acceptable amounts, indicating a possible bias on the part of
management. Section 312.36 states, in part—

The auditor should also consider whether the difference between estimates best
supported by the audit evidence and the estimates included in the financial
statements, which are individually reasonable, indicate a possible bias on the
part of the entity’s management. For example, if each accounting estimate
included in the financial statements was individually reasonable, but the effect
of the difference between each estimate and the estimate best supported by the
audit evidence was to increase income, the auditor should reconsider the
estimates taken as a whole.

In these circumstances, the auditor should reconsider whether other recorded
estimates reflect a similar bias and should perform additional audit procedures
that address those estimates. In addition, the auditor should be alert to the
possibility that management’s recorded estimates were clustered at one end of
the range of acceptable amounts in the preceding year and clustered at the
other end of the range of acceptable amounts in the current year, thus indicat-
ing the possibility that management is using swings in accounting estimates
to offset higher or lower than expected earnings. If the auditor believes that
such circumstances exist, the auditor should consider whether these matters
should be communicated to the entity’s audit committee, as described in section
380, Communication With Audit Committees, paragraphs .08 and .11.

[Issue Date: December, 2000.]

3. Quantitative Measures of Materiality in Evaluating Audit Findings

.10 Question—Section 312, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an
Audit, provides guidance to the auditor on evaluating the effect of misstate-
ments on the financial statements under audit. Section 312.10 states, in part—

The auditor’s consideration of materiality is a matter of professional judgment
and is influenced by his or her perception of the needs of a reasonable person
who will rely on the financial statements.

Section 312.34 further describes the auditor’s evaluation of the quantitative
aspects of materiality. It states, in part—

In evaluating whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all
material respects, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,
the auditor should aggregate misstatements that the entity has not corrected
in a way that enables him or her to consider whether, in relation to individual
amounts, subtotals, or totals in the financial statements, they materially
misstate the financial statements taken as a whole.

2 See Interpretation No. 14, “Reasonable Estimation of the Amount of a Loss” of FASB Statement
No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.

AICPA Professional Standards AU §9312 10



264-24 The Standards of Field Work

What factors should the auditor consider in assessing the quantitative impact
of identified misstatements?

.11 Interpretation—The quantitative evaluation of identified misstate-
ments is a matter of professional judgment and should reflect a measure of
materiality that is based on the element or elements of the financial state-
ments that, in the auditor’s judgment, are expected to affect the judgment of a
reasonable person who will rely on the financial statements, considering the
nature of the reporting entity. For example, it is generally recognized that
after-tax income from continuing operations is, in most circumstances, the
measure of greatest significance to the financial statement users of entities
whose debt or equity securities are publicly traded. Depending on the entity’s
particular circumstances, other elements of the financial statements that may
be useful in making a quantitative assessment of the materiality of identified
misstatements include current assets, net working capital, total assets, total
revenues, gross profit, total equity, and cash flows from operations. In all
instances, the element or elements selected should reflect, in the auditor’s
judgment, the measures most likely to be considered important by the financial
statement users.

.12 Question—An entity’s after-tax income or loss from continuing opera-
tions may be nominal or may fluctuate widely from year to year due to the
inclusion in the results of operations of significant, unusual, or infrequently
occurring income or expense items. What other quantitative measures could be
considered if after-tax income or loss from continuing operations is nominal or
fluctuates widely from period to period?

.18 Interpretation—In certain circumstances, a quantitative measure of
materiality based on after-tax income from continuing operations may not be
appropriate. The auditor may identify another element or elements that are
appropriate in the circumstances or may compute an amount of current-year
after-tax income from continuing operations adjusted to exclude unusual or
infrequently occurring items of income or expense.

.14 The selection of an alternate element or elements for use in assessing
a quantitative measure of materiality is a matter of the auditor’s professional
judgment. In choosing an alternate element or elements, the auditor should
evaluate the perceived needs of the financial statement users, the particular
circumstances that caused the abnormal results for the current year, the
likelihood of their recurrence, and any other matters that, in the auditor’s
judgment, may be relevant to a quantitative assessment of materiality.

[Issue Date: December, 2000.]

4. Considering the Qualitative Characteristics of Misstatements

.15 Question—Section 312, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an
Audit, paragraph .34, states, in part—

Qualitative considerations also influence the auditor in reaching a conclusion
as to whether misstatements are material.

What qualitative factors should the auditor consider in assessing whether
misstatements are material?

3 Paragraph 26 of APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the
Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently
Occurring Events and Transactions, discusses unusual or infrequently occurring items.
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.16 Interpretation—Section 312.10 states that the auditor’s consideration
of materiality is a matter of professional judgment and is influenced by his or
her perception of the needs of a reasonable person. Section 312.11 states—

As a result of the interaction of quantitative and qualitative considerations in
materiality judgments, misstatements of relatively small amounts that come
to the auditor’s attention could have a material effect on the financial state-
ments. For example, an illegal payment of an otherwise immaterial amount
could be material if there is a reasonable possibility that it could lead to a
material contingent liability or a material loss of revenue.

Section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements, paragraph .36, states
that the significance of an item to a particular entity (for example, inventories
to a manufacturing company), the pervasiveness of the misstatement (such as
whether it affects the amounts and presentation of numerous financial state-
ment items), and the effect of the misstatement on the financial statements
taken as a whole are all factors to be considered in making a judgment
regarding materiality. Section 312.10 also makes reference to the discussion of
materiality in Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement of Financial
Accounting Concepts No. 2, Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Informa-
tion. FASB Concepts Statement No. 2, paragraphs 123 through 132, includes
a discussion about matters that might affect a materiality judgment.

.17 The auditor considers relevant qualitative factors in his or her quali-
tative considerations. Qualitative factors the auditor may consider relevant to
his or her consideration include the following:

a. The potential effect of the misstatement on trends, especially trends
in profitability.

b. A misstatement that changes a loss into income or vice versa.

c. The effect of the misstatement on segment information, for example,
the significance of the matter to a particular segment important to
the future profitability of the entity, the pervasiveness of the matter
on the segment information, and the impact of the matter on trends
in segment information, all in relation to the financial statements
taken as a whole. (See Interpretation No. 4 of section 326, Evidential
Matter, “Applying Auditing Procedures to Segment Disclosures in
Financial Statements” [section 9326.33]).

d. The potential effect of the misstatement on the entity’s compliance
with loan covenants, other contractual agreements, and regulatory
provisions.

e. The existence of statutory or regulatory reporting requirements that
affect materiality thresholds.

f. A misstatement that has the effect of increasing management’s
compensation, for example, by satisfying the requirements for the
award of bonuses or other forms of incentive compensation.

g. The sensitivity of the circumstances surrounding the misstatement,
for example, the implications of misstatements involving fraud and
possible illegal acts, violations of contractual provisions, and con-
flicts of interest.

h. The significance of the financial statement element affected by the
misstatement, for example, a misstatement affecting recurring earn-
ings as contrasted to one involving a non-recurring charge or credit,
such as an extraordinary item.
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i. The effects of misclassifications, for example, misclassification be-
tween operating and non-operating income or recurring and non-
recurring income items or a misclassification between fundraising
costs and program activity costs in a not-for-profit organization.

J. The significance of the misstatement or disclosures relative to known
user needs, for example—

® The significance of earnings and earnings per share to public-
company investors and the significance of equity amounts to
private-company creditors.

® The magnifying effects of a misstatement on the calculation of
purchase price in a transfer of interests (buy/sell agreement).

® The effect of misstatements of earnings when contrasted with
expectations.

Obtaining the views and expectations of the entity’s audit committee
and management may be helpful in gaining or corroborating an
understanding of user needs, such as those illustrated above.

k. The definitive character of the misstatement, for example, the pre-
cision of an error that is objectively determinable as contrasted with
a misstatement that unavoidably involves a degree of subjectivity
through estimation, allocation, or uncertainty.

l.  The motivation of management with respect to the misstatement, for
example, (i) an indication of a possible pattern of bias by manage-
ment when developing and accumulating accounting estimates or (ii)
a misstatement precipitated by management’s continued unwilling-
ness to correct weaknesses in the financial reporting process.

m. The existence of offsetting effects of individually significant but
different misstatements.

n. Thelikelihood that a misstatement that is currently immaterial may
have a material effect in future periods because of a cumulative
effect, for example, that builds over several periods.

0. The cost of making the correction—it may not be cost-beneficial for
the client to develop a system to calculate a basis to record the effect
of an immaterial misstatement. On the other hand, if management
appears to have developed a system to calculate an amount that
represents an immaterial misstatement, it may reflect a motivation
of management as noted in paragraph .17(7) above.

p.  The risk that possible additional undetected misstatements would
affect the auditor’s evaluation.

[Issue Date: December, 2000.]

[The next page is 265.]
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AU Section 313

Substantive Tests Prior to the
Balance-Sheet Date

(Supersedes Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1, AICPA,
Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 310.05-.09.)"

Source: SAS No. 45.
Effective for periods ended after September 30, 1983, unless otherwise indicated.

.01 This section provides guidance for audits of financial statements
concerning—

a. Factors to be considered before applying principal substantive tests
to the details of particular asset or liability accounts as of a date
(interim date) that is prior to the balance-sheet date.

b. Auditing procedures to provide a reasonable basis for extending from
an interim date to the balance-sheet date (remaining period) the
audit conclusions from such principal substantive tests.

c. Coordinating the timing of auditing procedures.

Guidance concerning the timing of tests of controls is provided in section 319.99.
[Revised, May 2001, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issu-
ance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 94.]

.02 Audit testing at interim dates may permit early consideration of
significant matters affecting the year-end financial statements (for example,
related party transactions, changed conditions, recent accounting pronounce-
ments, and financial statement items likely to require adjustment). In addi-
tion, much of the audit planning, including obtaining an understanding of
internal control, assessing control risk and the application of substantive tests
to transactions can be conducted prior to the balance-sheet date.!

.03 Applying principal substantive tests to the details of an asset or
liability account as of an interim date rather than as of the balance-sheet date
potentially increases the risk that misstatements that may exist at the bal-
ance-sheet date will not be detected by the auditor. The potential for such
increased audit risk tends to become greater as the remaining period is
lengthened. This potential incremental audit risk can be controlled, however,

* Editor’s note deleted to reflect the conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of
Statement on Auditing Standards Nos. 53 through 62.

1 Substantive tests such as the following can be applied to transactions through any selected
date(s) prior to the balance-sheet date and completed as part of the year-end procedures: (1) tests of
details of the additions to and reductions of accounts such as property, investments, and debt and
equity capital; (2) tests of details of transactions affecting income and expense accounts; (3) tests of
accounts that are not to be audited by testing the details of items composing the balance (for example,
warranty reserves, clearing accounts, certain deferred charges); and (4) analytical procedures applied
to income and expense accounts.
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if the substantive tests to cover the remaining period can be designed in a way
that will provide a reasonable basis for extending to the balance-sheet date the
audit conclusions from the tests of details at the interim date.

Factors to Be Considered Before Applying Principal
Substantive Tests to the Details of Balance-Sheet
Accounts at Interim Dates

.04 Before applying principal substantive tests to the details of asset or
liability accounts at an interim date, the auditor should assess the difficulty in
controlling the incremental audit risk. Paragraphs .05 through .07 discuss
considerations that affect that assessment. In addition, the auditor should
consider the cost of the substantive tests that are necessary to cover the
remaining period in a way that will provide the appropriate audit assurance at
the balance-sheet date. Applying principal substantive tests to the details of
asset and liability accounts at an interim date may not be cost-effective if
substantive tests to cover the remaining period cannot be restricted due to the
assessed level of control risk.

.05 Assessing control risk at below the maximum is not required in order
to have a reasonable basis for extending audit conclusions from an interim date
to the balance-sheet date; however, if the auditor assesses control risk at the
maximum during the remaining period, he should consider whether the effec-
tiveness of certain of the substantive tests to cover that period will be impaired.
For example, effective controls may be lacking over the internal documents
that provide indications of transactions that have been executed. Substantive
tests that are based on such documents and relate to the completeness asser-
tion for the remaining period may be ineffective because the documents may
be incomplete. Likewise, substantive tests covering the remaining period that
relate to the existence assertion at the balance-sheet date may be ineffective if
effective controls over the custody and physical movement of assets are not
present. In both of the above examples, if the auditor concludes that the
effectiveness of such substantive tests would be impaired, additional assurance
should be sought or the accounts should be examined as of the balance-sheet
date.

.06 The auditor should consider whether there are rapidly changing
business conditions or circumstances that might predispose management to
misstate financial statements in the remaining period.? If such conditions or
circumstances are present, the auditor might conclude that the substantive
tests to cover the remaining period would not be effective in controlling the
incremental audit risk associated with them. In those situations, the asset and
liability accounts affected should ordinarily be examined as of the balance-
sheet date.

.07 The auditor should consider whether the year-end balances of the
particular asset or liability accounts that might be selected for interim exami-
nation are reasonably predictable with respect to amount, relative signifi-
cance, and composition. He should also consider whether the entity’s proposed
procedures for analyzing and adjusting such accounts at interim dates and for
establishing proper accounting cutoffs are appropriate. In addition, the auditor

2 See section 316A, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit, paragraphs .16
through .19.
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should consider whether the accounting system will provide information
concerning the balances at the balance-sheet date and the transactions in
the remaining period that is sufficient to permit investigation of (a) signifi-
cant unusual transactions or entries (including those at or near year-end); (b)
other causes of significant fluctuations, or expected fluctuations that did not
occur; and (¢) changes in the composition of the account balances. If the auditor
concludes that evidential matter related to the above would not be sufficient
for purposes of controlling audit risk, the account should be examined as of the
balance-sheet date.

Extending Audit Conclusions to the Balance-Sheet Date

.08 Substantive tests should be designed to cover the remaining period in
such a way that the assurance from those tests and the substantive tests
applied to the details of the balance as of an interim date, and any audit
assurance provided from the assessed level of control risk, achieve the audit
objectives at the balance-sheet date. Such tests ordinarily should include (a)
comparison of information concerning the balance at the balance-sheet date
with the comparable information at the interim date to identify amounts that
appear unusual and investigation of any such amounts and (b) other analytical
procedures or substantive tests of details, or a combination of both, to provide a
reasonable basis for extending to the balance-sheet date the audit conclusions
relative to the assertions tested directly or indirectly at the interim date.?

.09 If misstatements are detected in account balances at interim dates, the
auditor may be required to modify the planned nature, timing, or extent of the
substantive tests covering the remaining period that relate to such accounts or to
reperform certain auditing procedures at the balance-sheet date. The assessment
of possible misstatement as of the balance-sheet date should be based on the
auditor’s judgment of the state of the particular account(s) as of that date, after
considering (a) the possible implications of the nature and cause of the misstate-
ments detected at the interim date, (b) the possible relationship to other phases of
the audit, (¢) the corrections subsequently recorded by the entity, and (d) the
results of auditing procedures covering the remaining period (including those that
are responsive to the particular possibilities for misstatement). For example, the
auditor might conclude that the estimate of unrecorded credit memos at an interim
date is representative of such misstatements at the balance-sheet date, based on
substantive tests covering the remaining period. On the other hand, the assess-
ment of the possible effects at the balance-sheet date of other types of cutoff
misstatements at an interim date might be based on the results of reperforming
substantive tests of the cutoff.

Coordinating the Timing of Auditing Procedures

.10 The timing of auditing procedures also involves consideration of
whether related auditing procedures are properly coordinated. This includes,
for example—

a. Coordinating the auditing procedures applied to related party trans-
actions and balances.*

3 Factors to be considered in determining the relative mix of tests of details and analytical
procedures include (1) the nature of the transactions and balances in relation to the assertions
involved, (2) the availability of historical data or other criteria for use in analytical procedures, and
(3) the availability of records required for effective tests of details and the nature of the tests to which
they are susceptible.

4 See section 334, Related Parties.
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b. Coordinating the testing of interrelated accounts and accounting
cutoffs.

c¢. Maintaining temporary audit control over assets that are readily
negotiable and simultaneously testing such assets and cash on hand
and in banks, bank loans, and other related items.

Decisions about coordinating related auditing procedures should be made in
the light of the assessed level of control risk and of the particular auditing
procedures that could be applied, either for the remaining period or at year-end,
or both.

[The next page is 271.]
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AU Section 315

Communications Between Predecessor and
Successor Auditors

(Supersedes SAS No. 7)
Source: SAS No. 84; SAS No. 93.

Effective with respect to acceptance of an engagement after March 31, 1998, unless
otherwise indicated.

Introduction

.01 This section provides guidance on communications between predeces-
sor and successor auditors when a change of auditors is in process or has taken
place. It also provides communications guidance when possible misstatements
are discovered in financial statements reported on by a predecessor auditor.
This section applies whenever an independent auditor is considering accepting
an engagement to audit or reaudit (see paragraph .14 of this section) financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, and
after such auditor has been appointed to perform such an engagement.

.02 For the purposes of this section, the term predecessor auditor refers to
an auditor who (a) has reported on the most recent audited financial state-
ments! or was engaged to perform but did not complete an audit of the
financial statements® and (b) has resigned, declined to stand for reappoint-
ment, or been notified that his or her services have been, or may be, termi-
nated. The term successor auditor refers to an auditor who is considering
accepting an engagement to audit financial statements but has not communi-
cated with the predecessor auditor as provided in paragraphs .07 through .10
and to an auditor who has accepted such an engagement. [As amended,
effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after June
30, 2001, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 93.]

Change of Auditors

.03 An auditor should not accept an engagement until the communica-
tions described in paragraphs .07 through .10 have been evaluated.® However,
an auditor may make a proposal for an audit engagement before communicating
with the predecessor auditor. The auditor may wish to advise the prospective

! The provisions of this section are not required if the most recent audited financial statements
are more than two years prior to the beginning of the earliest period to be audited by the successor
auditor.

2 There may be two predecessor auditors: the auditor who reported on the most recent audited
financial statements and the auditor who was engaged to perform but did not complete an audit of
any subsequent financial statements. [As amended, effective for audits of financial statements for
periods ending on or after June 30, 2001, by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 93.]

3 When the most recent financial statements have been compiled or reviewed in accordance with
the Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services, the accountant who reported on
those financial statements is not a predecessor auditor. Although not required by this section, in
these circumstances the successor auditor may find the matters described in paragraphs .08 and .09
useful in determining whether to accept the engagement.
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client (for example, in a proposal) that acceptance cannot be final until the
communications have been evaluated.

.04 Other communications between the successor and predecessor audi-
tors, described in paragraph .11, are advisable to assist in the planning of the
engagement. However, the timing of these other communications is more
flexible. The successor auditor may initiate these other communications either
prior to acceptance of the engagement or subsequent thereto.

.05 When more than one auditor is considering accepting an engagement,
the predecessor auditor should not be expected to be available to respond to
inquiries until a successor auditor has been selected by the prospective client
and has accepted the engagement subject to the evaluation of the communica-
tions with the predecessor auditor as provided in paragraphs .07 through .10.

.06 The initiative for communicating rests with the successor auditor. The
communication may be either written or oral. Both the predecessor and successor
auditors should hold in confidence information obtained from each other. This
obligation applies whether or not the successor auditor accepts the engagement.

Communications Before Successor Auditor Accepts Engagement

.07 Inquiry of the predecessor auditor is a necessary procedure because
the predecessor auditor may be able to provide information that will assist the
successor auditor in determining whether to accept the engagement. The
successor auditor should bear in mind that, among other things, the predeces-
sor auditor and the client may have disagreed about accounting principles,
auditing procedures, or similarly significant matters.

.08 The successor auditor should request permission from the prospective
client to make an inquiry of the predecessor auditor prior to final acceptance of the
engagement. Except as permitted by the Rules of the Code of Professional Con-
duct, an auditor is precluded from disclosing confidential information obtained in
the course of an engagement unless the client specifically consents. Thus, the
successor auditor should ask the prospective client to authorize the predecessor
auditor to respond fully to the successor auditor’s inquiries. If a prospective client
refuses to permit the predecessor auditor to respond or limits the response, the
successor auditor should inquire as to the reasons and consider the implications of
that refusal in deciding whether to accept the engagement.

.09 The successor auditor should make specific and reasonable inquiries
of the predecessor auditor regarding matters that will assist the successor
auditor in determining whether to accept the engagement. Matters subject to
inquiry should include—

® Information that might bear on the integrity of management.

® Disagreements with management as to accounting principles, audit-
ing procedures, or other similarly significant matters.

® Communications to audit committees or others with equivalent
authority and responsibility* regarding fraud, illegal acts by clients,
and internal-control-related matters.’

4 For entities that do not have audit committees, the phrase “others with equivalent authority
and responsibility” may include the board of directors, the board of trustees, or the owner in
owner-managed entities.

5 See section 316, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit; section 317, Illegal
Acts by Clients; and section 325, Communication of Internal Control Related Matters Noted in an
Audit.
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® The predecessor auditor’s understanding as to the reasons for the
change of auditors.

The successor auditor may wish to consider other reasonable inquiries.

.10 The predecessor auditor should respond promptly and fully, on the
basis of known facts, to the successor auditor’s reasonable inquiries. However,
should the predecessor auditor decide, due to unusual circumstances such as
impending, threatened, or potential litigation; disciplinary proceedings; or
other unusual circumstances, not to respond fully to the inquiries, the prede-
cessor auditor should clearly state that the response is limited. If the successor
auditor receives a limited response, its implications should be considered in
deciding whether to accept the engagement.

Other Communications

.11 The successor auditor should request that the client authorize the
predecessor auditor to allow a review of the predecessor auditor’s working
papers. The predecessor auditor may wish to request a consent and acknow-
ledgment letter from the client to document this authorization in an effort to
reduce misunderstandings about the scope of the communications being
authorized.® It is customary in such circumstances for the predecessor auditor
to make himself or herself available to the successor auditor and make avail-
able for review certain of the working papers. The predecessor auditor should
determine which working papers are to be made available for review and which
may be copied. The predecessor auditor should ordinarily permit the successor
auditor to review working papers, including documentation of planning, inter-
nal control, audit results, and other matters of continuing accounting and
auditing significance, such as the working paper analysis of balance sheet
accounts, and those relating to contingencies. Also, the predecessor auditor
should reach an understanding with the successor auditor as to the use of the
working papers.” The extent, if any, to which a predecessor auditor permits
access to the working papers is a matter of judgment.

Successor Auditor’s Use of Communications

.12 The successor auditor must obtain sufficient competent evidential
matter to afford a reasonable basis for expressing an opinion on the financial
statements he or she has been engaged to audit, including evaluating the
consistency of the application of accounting principles. The audit evidence used
in analyzing the impact of the opening balances on the current-year financial
statements and consistency of accounting principles is a matter of professional
judgment. Such audit evidence may include the most recent audited financial
statements, the predecessor auditor’s report thereon,® the results of inquiry of
the predecessor auditor, the results of the successor auditor’s review of the
predecessor auditor’s working papers relating to the most recently completed
audit, and audit procedures performed on the current period’s transactions that

6 Appendix A [paragraph .24] contains an illustrative client consent and acknowledgment letter.

7 Before permitting access to the working papers, the predecessor auditor may wish to obtain a
written communication from the successor auditor regarding the use of the working papers. Appendix
B [paragraph .25] contains an illustrative successor auditor acknowledgment letter.

8 The successor auditor may wish to make inquiries about the professional reputation and
standing of the predecessor auditor. See section 543, Part of Audit Performed by Other Independent
Auditors, paragraph 10a.
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may provide evidence about the opening balances or consistency. For example,
evidence gathered during the current year’s audit may provide information
about the realizability and existence of receivables and inventory recorded at
the beginning of the year. The successor auditor may also apply appropriate
auditing procedures to account balances at the beginning of the period under
audit and to transactions in prior periods. [As amended, effective for audits of
financial statements for periods ending on or after June 30,2001, by Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 93.]

.18 The successor auditor’s review of the predecessor auditor’s working
papers may affect the nature, timing, and extent of the successor auditor’s
procedures with respect to the opening balances and consistency of accounting
principles. However, the nature, timing, and extent of audit work performed
and the conclusions reached in both these areas are solely the responsibility of
the successor auditor. In reporting on the audit, the successor auditor should
not make reference to the report or work of the predecessor auditor as the
basis, in part, for the successor auditor’s own opinion.

Audits of Financial Statements That Have Been
Previously Audited

.14 If an auditor is asked to audit and report on financial statements that
have been previously audited and reported on (henceforth referred to as a reaudit),
the auditor considering acceptance of the reaudit engagement is also a successor
auditor, and the auditor who previously reported is also a predecessor auditor. In
addition to the communications described in paragraphs .07 through .10, the
successor auditor should state that the purpose of the inquiries is to obtain
information about whether to accept an engagement to perform a reaudit.

.15 If the successor auditor accepts the reaudit engagement, he or she
may consider the information obtained from inquiries of the predecessor
auditor and review of the predecessor auditor’s report and working papers in
planning the reaudit. However, the information obtained from those inquiries
and any review of the predecessor auditor’s report and working papers is not
sufficient to afford a basis for expressing an opinion. The nature, timing, and
extent of the audit work performed and the conclusions reached in the reaudit
are solely the responsibility of the successor auditor performing the reaudit.

.16 The successor auditor should plan and perform the reaudit in accord-
ance with generally accepted auditing standards. The successor auditor should
not assume responsibility for the predecessor auditor’s work or issue a report
that reflects divided responsibility as described in section 543, Part of Audit
Performed by Other Independent Auditors. Furthermore, the predecessor audi-
tor is not a specialist as defined in section 336, Using the Work of a Specialist,
or an internal auditor as defined in section 322, The Auditor’s Consideration of
the Internal Audit Function in an Audit of Financial Statements.

.17 If the successor auditor has audited the current period, the results of
that audit may be considered in planning and performing the reaudit of the
preceding period or periods and may provide evidential matter that is useful
in performing the reaudit.

.18 If, in a reaudit engagement, the successor auditor is unable to obtain
sufficient competent evidential matter to express an opinion on the financial
statements, the successor auditor should qualify or disclaim an opinion be-
cause of the inability to perform procedures the successor auditor considers
necessary in the circumstances.
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.19 The successor auditor should request working papers for the period or
periods under reaudit and the period prior to the reaudit period. However, the
extent, if any, to which the predecessor auditor permits access to the working
papers is a matter of judgment. (See paragraph .11 of this section.)

.20 In areaudit, the successor auditor generally will be unable to observe
inventory or make physical counts at the reaudit date or dates in the manner
discussed in paragraphs .09 through .11 of section 331, Inventories. In such
cases, the successor auditor may consider the knowledge obtained from his or
her review of the predecessor auditor’s working papers and inquiries of the
predecessor auditor to determine the nature, timing, and extent of procedures
to be applied in the circumstances. The successor auditor performing the
reaudit should, if material, observe or perform some physical counts of inven-
tory at a date subsequent to the period of the reaudit, in connection with a
current audit or otherwise, and apply appropriate tests of intervening transac-
tions. Appropriate procedures may include tests of prior transactions, reviews
of records of prior counts, and the application of analytical procedures, such as
gross profit tests.

Discovery of Possible Misstatements in Financial
Statements Reported on by a Predecessor Auditor

.21 If during the audit or reaudit, the successor auditor becomes aware of
information that leads him or her to believe that financial statements reported
on by the predecessor auditor may require revision, the successor auditor
should request that the client inform the predecessor auditor of the situation
and arrange for the three parties to discuss this information and attempt to
resolve the matter. The successor auditor should communicate to the predeces-
sor auditor any information that the predecessor auditor may need to consider
in accordance with section 561, Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the
Date of the Auditor’s Report, which sets out the procedures that an auditor
should follow when the auditor subsequently discovers facts that may have
affected the audited financial statements previously reported on.’

.22 If the client refuses to inform the predecessor auditor or if the succes-
sor auditor is not satisfied with the resolution of the matter, the successor
auditor should evaluate (a) possible implications on the current engagement
and (b) whether to resign from the engagement. Furthermore, the successor
auditor may wish to consult with his or her legal counsel in determining an
appropriate course of further action.

Effective Date

.23 This section will be effective with respect to acceptance of an engage-
ment after March 31, 1998. Earlier application is permitted.

9 See section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements, paragraphs .70 through .74, for
reporting guidance.
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.24

Appendix A

lllustrative Client Consent and Acknowledgment Letter

1. Paragraph .11 of this section states, “The successor auditor should
request that the client authorize the predecessor auditor to allow a review of
the predecessor auditor’s working papers. The predecessor auditor may wish
to request a consent and acknowledgment letter from the client to document
this authorization in an effort to reduce misunderstandings about the scope of
the communications being authorized.” The following letter is presented for
illustrative purposes only and is not required by professional standards.

[Date]

ABC Enterprises
[Address]

You have given your consent to allow [name of successor CPA firm], as successor
independent auditors for ABC Enterprises (ABC), access to our working papers
for our audit of the December 31, 19X1, financial statements of ABC. You also
have given your consent to us to respond fully to [name of successor CPA firm]
inquiries. You understand and agree that the review of our working papers is
undertaken solely for the purpose of obtaining an understanding about ABC
and certain information about our audit to assist [name of successor CPA firm]
in planning the audit of the December 31, 19X2, financial statements of ABC.

Please confirm your agreement with the foregoing by signing and dating a copy
of this letter and returning it to us.

Attached is the form of the letter we will furnish [name of successor CPA firm]
regarding the use of the working papers.

Very truly yours,

[Predecessor Auditor]

By:

Accepted:

ABC Enterprises
By: Date:
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Appendix B

lllustrative Successor Auditor Acknowledgment Letter

1. Paragraph .11, footnote 7, of this section states, “Before permitting
access to the working papers, the predecessor auditor may wish to obtain a
written communication from the successor auditor regarding the use of the
working papers.” The following letter is presented for illustrative purposes only
and is not required by professional standards.

[Date]

[Successor Auditor]
[Address]

We have previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, the December 31, 20X1, financial
statements of ABC Enterprises (ABC). We rendered a report on those financial
statements and have not performed any audit procedures subsequent to the
audit report date. In connection with your audit of ABC’s 20X2 financial
statements, you have requested access to our working papers prepared in
connection with that audit. ABC has authorized our firm to allow you to review
those working papers.

Our audit, and the working papers prepared in connection therewith, of ABC’s
financial statements were not planned or conducted in contemplation of your
review. Therefore, items of possible interest to you may not have been specifi-
cally addressed. Our use of professional judgment and the assessment of audit
risk and materiality for the purpose of our audit mean that matters may have
existed that would have been assessed differently by you. We make no repre-
sentation as to the sufficiency or appropriateness of the information in our
working papers for your purposes.

We understand that the purpose of your review is to obtain information about
ABC and our 19X1 audit results to assist you in planning your 19X2 audit of
ABC. For that purpose only, we will provide you access to our working papers
that relate to that objective.

Upon request, we will provide copies of those working papers that provide
factual information about ABC. You agree to subject any such copies or
information otherwise derived from our working papers to your normal policy
for retention of working papers and protection of confidential client informa-
tion. Furthermore, in the event of a third-party request for access to your
working papers prepared in connection with your audits of ABC, you agree to
obtain our permission before voluntarily allowing any such access to our
working papers or information otherwise derived from our working papers, and
to obtain on our behalf any releases that you obtain from such third party. You
agree to advise us promptly and provide us a copy of any subpoena, summons,
or other court order for access to your working papers that include copies of our
working papers or information otherwise derived therefrom.

Please confirm your agreement with the foregoing by signing and dating a copy
of this letter and returning it to us.
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Very truly yours,
[Predecessor Auditor]

By:

Accepted:
[Successor Auditor]

By: Date:

Even with the client’s consent, access to the predecessor auditor’s working
papers may still be limited. Experience has shown that the predecessor auditor
may be willing to grant broader access if given additional assurance concerning
the use of the working papers. Accordingly, the successor auditor might con-
sider agreeing to the following limitations on the review of the predecessor
auditor’s working papers in order to obtain broader access:

® The successor auditor will not comment, orally or in writing, to anyone
as a result of the review as to whether the predecessor auditor’s
engagement was performed in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards.

® The successor auditor will not provide expert testimony or litigation
support services or otherwise accept an engagement to comment on
issues relating to the quality of the predecessor auditor’s audit.

® The successor auditor will not use the audit procedures or results
thereof documented in the predecessor auditor’s working papers as
evidential matter in rendering an opinion on the 19X2 financial
statements of ABC Enterprises, except as contemplated in Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 84.

The following paragraph illustrates the above:

Because your review of our working papers is undertaken solely for the purpose
described above and may not entail a review of all our working papers, you
agree that (1) the information obtained from the review will not be used by you
for any other purpose, (2) you will not comment, orally or in writing, to anyone
as a result of that review as to whether our audit was performed in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards, (3) you will not provide expert
testimony or litigation support services or otherwise accept an engagement to
comment on issues relating to the quality of our audit, and (4) you will not use
the audit procedures or results thereof documented in our working papers as
evidential matter in rendering your opinion on the 19X2 financial statements
of ABC, except as contemplated in Statement on Auditing Standards No. 84.

[Revised, October 2000, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of Statement on Auditing Standards No. 93.]

[The next page is 277.]
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AU Section 316

Consideration of Fraud in a Financial
Statement Audit

(Supersedes SAS No. 82)
Source: SAS No. 99.

Effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December
15, 2002.

Introduction and Overview

.01 Section 110, Responsibilities and Functions of the Independent Audi-
tor, paragraph .02, states, “The auditor has a responsibility to plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether caused by error or
fraud. [footnote omitted]”! This section establishes standards and provides
guidance to auditors in fulfilling that responsibility, as it relates to fraud, in
an audit of financial statements conducted in accordance with generally ac-
cepted auditing standards (GAAS).2

.02 The following is an overview of the organization and content of this
section:

®  Description and characteristics of fraud. This section describes fraud
and its characteristics. (See paragraphs .05 through .12.)

® The importance of exercising professional skepticism. This section
discusses the need for auditors to exercise professional skepticism
when considering the possibility that a material misstatement due to
fraud could be present. (See paragraph .13.)

®  Discussion among engagement personnel regarding the risks of mate-
rial misstatement due to fraud. This section requires, as part of
planning the audit, that there be a discussion among the audit team
members to consider how and where the entity’s financial statements
might be susceptible to material misstatement due to fraud and to
reinforce the importance of adopting an appropriate mindset of pro-
fessional skepticism. (See paragraphs .14 through .18.)

! The auditor’s consideration of illegal acts and responsibility for detecting misstatements
resulting from illegal acts is defined in section 317, Illegal Acts by Clients. For those illegal acts that
are defined in that section as having a direct and material effect on the determination of financial
statement amounts, the auditor’s responsibility to detect misstatements resulting from such illegal
acts is the same as that for errors (see section 312, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an
Audit, or fraud).

2 Auditors are sometimes requested to perform other services related to fraud detection and
prevention, for example, special investigations to determine the extent of a suspected or detected
fraud. These other services usually include procedures that extend beyond or are different from the
procedures ordinarily performed in an audit of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards (GAAS). AT section 101, A¢test Engagements, and CS section 100,
Consulting Services: Definitions and Standards, provide guidance to accountants relating to the
performance of such services.
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Obtaining the information needed to identify risks of material misstate-
ment due to fraud. This section requires the auditor to gather infor-
mation necessary to identify risks of material misstatement due to
fraud, by

a. Inquiring of management and others within the entity about the
risks of fraud. (See paragraphs .20 through .27.)

b. Considering the results of the analytical procedures performed in
planning the audit. (See paragraphs .28 through .30.)

c¢. Considering fraud risk factors. (See paragraphs .31 through .33, and
the Appendix, “Examples of Fraud Risk Factors” [paragraph .85].)

d. Considering certain other information. (See paragraph .34.)

Identifying risks that may result in a material misstatement due to
fraud. This section requires the auditor to use the information gath-
ered to identify risks that may result in a material misstatement due
to fraud. (See paragraphs .35 through .42.)

Assessing the identified risks after taking into account an evaluation
of the entity’s programs and controls. This section requires the auditor
to evaluate the entity’s programs and controls that address the iden-
tified risks of material misstatement due to fraud, and to assess the risks
taking into account this evaluation. (See paragraphs .43 through .45.)

Responding to the results of the assessment. This section emphasizes
that the auditor’s response to the risks of material misstatement due
to fraud involves the application of professional skepticism when
gathering and evaluating audit evidence. (See paragraph .46 through
.49.) The section requires the auditor to respond to the results of the
risk assessment in three ways:

a. A response that has an overall effect on how the audit is conducted,
that is, a response involving more general considerations apart from
the specific procedures otherwise planned. (See paragraph .50.)

b. Aresponse toidentified risks that involves the nature, timing, and
extent of the auditing procedures to be performed. (See para-
graphs .51 through .56.)

c¢. A response involving the performance of certain procedures to
further address the risk of material misstatement due to fraud
involving management override of controls. (See paragraphs .57
through .67.)

Evaluating audit evidence. This section requires the auditor to assess
the risks of material misstatement due to fraud throughout the audit
and to evaluate at the completion of the audit whether the accumu-
lated results of auditing procedures and other observations affect the
assessment. (See paragraphs .68 through .74.) It also requires the
auditor to consider whether identified misstatements may be indica-
tive of fraud and, if so, directs the auditor to evaluate their implica-
tions. (See paragraphs .75 through .78.)

Communicating about fraud to management, the audit committee, and
others. This section provides guidance regarding the auditor’s com-
munications about fraud to management, the audit committee, and
others. (See paragraphs .79 through .82.)

Documenting the auditor’s consideration of fraud. This section de-
scribes related documentation requirements. (See paragraph .83.)
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.03 The requirements and guidance set forth in this section are intended
to be integrated into an overall audit process, in a logical manner that is
consistent with the requirements and guidance provided in other sections,
including section 311, Planning and Supervision; section 312, Audit Risk and
Materiality in Conducting an Audit; and section 319, Consideration of Internal
Control in a Financial Statement Audit. Even though some requirements and
guidance set forth in this section are presented in a manner that suggests a
sequential audit process, auditing in fact involves a continuous process of
gathering, updating, and analyzing information throughout the audit. Accord-
ingly the sequence of the requirements and guidance in this section may be
implemented differently among audit engagements.

.04 Although this section focuses on the auditor’s consideration of fraud in
an audit of financial statements, it is management’s responsibility to desi§n and
implement programs and controls to prevent, deter, and detect fraud.” That
responsibility is described in section 110.03, which states, “Management is
responsible for adopting sound accounting policies and for establishing and
maintaining internal control that will, among other things, initiate, record,
process, and report transactions (as well as events and conditions) consistent
with management’s assertions embodied in the financial statements.” Manage-
ment, along with those who have responsibility for oversight of the financial
reporting process (such as the audit committee, board of trustees, board of
directors, or the owner in owner-managed entities), should set the proper tone;
create and maintain a culture of honesty and high ethical standards; and
establish appropriate controls to prevent, deter, and detect fraud. When man-
agement and those responsible for the oversight of the financial reporting
process fulfill those responsibilities, the opportunities to commit fraud can be
reduced significantly.

Description and Characteristics of Fraud

.05 Fraud is a broad legal concept and auditors do not make legal deter-
minations of whether fraud has occurred. Rather, the auditor’s interest specifi-
cally relates to acts that result in a material misstatement of the financial
statements. The primary factor that distinguishes fraud from error is whether
the underlying action that results in the misstatement of the financial state-
ments is intentional or unintentional. For purposes of the section, fraud is an
intentional act that results in a material misstatement in financial statements
that are the subject of an audit.*

.06 Two types of misstatements are relevant to the auditor’s considera-
tion of fraud—misstatements arising from fraudulent financial reporting and
misstatements arising from misappropriation of assets.

®  Misstatements arising from fraudulent financial reporting are inten-
tional misstatements or omissions of amounts or disclosures in financial

3 In its October 1987 report, the National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting, also
known as the Treadway Commission, noted, “The responsibility for reliable financial reporting
resides first and foremost at the corporate level. Top management, starting with the chief executive
officer, sets the tone and establishes the financial reporting environment. Therefore, reducing the
risk of fraudulent financial reporting must start with the reporting company.”

4 Intent is often difficult to determine, particularly in matters involving accounting estimates
and the application of accounting principles. For example, unreasonable accounting estimates may be
unintentional or may be the result of an intentional attempt to misstate the financial statements.
Although an audit is not designed to determine intent, the auditor has a responsibility to plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether the misstatement is intentional or not.
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statements designed to deceive financial statement users where the
effect causes the financial statements not to be presented, in all
material respects, in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP).®> Fraudulent financial reporting may be accom-
phshed by the following:

Manipulation, falsification, or alteration of accounting records
or supporting documents from which financial statements are
prepared

— Misrepresentation in or intentional omission from the financial
statements of events, transactions, or other significant information

— Intentional misapplication of accounting principles relating to
amounts, classification, manner of presentation, or disclosure

Fraudulent financial reporting need not be the result of a grand plan
or conspiracy. It may be that management representatives rationalize
the appropriateness of a material misstatement, for example, as an
aggressive rather than indefensible interpretation of complex account-
ing rules, or as a temporary misstatement of financial statements,
including interim statements, expected to be corrected later when
operational results improve.

®  Misstatements arising from misappropriation of assets (sometimes
referred to as theft or defalcation) involve the theft of an entity’s assets
where the effect of the theft causes the financial statements not to be
presented, in all material respects, in conformity with GAAP. Misap-
propriation of assets can be accomplished in various ways, including
embezzling receipts, stealing assets, or causing an entity to pay for
goods or services that have not been received. Misappropriation of
assets may be accompanied by false or misleading records or docu-
ments, possibly created by circumventing controls. The scope of this
section includes only those misappropriations of assets for which
the effect of the misappropriation causes the financial statements
not to be fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity
with GAAP.

.07 Three conditions generally are present when fraud occurs. First,
management or other employees have an incentive or are under pressure,
which provides a reason to commit fraud. Second, circumstances exist—for
example, the absence of controls, ineffective controls, or the ability of manage-
ment to override controls—that provide an opportunity for a fraud to be
perpetrated. Third, those involved are able to rationalize committing a fraudu-
lent act. Some individuals possess an attitude, character, or set of ethical
values that allow them to knowingly and intentionally commit a dishonest act.
However, even otherwise honest individuals can commit fraud in an environ-
ment that imposes sufficient pressure on them. The greater the incentive or
pressure, the more likely an individual will be able to rationalize the accept-
ability of committing fraud.

.08 Management has a unique ability to perpetrate fraud because it
frequently is in a position to directly or indirectly manipulate accounting
records and present fraudulent financial information. Fraudulent financial
reporting often involves management override of controls that otherwise may

5 Reference to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) includes, where applicable, a
comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP as defined in section 623, Special Reports,
paragraph .04.
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appear to be operating effectively.® Management can either direct employees
to perpetrate fraud or solicit their help in carrying it out. In addition, manage-
ment personnel at a component of the entity may be in a position to manipulate
the accounting records of the component in a manner that causes a material
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements of the entity. Manage-
ment override of controls can occur in unpredictable ways.

.09 Typically, management and employees engaged in fraud will take
steps to conceal the fraud from the auditors and others within and outside the
organization. Fraud may be concealed by withholding evidence or misrepre-
senting information in response to inquiries or by falsifying documentation.
For example, management that engages in fraudulent financial reporting
might alter shipping documents. Employees or members of management who
misappropriate cash might try to conceal their thefts by forging signatures or
falsifying electronic approvals on disbursement authorizations. An audit con-
ducted in accordance with GAAS rarely involves the authentication of such
documentation, nor are auditors trained as or expected to be experts in such
authentication. In addition, an auditor may not discover the existence of a
modification of documentation through a side agreement that management or
a third party has not disclosed.

.10 Fraud also may be concealed through collusion among management,
employees, or third parties. Collusion may cause the auditor who has properly
performed the audit to conclude that evidence provided is persuasive when it
is, in fact, false. For example, through collusion, false evidence that controls
have been operating effectively may be presented to the auditor, or consistent
misleading explanations may be given to the auditor by more than one individ-
ual within the entity to explain an unexpected result of an analytical proce-
dure. As another example, the auditor may receive a false confirmation from a
third party that is in collusion with management.

.11 Although fraud usually is concealed and management’s intent is
difficult to determine, the presence of certain conditions may suggest to the
auditor the possibility that fraud may exist. For example, an important con-
tract may be missing, a subsidiary ledger may not be satisfactorily reconciled
to its control account, or the results of an analytical procedure performed
during the audit may not be consistent with expectations. However, these
conditions may be the result of circumstances other than fraud. Documents
may legitimately have been lost or misfiled; the subsidiary ledger may be out
of balance with its control account because of an unintentional accounting
error; and unexpected analytical relationships may be the result of unantici-
pated changes in underlying economic factors. Even reports of alleged fraud
may not always be reliable because an employee or outsider may be mistaken
or may be motivated for unknown reasons to make a false allegation.

.12 Asindicated in paragraph .01, the auditor has a responsibility to plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error.” However, absolute assurance is not attainable and thus even

8 Frauds have been committed by management override of existing controls using such tech-
niques as (a) recording fictitious journal entries, particularly those recorded close to the end of an
accounting period to manipulate operating results, (b) intentionally biasing assumptions and judg-
ments used to estimate account balances, and (c) altering records and terms related to significant and
unusual transactions.

7 For a further discussion of the concept of reasonable assurance, see section 230, Due Profes-
stonal Care in the Performance of Work, paragraphs .10 through .13.
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a properly planned and performed audit may not detect a material misstate-
ment resulting from fraud. A material misstatement may not be detected
because of the nature of audit evidence or because the characteristics of fraud
as discussed above may cause the auditor to rely unknowingly on audit
evidence that appears to be valid, but is, in fact, false and fraudulent. Further-
more, audit procedures that are effective for detecting an error may be ineffec-
tive for detecting fraud.

The Importance of Exercising Professional Skepticism

.18 Due professional care requires the auditor to exercise professional
skepticism. See section 230, Due Professional Care in the Performance of Work,
paragraphs .07 through .09. Because of the characteristics of fraud, the audi-
tor’s exercise of professional skepticism is important when considering the risk
of material misstatement due to fraud. Professional skepticism is an attitude
that includes a questioning mind and a critical assessment of audit evidence.
The auditor should conduct the engagement with a mindset that recognizes the
possibility that a material misstatement due to fraud could be present, regard-
less of any past experience with the entity and regardless of the auditor’s belief
about management’s honesty and integrity. Furthermore, professional skepti-
cism requires an ongoing questioning of whether the information and evidence
obtained suggests that a material misstatement due to fraud has occurred. In
exercising professional skepticism in gathering and evaluating evidence, the
auditor should not be satisfied with less-than-persuasive evidence because of
a belief that management is honest.

Discussion Among Engagement Personnel Regarding
the Risks of Material Misstatement Due to Fraud

.14 Prior to or in conjunction with the information-gathering procedures
described in paragraphs .19 through .34 of this section, members of the audit
team should discuss the potential for material misstatement due to fraud. The
discussion should include:

® An exchange of ideas or “brainstorming” among the audit team mem-
bers, including the auditor with final responsibility for the audit, about
how and where they believe the entity’s financial statements might be
susceptible to material misstatement due to fraud, how management
could perpetrate and conceal fraudulent financial reporting, and how
assets of the entity could be misappropriated. (See paragraph .15.)

® An emphasis on the importance of maintaining the proper state of
mind throughout the audit regarding the potential for material mis-
statement due to fraud. (See paragraph .16.)

.15 The discussion among the audit team members about the susceptibil-
ity of the entity’s financial statements to material misstatement due to fraud
should include a consideration of the known external and internal factors
affecting the entity that might (a) create incentives/pressures for management
and others to commit fraud, (b) provide the opportunity for fraud to be perpe-
trated, and (c) indicate a culture or environment that enables management to
rationalize committing fraud. The discussion should occur with an attitude
that includes a questioning mind as described in paragraph .16 and, for this
purpose, setting aside any prior beliefs the audit team members may have that
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management is honest and has integrity. In this regard, the discussion should
include a consideration of the risk of management override of controls.® Finally,
the discussion should include how the auditor might respond to the suscepti-
bility of the entity’s financial statements to material misstatement due to
fraud.

.16 The discussion among the audit team members should emphasize the
need to maintain a questioning mind and to exercise professional skepticism
in gathering and evaluating evidence throughout the audit, as described in
paragraph .13. This should lead the audit team members to continually be alert
for information or other conditions (such as those presented in paragraph .68)
that indicate a material misstatement due to fraud may have occurred. It
should also lead audit team members to thoroughly probe the issues, acquire
additional evidence as necessary, and consult with other team members and,
if appropriate, experts in the firm, rather than rationalize or dismiss informa-
tion or other conditions that indicate a material misstatement due to fraud
may have occurred.

.17 Although professional judgment should be used in determining which
audit team members should be included in the discussion, the discussion
ordinarily should involve the key members of the audit team. A number of
factors will influence the extent of the discussion and how it should occur. For
example, if the audit involves more than one location, there could be multiple
discussions with team members in differing locations. Another factor to con-
sider in planning the discussions is whether to include specialists assigned to
the audit team. For example, if the auditor has determined that a professional
possessing information technology skills is needed on the audit team (see
section 319.32), it may be useful to include that individual in the discussion.

.18 Communication among the audit team members about the risks of
material misstatement due to fraud also should continue throughout the
audit—for example, in evaluating the risks of material misstatement due to
fraud at or near the completion of the field work. (See paragraph .74 and
footnote 28).

Obtaining the Information Needed to Identify the
Risks of Material Misstatement Due to Fraud

.19 Section 311.06—.08 provides guidance about how the auditor obtains
knowledge about the entity’s business and the industry in which it operates.
In performing that work, information may come to the auditor’s attention that
should be considered in identifying risks of material misstatement due to
fraud. As part of this work, the auditor should perform the following proce-
dures to obtain information that is used (as described in paragraphs .35
through .42) to identify the risks of material misstatement due to fraud:

a. Makeinquiries of management and others within the entity to obtain
their views about the risks of fraud and how they are addressed. (See
paragraphs .20 through .27.)

b. Consider any unusual or unexpected relationships that have been
identified in performing analytical procedures in planning the audit.
(See paragraphs .28 through .30.)

8 See footnote 6.
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c. Consider whether one or more fraud risk factors exist. (See para-
graphs .31 through .33, and the Appendix [paragraph .85].)

d. Consider other information that may be helpful in the identification
of risks of material misstatement due to fraud. (See paragraph .34.)

Making Inquiries of Management and Others Within the Entity
About the Risks of Fraud

.20 The auditor should inquire of management about:®

® Whether management has knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud
affecting the entity

® Whether management is aware of allegations of fraud or suspected
fraud affecting the entity, for example, received in communications
from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short sellers,
or others

® Management’s understanding about the risks of fraud in the entity,
including any specific fraud risks the entity has identified or account
balances or classes of transactions for which a risk of fraud may be
likely to exist

® Programs and controls'® the entity has established to mitigate specific
fraud risks the entity has identified, or that otherwise help to prevent,
deter, and detect fraud, and how management monitors those pro-
grams and controls. For examples of programs and controls an entity
may implement to prevent, deter, and detect fraud, see the exhibit
titled “Management Antifraud Programs and Controls” [paragraph
.88] at the end of this section.

® For an entity with multiple locations, (¢) the nature and extent of
monitoring of operating locations or business segments, and (b)
whether there are particular operating locations or business segments
for which a risk of fraud may be more likely to exist

® Whether and how management communicates to employees its views
on business practices and ethical behavior

.21 The inquiries of management also should include whether manage-
ment has reported to the audit committee or others with equivalent authority
and responsibility!! (hereafter referred to as the audit committee) on how the
entity’s internal control? serves to prevent, deter, or detect material misstate-
ments due to fraud.

.22 The auditor also should inquire directly of the audit committee (or at
least its chair) regarding the audit committee’s views about the risks of fraud

9 In addition to these inquiries, section 333, Management Representations, requires the auditor
to obtain selected written representations from management regarding fraud.

10 Section 319, Consideration of Internal Control in a Financial Statement Audit, paragraphs .06
and .07, defines internal control and its five interrelated components (the control environment, risk
assessment, control activities, information and communication, and monitoring). Entity programs
and controls intended to address the risks of fraud may be part of any of the five components
discussed in section 319.

1 Examples of “others with equivalent authority and responsibility” may include the board of
directors, the board of trustees, or the owner in an owner-managed entity, as appropriate.

12 See footnote 10.
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and whether the audit committee has knowledge of any fraud or suspected
fraud affecting the entity. An entity’s audit committee sometimes assumes an
active role in oversight of the entity’s assessment of the risks of fraud and the
programs and controls the entity has established to mitigate these risks. The
auditor should obtain an understanding of how the audit committee exercises
oversight activities in that area.

.23 For entities that have an internal audit function, the auditor also
should inquire of appropriate internal audit personnel about their views about
the risks of fraud, whether they have performed any procedures to identify or
detect fraud during the year, whether management has satisfactorily re-
sponded to any findings resulting from these procedures, and whether the
internal auditors have knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud.

.24 In addition to the inquiries outlined in paragraphs .20 through .23,
the auditor should inquire of others within the entity about the existence or
suspicion of fraud. The auditor should use professional judgment to determine
those others within the entity to whom inquiries should be directed and the
extent of such inquiries. In making this determination, the auditor should
consider whether others within the entity may be able to provide information
that will be helpful to the auditor in identifying risks of material misstatement
due to fraud—for example, others who may have additional knowledge about
or be able to corroborate risks of fraud identified in the discussions with
management (see paragraph .20) or the audit committee (see paragraph .22).

.25 Examples of others within the entity to whom the auditor may wish
to direct these inquiries include:

® Employees with varying levels of authority within the entity, includ-
ing, for example, entity personnel with whom the auditor comes into
contact during the course of the audit in obtaining (a) an under-
standing of the entity’s systems and internal control, (6) in observing
inventory or performing cutoff procedures, or (¢) in obtaining explana-
tions for fluctuations noted as a result of analytical procedures

® (Operating personnel not directly involved in the financial reporting
process

® Employees involved in initiating, recording, or processing complex or
unusual transactions—for example, a sales transaction with multiple
elements, or a significant related party transaction

® In-house legal counsel

.26 The auditor’s inquiries of management and others within the entity
are important because fraud often is uncovered through information received
in response to inquiries. One reason for this is that such inquiries may provide
individuals with an opportunity to convey information to the auditor that
otherwise might not be communicated. Making inquiries of others within the
entity, in addition to management, may be useful in providing the auditor with
a perspective that is different from that of individuals involved in the financial
reporting process. The responses to these other inquiries might serve to
corroborate responses received from management, or alternatively, might provide
information regarding the possibility of management override of controls—for
example, a response from an employee indicating an unusual change in the
way transactions have been processed. In addition, the auditor may obtain
information from these inquiries regarding how effectively management has
communicated standards of ethical behavior to individuals throughout the
organization.
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.27 The auditor should be aware when evaluating management’s re-
sponses to the inquiries discussed in paragraph .20 that management is often
in the best position to perpetrate fraud. The auditor should use professional
judgment in deciding when it is necessary to corroborate responses to inquiries
with other information. However, when responses are inconsistent among
inquiries, the auditor should obtain additional audit evidence to resolve the
inconsistencies.

Considering the Results of the Analytical Procedures Performed
in Planning the Audit

.28 Section 329, Analytical Procedures, paragraphs .04 and .06, requires
that analytical procedures be performed in planning the audit with an objec-
tive of identifying the existence of unusual transactions or events, and
amounts, ratios, and trends that might indicate matters that have financial
statement and audit planning implications. In performing analytical proce-
dures in planning the audit, the auditor develops expectations about plausible
relationships that are reasonably expected to exist, based on the auditor’s
understanding of the entity and its environment. When comparison of those
expectations with recorded amounts or ratios developed from recorded
amounts yields unusual or unexpected relationships, the auditor should consider
those results in identifying the risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

.29 In planning the audit, the auditor also should perform analytical
procedures relating to revenue with the objective of identifying unusual or
unexpected relationships involving revenue accounts that may indicate a
material misstatement due to fraudulent financial reporting. An example of
such an analytical procedure that addresses this objective is a comparison of
sales volume, as determined from recorded revenue amounts, with production
capacity. An excess of sales volume over production capacity may be indicative
of recording fictitious sales. As another example, a trend analysis of revenues
by month and sales returns by month during and shortly after the reporting
period may indicate the existence of undisclosed side agreements with custom-
ers to return goods that would preclude revenue recognition.'?

.30 Analytical procedures performed during planning may be helpful in
identifying the risks of material misstatement due to fraud. However, because
such analytical procedures generally use data aggregated at a high level, the
results of those analytical procedures provide only a broad initial indication
about whether a material misstatement of the financial statements may exist.
Accordingly, the results of analytical procedures performed during planning
should be considered along with other information gathered by the auditor in
identifying the risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

Considering Fraud Risk Factors

.31 Because fraud is usually concealed, material misstatements due to
fraud are difficult to detect. Nevertheless, the auditor may identify events or
conditions that indicate incentives/pressures to perpetrate fraud, opportuni-
ties to carry out the fraud, or attitudes/rationalizations to justify a fraudulent
action. Such events or conditions are referred to as “fraud risk factors.” Fraud
risk factors do not necessarily indicate the existence of fraud; however, they
often are present in circumstances where fraud exists.

13" See paragraph .70 for a discussion of the need to update these analytical procedures during the
overall review stage of the audit.
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.32 When obtaining information about the entity and its environment,
the auditor should consider whether the information indicates that one or more
fraud risk factors are present. The auditor should use professional judgment
in determining whether a risk factor is present and should be considered in
identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

.33 Examples of fraud risk factors related to fraudulent financial report-
ing and misappropriation of assets are presented in the Appendix [paragraph
.85]. These illustrative risk factors are classified based on the three conditions
generally present when fraud exists: incentive / pressure to perpetrate fraud, an
opportunity to carry out the fraud, and attitude/rationalization to justify the
fraudulent action. Although the risk factors cover a broad range of situations,
they are only examples and, accordingly, the auditor may wish to consider
additional or different risk factors. Not all of these examples are relevant in all
circumstances, and some may be of greater or lesser significance in entities of
different size or with different ownership characteristics or circumstances.
Also, the order of the examples of risk factors provided is not intended to reflect
their relative importance or frequency of occurrence.

Considering Other Information That May Be Helpful in
Identifying Risks of Material Misstatement Due to Fraud

.34 The auditor should consider other information that may be helpful in
identifying risks of material misstatement due to fraud. Specifically, the
discussion among the engagement team members (see paragraphs .14 through
.18) may provide information helpful in identifying such risks. In addition, the
auditor should consider whether information from the results of (a) procedures
relating to the acceptance and continuance of clients and engagements'* and
(b) reviews of interim financial statements may be relevant in the identifica-
tion of such risks. Finally, as part of the consideration of audit risk at the
individual account balance or class of transaction level (see section 312.24
through .33), the auditor should consider whether identified inherent risks
would provide useful information in identifying the risks of material misstate-
ment due to fraud (see paragraph .39).

Identifying Risks That May Result in a Material
Misstatement Due to Fraud

Using the Information Gathered to Identify Risk of Material
Misstatements Due to Fraud

.35 In identifying risks of material misstatement due to fraud, it is
helpful for the auditor to consider the information that has been gathered (see
paragraphs .19 through .34) in the context of the three conditions present when
a material misstatement due to fraud occurs—that is, incentives/pressures,
opportunities, and attitudes/rationalizations (see paragraph .07). However,
the auditor should not assume that all three conditions must be observed or
evident before concluding that there are identified risks. Although the risk of
material misstatement due to fraud may be greatest when all three fraud
conditions are observed or evident, the auditor cannot assume that the inability

14 See Statement on Quality Control Standards (SQCS) No. 2, System of Quality Control for a
CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice [QC section 20.14-.16], as amended.
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to observe one or two of these conditions means there is no risk of material
misstatement due to fraud. In fact, observing that individuals have the requi-
site attitude to commit fraud, or identifying factors that indicate a likelihood
that management or other employees will rationalize committing a fraud, is
difficult at best.

.36 In addition, the extent to which each of the three conditions referred
to above are present when fraud occurs may vary. In some instances the
significance of incentives/pressures may result in a risk of material misstate-
ment due to fraud, apart from the significance of the other two conditions. For
example, an incentive/pressure to achieve an earnings level to preclude a loan
default, or to “trigger” incentive compensation plan awards, may alone result
in a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. In other instances, an easy
opportunity to commit the fraud because of a lack of controls may be the
dominant condition precipitating the risk of fraud, or an individual’s attitude
or ability to rationalize unethical actions may be sufficient to motivate that
individual to engage in fraud, even in the absence of significant incentives/
pressures or opportunities.

.37 The auditor’s identification of fraud risks also may be influenced by
characteristics such as the size, complexity, and ownership attributes of the
entity. For example, in the case of a larger entity, the auditor ordinarily
considers factors that generally constrain improper conduct by management,
such as the effectiveness of the audit committee and the internal audit func-
tion, and the existence and enforcement of a formal code of conduct. In the case
of a smaller entity, some or all of these considerations may be inapplicable or
less important, and management may have developed a culture that empha-
sizes the importance of integrity and ethical behavior through oral communi-
cation and management by example. Also, the risks of material misstatement
due to fraud may vary among operating locations or business segments of an
entity, requiring an identification of the risks related to specific geographic
areas or business segments, as well as for the entity as a whole.

.38 The auditor should evaluate whether identified risks of material
misstatement due to fraud can be related to specific financial-statement ac-
count balances or classes of transactions and related assertions, or whether
they relate more pervasively to the financial statements as a whole. Relating
the risks of material misstatement due to fraud to the individual accounts,
classes of transactions, and assertions will assist the auditor in subsequently
designing appropriate auditing procedures.

.39 Certain accounts, classes of transactions, and assertions that have
high inherent risk because they involve a high degree of management judg-
ment and subjectivity also may present risks of material misstatement due to
fraud because they are susceptible to manipulation by management. For
example, liabilities resulting from a restructuring may be deemed to have high
inherent risk because of the high degree of subjectivity and management
judgment involved in their estimation. Similarly, revenues for software devel-
opers may be deemed to have high inherent risk because of the complex
accounting principles applicable to the recognition and measurement of soft-
ware revenue transactions. Assets resulting from investing activities may be
deemed to have high inherent risk because of the subjectivity and management
judgment involved in estimating fair values of those investments.

15 Section 312.18 provides guidance on the auditor’s consideration of the extent to which auditing
procedures should be performed at selected locations or components.
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.40 In summary, the identification of a risk of material misstatement due
to fraud involves the application of professional judgment and includes the
consideration of the attributes of the risk, including:

® The type of risk that may exist, that is, whether it involves fraudulent
financial reporting or misappropriation of assets

® The significance of the risk, that is, whether it is of a magnitude that
could lead to result in a possible material misstatement of the financial
statements

® The likelihood of the risk, that is, the likelihood that it will result in a
material misstatement in the financial statements'®

® The pervasiveness of the risk, that is, whether the potential risk is
pervasive to the financial statements as a whole or specifically related
to a particular assertion, account, or class of transactions.

A Presumption That Improper Revenue Recognition Is a Fraud Risk

.41 Material misstatements due to fraudulent financial reporting often
result from an overstatement of revenues (for example, through premature
revenue recognition or recording fictitious revenues) or an understatement of
revenues (for example, through improperly shifting revenues to a later period).
Therefore, the auditor should ordinarily presume that there is a risk of mate-
rial misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue recognition. (See paragraph
.54 for examples of auditing procedures related to the risk of improper revenue
recognition.)!’

A Consideration of the Risk of Management Override of Controls

.42 Even if specific risks of material misstatement due to fraud are not
identified by the auditor, there is a possibility that management override of
controls could occur, and accordingly, the auditor should address that risk (see
paragraph .57) apart from any conclusions regarding the existence of more
specifically identifiable risks.

Assessing the Identified Risks After Taking Into
Account an Evaluation of the Entitl’s Programs
and Controls That Address the Risks

43 Section 319 requires the auditor to obtain an understanding of each
of the five components of internal control sufficient to plan the audit. It also
notes that such knowledge should be used to identify types of potential mis-
statements, consider factors that affect the risk of material misstatement,
design tests of controls when applicable, and design substantive tests. Addi-
tionally, section 319 notes that controls, whether manual or automated, can be
circumvented by collusion of two or more people or inappropriate management
override of internal control.

16 The occurrence of material misstatements of financial statements due to fraud is relatively
infrequent in relation to the total population of published financial statements. However, the auditor
should not use this as a basis to conclude that one or more risks of a material misstatement due to
fraud are not present in a particular entity.

17 For a discussion of indicators of improper revenue recognition and common techniques for
overstating revenue and illustrative audit procedures, see the AICPA Audit Guide Auditing Revenue
in Certain Industries.
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.44 As part of the understanding of internal control sufficient to plan the
audit, the auditor should evaluate whether entity programs and controls that
address identified risks of material misstatement due to fraud have been
suitably designed and placed in operation.'® These programs and controls may
involve (a) specific controls designed to mitigate specific risks of fraud—for
example, controls to address specific assets susceptible to misappropriation,
and (b) broader programs designed to prevent, deter, and detect fraud—for
example, programs to promote a culture of honesty and ethical behavior. The
auditor should consider whether such programs and controls mitigate the
identified risks of material misstatement due to fraud or whether specific
control deficiencies may exacerbate the risks (see paragraph .80). The exhibit
at the end of this section [paragraph .88] discusses examples of programs and
controls an entity might implement to create a culture of honesty and ethical
behavior, and that help to prevent, deter, and detect fraud.

.45 After the auditor has evaluated whether the entity’s programs and
controls that address identified risks of material misstatement due to fraud
have been suitably designed and placed in operation, the auditor should assess
these risks taking into account that evaluation. This assessment should be
considered when developing the auditor’s response to the identified risks of
material misstatement due to fraud (see paragraphs .46 through .67).*

Responding to the Results of the Assessment

.46 The auditor’s response to the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement due to fraud involves the application of professional skepticism
in gathering and evaluating audit evidence. As noted in paragraph .13, profes-
sional skepticism is an attitude that includes a critical assessment of the
competency and sufficiency of audit evidence. Examples of the application of
professional skepticism in response to the risks of material misstatement due
to fraud are (a) designing additional or different auditing procedures to obtain
more reliable evidence in support of specified financial statement account
balances, classes of transactions, and related assertions, and (b) obtaining
additional corroboration of management’s explanations or representations
concerning material matters, such as through third-party confirmation, the
use of a specialist, analytical procedures, examination of documentation from
independent sources, or inquiries of others within or outside the entity.

.47 The auditor’s response to the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud is influenced by the
nature and significance of the risks identified as being present (paragraphs .35
through .42) and the entity’s programs and controls that address these identi-
fied risks (paragraphs .43 through .45).

.48 The auditor responds to risks of material misstatement due to fraud
in the following three ways:

a. Aresponse that has an overall effect on how the audit is conducted—
that is, a response involving more general considerations apart from
the specific procedures otherwise planned (see paragraph .50).

18 See footnote 10.

19 Notwithstanding that the auditor assesses identified risks of material misstatement due to
fraud, the assessment need not encompass an overall judgment about whether risk for the entity is
classified as high, medium, or low because such a judgment is too broad to be useful in developing the
auditor’s response described in paragraphs .46 through .67.
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b. A response to identified risks involving the nature, timing, and
extent of the auditing procedures to be performed (see paragraphs
.51 through .56).

c. A response involving the performance of certain procedures to fur-
ther address the risk of material misstatement due to fraud involving
management override of controls, given the unpredictable ways in
which such override could occur (see paragraphs .57 through .67).

49 The auditor may conclude that it would not be practicable to design
auditing procedures that sufficiently address the risks of material misstate-
ment due to fraud. In that case, withdrawal from the engagement with com-
munication to the appropriate parties may be an appropriate course of action
(see paragraph .78).

Overall Responses to the Risk of Material Misstatement

.50 Judgments about the risk of material misstatement due to fraud have
an overall effect on how the audit is conducted in the following ways:

®  Assignment of personnel and supervision. The knowledge, skill, and
ability of personnel assigned significant engagement responsibilities
should be commensurate with the auditor’s assessment of the risks of
material misstatement due to fraud for the engagement (see section
210, Training and Proficiency of the Independent Auditor, paragraph
.03). For example, the auditor may respond to an identified risk of
material misstatement due to fraud by assigning additional persons
with specialized skill and knowledge, such as forensic and information
technology (IT) specialists, or by assigning more experienced person-
nel to the engagement. In addition, the extent of supervision should
reflect the risks of material misstatement due to fraud (see section
311.11).

®  Accounting principles. The auditor should consider management’s
selection and application of significant accounting principles, particu-
larly those related to subjective measurements and complex transac-
tions. In this respect, the auditor may have a greater concern about
whether the accounting principles selected and policies adopted are
being applied in an inappropriate manner to create a material mis-
statement of the financial statements. In developing judgments about
the quality of such principles (see section 380, Communication With
Audit Committees, paragraph .11), the auditor should consider
whether their collective application indicates a bias that may create
such a material misstatement of the financial statements.

®  Predictability of auditing procedures. The auditor should incorporate
an element of unpredictability in the selection from year to year of
auditing procedures to be performed—for example, performing sub-
stantive tests of selected account balances and assertions not other-
wise tested due to their materiality or risk, adjusting the timing of
testing from that otherwise expected, using differing sampling meth-
ods, and performing procedures at different locations or at locations
on an unannounced basis.

Responses Involving the Nature, Timing, and Extent of
Procedures to Be Performed to Address the Identified Risks

.51 The auditing procedures performed in response to identified risks of
material misstatement due to fraud will vary depending upon the types of risks
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identified and the account balances, classes of transactions, and related asser-
tions that may be affected. These procedures may involve both substantive
tests and tests of the operating effectiveness of the entity’s programs and
controls. However, because management may have the ability to override
controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively (see paragraph .08),
it is unlikely that audit risk can be reduced to an appropriately low level by
performing only tests of controls.

.52 The auditor’s responses to address specifically identified risks of
material misstatement due to fraud may include changing the nature, timing,
and extent of auditing procedures in the following ways:

® The nature of auditing procedures performed may need to be changed
to obtain evidence that is more reliable or to obtain additional corrobo-
rative information. For example, more evidential matter may be
needed from independent sources outside the entity, such as public-
record information about the existence and nature of key customers,
vendors, or counterparties in a major transaction. Also, physical
observation or inspection of certain assets may become more impor-
tant (see section 326, Evidential Matter, paragraphs .15 through .21).
Furthermore, the auditor may choose to employ computer-assisted
audit techniques to gather more extensive evidence about data con-
tained in significant accounts or electronic transaction files. Finally,
inquiry of additional members of management or others may be
helpful in identifying issues and corroborating other evidential matter
(see paragraphs .24 through .26 and paragraph .53).

® The timing of substantive tests may need to be modified. The auditor
might conclude that substantive testing should be performed at or
near the end of the reporting period to best address an identified risk
of material misstatement due to fraud (see section 313, Substantive
Tests Prior to the Balance-Sheet Date). That is, the auditor might
conclude that, given the risks of intentional misstatement or manipu-
lation, tests to extend audit conclusions from an interim date to the
period-end reporting date would not be effective.

In contrast, because an intentional misstatement—for example, a
misstatement involving inappropriate revenue recognition—may
have been initiated in an interim period, the auditor might elect to
apply substantive tests to transactions occurring earlier in or through-
out the reporting period.

® The extent of the procedures applied should reflect the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement due to fraud. For example, increas-
ing sample sizes or performing analytical procedures at a more de-
tailed level may be appropriate (see section 350, Audit Sampling,
paragraph .23, and section 329). Also, computer-assisted audit tech-
niques may enable more extensive testing of electronic transactions
and account files. Such techniques can be used to select sample
transactions from key electronic files, to sort transactions with specific
characteristics, or to test an entire population instead of a sample.

.53 The following are examples of modification of the nature, timing, and

extent of tests in response to identified risks of material misstatements due to
fraud.

® Performing procedures at locations on a surprise or unannounced
basis, for example, observing inventory on unexpected dates or at
unexpected locations or counting cash on a surprise basis.
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® Requesting that inventories be counted at the end of the reporting
period or on a date closer to period end to minimize the risk of
manipulation of balances in the period between the date of completion
of the count and the end of the reporting period.

® Making oral inquiries of major customers and suppliers in addition to
sending written confirmations, or sending confirmation requests to a
specific party within an organization.

® Performing substantive analytical procedures using disaggregated
data, for example, comparing gross profit or operating margins by
location, line of business, or month to auditor-developed expectations.?

® Interviewing personnel involved in activities in areas where a risk of
material misstatement due to fraud has been identified to obtain their
insights about the risk and how controls address the risk (also see
paragraph .24).

® [fother independent auditors are auditing the financial statements of
one or more subsidiaries, divisions, or branches, discussing with them
the extent of work that needs to be performed to address the risk of
material misstatement due to fraud resulting from transactions and
activities among these components.

Additional Examples of Responses to Identified Risks of Misstatements
Arising From Fraudulent Financial Reporting

.54 The following are additional examples of responses to identified risks
of material misstatements relating to fraudulent financial reporting:

®  Revenue recognition. Because revenue recognition is dependent on
the particular facts and circumstances, as well as accounting princi-
ples and practices that can vary by industry, the auditor ordinarily
will develop auditing procedures based on the auditor’s understanding
of the entity and its environment, including the composition of reve-
nues, specific attributes of the revenue transactions, and unique
industry considerations. If there is an identified risk of material
misstatement due to fraud that involves improper revenue recogni-
tion, the auditor also may want to consider:

— Performing substantive analytical procedures relating to revenue
using disaggregated data, for example, comparing revenue re-
ported by month and by product line or business segment during the
current reporting period with comparable prior periods. Computer-
assisted audit techniques may be useful in identifying unusual or
unexpected revenue relationships or transactions.

— Confirming with customers certain relevant contract terms and
the absence of side agreements, because the appropriate account-
ing often is influenced by such terms or agreements.?! For exam-
ple, acceptance criteria, delivery and payment terms, the absence
of future or continuing vendor obligations, the right to return the
product, guaranteed resale amounts, and cancellation or refund
provisions often are relevant in such circumstances.

20 Section 329, Analytical Procedures, provides guidance on performing analytical procedures as
substantive tests.

21 Section 330, The Confirmation Process, provides guidance about the confirmation process in
audits performed in accordance with GAAS.
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— Inquiring of the entity’s sales and marketing personnel or in-
house legal counsel regarding sales or shipments near the end of
the period and their knowledge of any unusual terms or conditions
associated with these transactions.

— Being physically present at one or more locations at period end to
observe goods being shipped or being readied for shipment (or
returns awaiting processing) and performing other appropriate
sales and inventory cutoff procedures.

— For those situations for which revenue transactions are electroni-
cally initiated, processed, and recorded, testing controls to deter-
mine whether they provide assurance that recorded revenue
transactions occurred and are properly recorded.

Inventory quantities. If there is an identified risk of material mis-
statement due to fraud that affects inventory quantities, examining
the entity’s inventory records may help identify locations or items that
require specific attention during or after the physical inventory count.
Such a review may lead to a decision to observe inventory counts at
certain locations on an unannounced basis (see paragraph .53) or to
conduct inventory counts at all locations on the same date. In addition,
it may be appropriate for inventory counts to be conducted at or near
the end of the reporting period to minimize the risk of inappropriate
manipulation during the period between the count and the end of the
reporting period.

It also may be appropriate for the auditor to perform additional
procedures during the observation of the count, for example, more
rigorously examining the contents of boxed items, the manner in which
the goods are stacked (for example, hollow squares) or labeled, and the
quality (that is, purity, grade, or concentration) of liquid substances
such as perfumes or specialty chemicals. Using the work of a specialist
may be helpful in this regard.?? Furthermore, additional testing of
count sheets, tags, or other records, or the retention of copies of these
records, may be warranted to minimize the risk of subsequent altera-
tion or inappropriate compilation.

Following the physical inventory count, the auditor may want to
employ additional procedures directed at the quantities included in
the priced out inventories to further test the reasonableness of the
quantities counted—for example, comparison of quantities for the
current period with prior periods by class or category of inventory,
location or other criteria, or comparison of quantities counted with
perpetual records. The auditor also may consider using computer-
assisted audit techniques to further test the compilation of the physi-
cal inventory counts—for example, sorting by tag number to test tag
controls or by item serial number to test the possibility of item
omission or duplication.

Management estimates. The auditor may identify a risk of material
misstatement due to fraud involving the development of management
estimates. This risk may affect a number of accounts and assertions,
including asset valuation, estimates relating to specific transactions
(such as acquisitions, restructurings, or disposals of a segment of the

22 Section 336, Using the Work of a Specialist, provides guidance to an auditor who uses the work

of a specialist in performing an audit in accordance with GAAS.
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business), and other significant accrued liabilities (such as pension
and other postretirement benefit obligations, or environmental reme-
diation liabilities). The risk may also relate to significant changes in
assumptions relating to recurring estimates. As indicated in section
342, Auditing Accounting Estimates, estimates are based on subjective
as well as objective factors and there is a potential for bias in the
subjective factors, even when management’s estimation process in-
volves competent personnel using relevant and reliable data.

In addressing an identified risk of material misstatement due to fraud
involving accounting estimates, the auditor may want to supplement
the audit evidence otherwise obtained (see section 342.09 through .14).
In certain circumstances (for example, evaluating the reasonableness
of management’s estimate of the fair value of a derivative), it may be
appropriate to engage a specialist or develop an independent estimate
for comparison to management’s estimate. Information gathered
about the entity and its environment may help the auditor evaluate
the reasonableness of such management estimates and underlying
judgments and assumptions.

A retrospective review of similar management judgments and as-
sumptions applied in prior periods (see paragraphs .63 through .65)
may also provide insight about the reasonableness of judgments and
assumptions supporting management estimates.

Examples of Responses to Identified Risks of Misstatements Arising
From Misappropriations of Assets

.55 The auditor may have identified a risk of material misstatement due
to fraud relating to misappropriation of assets. For example, the auditor may
conclude that the risk of asset misappropriation at a particular operating
location is significant because a large amount of easily accessible cash is
maintained at that location, or there are inventory items such as laptop
computers at that location that can easily be moved and sold.

.56 The auditor’s response to a risk of material misstatement due to fraud
relating to misappropriation of assets usually will be directed toward certain
account balances. Although some of the audit responses noted in paragraphs
.52 through .54 may apply in such circumstances, such as the procedures
directed at inventory quantities, the scope of the work should be linked to the
specific information about the misappropriation risk that has been identified.
For example, if a particular asset is highly susceptible to misappropriation and
a potential misstatement would be material to the financial statements, ob-
taining an understanding of the controls related to the prevention and detec-
tion of such misappropriation and testing the operating effectiveness of such
controls may be warranted. In certain circumstances, physical inspection of
such assets (for example, counting cash or securities) at or near the end of the
reporting period may be appropriate. In addition, the use of substantive
analytical procedures, such as the development by the auditor of an expected
dollar amount at a high level of precision, to be compared with a recorded
amount, may be effective in certain circumstances.

Responses to Further Address the Risk of Management Override
of Controls

.57 As noted in paragraph .08, management is in a unique position to
perpetrate fraud because of its ability to directly or indirectly manipulate
accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding
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established controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. By its
nature, management override of controls can occur in unpredictable ways.
Accordingly, in addition to overall responses (paragraph .50) and responses
that address specifically identified risks of material misstatement due to fraud
(see paragraphs .51 through .56), the procedures described in paragraphs .58
through .67 should be performed to further address the risk of management
override of controls.

.58 Examining journal entries and other adjustments for evidence
of possible material misstatement due to fraud. Material misstatements
of financial statements due to fraud often involve the manipulation of the
financial reporting process by (a) recording inappropriate or unauthorized
journal entries throughout the year or at period end, or (o) making adjustments
to amounts reported in the financial statements that are not reflected in formal
journal entries, such as through consolidating adjustments, report combina-
tions, and reclassifications. Accordingly, the auditor should design procedures
to test the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and
other adjustments (for example, entries posted directly to financial statement
drafts) made in the preparation of the financial statements. More specifically,
the auditor should:

a. Obtain an understanding of the entity’s financial reporting proc-
ess? and the controls over journal entries and other adjustments.
(See paragraphs .59 and .60.)

b. Identify and select journal entries and other adjustments for testing.
(See paragraph .61.)

c¢. Determine the timing of the testing. (See paragraph .62.)

Inquire of individuals involved in the financial reporting process
about inappropriate or unusual activity relating to the processing of
journal entries and other adjustments.

.59 The auditor’s understanding of the entity’s financial reporting process
may help in identifying the type, number, and monetary value of journal
entries and other adjustments that typically are made in preparing the finan-
cial statements. For example, the auditor’s understanding may include the
sources of significant debits and credits to an account, who can initiate entries
to the general ledger or transaction processing systems, what approvals are
required for such entries, and how journal entries are recorded (for example,
entries may be initiated and recorded online with no physical evidence, or may
be created in paper form and entered in batch mode).

.60 An entity may have implemented specific controls over journal entries
and other adjustments. For example, an entity may use journal entries that are
preformatted with account numbers and specific user approval criteria, and
may have automated controls to generate an exception report for any entries
that were unsuccessfully proposed for recording or entries that were recorded
and processed outside of established parameters. The auditor should obtain an
understanding of the design of such controls over journal entries and other
adjustments and determine whether they are suitably designed and have been
placed in operation.

23 Section 319 requires the auditor to obtain an understanding of the automated and manual
procedures an entity uses to prepare financial statements and related disclosures, and how misstate-
ments may occur. This understanding includes (a) the procedures used to enter transaction totals
into the general ledger; (b) the procedures used to initiate, record, and process journal entries in the
general ledger; and (c) other procedures used to record recurring and nonrecurring adjustments to
the financial statements.
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.61 The auditor should use professional judgment in determining the
nature, timing, and extent of the testing of journal entries and other adjust-
ments. For purposes of identifying and selecting specific entries and other
adjustments for testing, and determining the appropriate method of examining
the underlying support for the items selected, the auditor should consider:

®  The auditor’s assessment of the risk of material misstatement due to
fraud. The presence of fraud risk factors or other conditions may help
the auditor to identify specific classes of journal entries for testing and
indicate the extent of testing necessary.

®  The effectiveness of controls that have been implemented over journal
entries and other adjustments. Effective controls over the preparation
and posting of journal entries and adjustments may affect the extent
of substantive testing necessary, provided that the auditor has tested
the operating effectiveness of those controls. However, even though
controls might be implemented and operating effectively, the auditor’s
procedures for testing journal entries and other adjustments should
include the identification and testing of specific items.

®  The entity’s financial reporting process and the nature of the evidence
that can be examined. The auditor’s procedures for testing journal
entries and other adjustments will vary based on the nature of the
financial reporting process. For many entities, routine processing of
transactions involves a combination of manual and automated steps
and procedures. Similarly, the processing of journal entries and other
adjustments might involve both manual and automated procedures
and controls. Regardless of the method, the auditor’s procedures
should include selecting from the general ledger journal entries to be
tested and examining support for those items. In addition, the auditor
should be aware that journal entries and other adjustments might
exist in either electronic or paper form. When information technology
(IT) is used in the financial reporting process, journal entries and
other adjustments might exist only in electronic form. Electronic
evidence often requires extraction of the desired data by an auditor
with IT knowledge and skills or the use of an IT specialist. In an IT
environment, it may be necessary for the auditor to employ computer-
assisted audit techniques (for example, report writers, software or
data extraction tools, or other systems-based techniques) to identify
the journal entries and other adjustments to be tested.

®  The characteristics of fraudulent entries or adjustments. Inappropri-
ate journal entries and other adjustments often have certain unique
identifying characteristics. Such characteristics may include entries
(a) made to unrelated, unusual, or seldom-used accounts, (b) made by
individuals who typically do not make journal entries, (c) recorded at
the end of the period or as post-closing entries that have little or no
explanation or description, (d) made either before or during the prepa-
ration of the financial statements that do not have account numbers,
or (e) containing round numbers or a consistent ending number.

® The nature and complexity of the accounts. Inappropriate journal
entries or adjustments may be applied to accounts that (a) contain
transactions that are complex or unusual in nature, (b) contain signifi-
cant estimates and period-end adjustments, (c) have been prone to
errors in the past, (d) have not been reconciled on a timely basis or
contain unreconciled differences, (e) contain intercompany transactions,
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or (f) are otherwise associated with an identified risk of material
misstatement due to fraud. The auditor should recognize, however,
that inappropriate journal entries and adjustments also might be
made to other accounts. In audits of entities that have several locations
or components, the auditor should consider the need to select journal
entries from locations based on the factors set forth in section 312.18.

® Journal entries or other adjustments processed outside the normal
course of business. Standard journal entries used on a recurring basis
to record transactions such as monthly sales, purchases, and cash
disbursements, or to record recurring periodic accounting estimates
generally are subject to the entity’s internal controls. Nonstandard
entries (for example, entries used to record nonrecurring transactions,
such as a business combination, or entries used to record a nonrecur-
ring estimate, such as an asset impairment) might not be subject to
the same level of internal control. In addition, other adjustments such
as consolidating adjustments, report combinations, and reclassifica-
tions generally are not reflected in formal journal entries and might
not be subject to the entity’s internal controls. Accordingly, the auditor
should consider placing additional emphasis on identifying and testing
items processed outside of the normal course of business.

.62 Because fraudulent journal entries often are made at the end of a
reporting period, the auditor’s testing ordinarily should focus on the journal
entries and other adjustments made at that time. However, because material
misstatements in financial statements due to fraud can occur throughout the
period and may involve extensive efforts to conceal how it is accomplished, the
auditor should consider whether there also is a need to test journal entries
throughout the period under audit.

.63 Reviewing accounting estimates for biases that could result in
material misstatement due to fraud. In preparing financial statements,
management is responsible for making a number of judgments or assumptions
that affect significant accounting estimates?* and for monitoring the reason-
ableness of such estimates on an ongoing basis. Fraudulent financial reporting
often is accomplished through intentional misstatement of accounting esti-
mates. As discussed in section 312.36, the auditor should consider whether
differences between estimates best supported by the audit evidence and the
estimates included in the financial statements, even if they are individually
reasonable, indicate a possible bias on the part of the entity’s management, in
which case the auditor should reconsider the estimates taken as a whole.

.64 The auditor also should perform a retrospective review of significant
accounting estimates reflected in the financial statements of the prior year to
determine whether management judgments and assumptions relating to the
estimates indicate a possible bias on the part of management. The significant
accounting estimates selected for testing should include those that are based
on highly sensitive assumptions or are otherwise significantly affected by
judgments made by management. With the benefit of hindsight, a retrospec-
tive review should provide the auditor with additional information about
whether there may be a possible bias on the part of management in making the
current-year estimates. This review, however, is not intended to call into
question the auditor’s professional judgments made in the prior year that were
based on information available at the time.

24 See section 342, Auditing Accounting Estimates, paragraphs .02 and .16, for a definition of
accounting estimates and a listing of examples.
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.65 If the auditor identifies a possible bias on the part of management in
making accounting estimates, the auditor should evaluate whether circum-
stances producing such a bias represent a risk of a material misstatement due
to fraud. For example, information coming to the auditor’s attention may
indicate a risk that adjustments to the current-year estimates might be re-
corded at the instruction of management to arbitrarily achieve a specified
earnings target.

.66 Evaluating the business rationale for significant unusual
transactions. During the course of the audit, the auditor may become aware
of significant transactions that are outside the normal course of business for
the entity, or that otherwise appear to be unusual given the auditor’s under-
standing of the entity and its environment. The auditor should gain an under-
standing of the business rationale for such transactions and whether that
rationale (or the lack thereof) suggests that the transactions may have been
entered into to engage in fraudulent financial reporting or conceal misappro-
priation of assets.

.67 In understanding the business rationale for the transactions, the
auditor should consider:

®  Whether the form of such transactions is overly complex (for example,
involves multiple entities within a consolidated group or unrelated
third parties).

® Whether management has discussed the nature of and accounting for
such transactions with the audit committee or board of directors.

® Whether management is placing more emphasis on the need for a
particular accounting treatment than on the underlying economics of
the transaction.

® Whether transactions that involve unconsolidated related parties,
including special purpose entities, have been properly reviewed and
approved by the audit committee or board of directors.

® Whether the transactions involve previously unidentified related
parties® or parties that do not have the substance or the financial
strength to support the transaction without assistance from the entity
under audit.

Evaluating Audit Evidence

.68 Assessing risks of material misstatement due to fraud through-
out the audit. The auditor’s assessment of the risks of material misstate-
ment due to fraud should be ongoing throughout the audit. Conditions may be
identified during fieldwork that change or support a judgment regarding the
assessment of the risks, such as the following:

® Discrepancies in the accounting records, including:

— Transactions that are not recorded in a complete or timely manner
or are improperly recorded as to amount, accounting period,
classification, or entity policy

— Unsupported or unauthorized balances or transactions
— Last-minute adjustments that significantly affect financial results

25 Section 334, Related Parties, provides guidance with respect to the identification of related-
party relationships and transactions, including transactions that may be outside the ordinary course
of business (see, in particular, section 334.06).
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— Evidence of employees’ access to systems and records inconsistent
with that necessary to perform their authorized duties

— Tips or complaints to the auditor about alleged fraud

® (Conflicting or missing evidential matter, including:
— Missing documents
— Documents that appear to have been altered?

— Unavailability of other than photocopied or electronically transmit-
ted documents when documents in original form are expected to exist

— Significant unexplained items on reconciliations

— Inconsistent, vague, or implausible responses from management
or employees arising from inquiries or analytical procedures (See
paragraph .72.)

— Unusual discrepancies between the entity’s records and confirma-
tion replies

— Missing inventory or physical assets of significant magnitude

— Unavailable or missing electronic evidence, inconsistent with the
entity’s record retention practices or policies

— Inability to produce evidence of key systems development and
program change testing and implementation activities for current-
year system changes and deployments

® Problematic or unusual relationships between the auditor and man-

agement, including:

— Denial of access to records, facilities, certain employees, customers,
vendors, or others from whom audit evidence might be sought?’

— Undue time pressures imposed by management to resolve com-
plex or contentious issues

— Complaints by management about the conduct of the audit or
management intimidation of audit team members, particularly in
connection with the auditor’s critical assessment of audit evidence
or in the resolution of potential disagreements with management

— Unusual delays by the entity in providing requested information

— Unwillingness to facilitate auditor access to key electronic files for
testing through the use of computer-assisted audit techniques

— Denial of access to key IT operations staff and facilities, including
security, operations, and systems development personnel

— An unwillingness to add or revise disclosures in the financial
statements to make them more complete and transparent

.69 Evaluating whether analytical procedures performed as sub-
stantive tests or in the overall review stage of the audit indicate a
previously unrecognized risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
As discussed in paragraphs .28 through .30, the auditor should consider
whether analytical procedures performed in planning the audit result in
identifying any unusual or unexpected relationships that should be considered

26 As discussed in paragraph .09, auditors are not trained as or expected to be experts in the
authentication of documents; however, if the auditor believes that documents may not be authentic,
he or she should investigate further and consider using the work of a specialist to determine the
authenticity.

27 Denial of access to information may constitute a limitation on the scope of the audit that may
require the auditor to consider qualifying or disclaiming an opinion on the financial statements. (See
section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements, paragraph .24.)
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in assessing the risks of material misstatement due to fraud. The auditor also
should evaluate whether analytical procedures that were performed as sub-
stantive tests or in the overall review stage of the audit (see section 329)
indicate a previously unrecognized risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

.70 If not already performed during the overall review stage of the audit,
the auditor should perform analytical procedures relating to revenue, as
discussed in paragraph .29, through the end of the reporting period.

.71 Determining which particular trends and relationships may indicate
a risk of material misstatement due to fraud requires professional judgment.
Unusual relationships involving year-end revenue and income often are par-
ticularly relevant. These might include, for example, (a) uncharacteristically
large amounts of income being reported in the last week or two of the reporting
period from unusual transactions, as well as (b) income that is inconsistent
with trends in cash flow from operations.

.72 Some unusual or unexpected analytical relationships may have been
identified and may indicate a risk of material misstatement due to fraud
because management or employees generally are unable to manipulate certain
information to create seemingly normal or expected relationships. Some exam-
ples are as follows:

® The relationship of net income to cash flows from operations may
appear unusual because management recorded fictitious revenues and
receivables but was unable to manipulate cash.

® (Changesininventory, accounts payable, sales, or cost of sales from the
prior period to the current period may be inconsistent, indicating a
possible employee theft of inventory, because the employee was unable
to manipulate all of the related accounts.

® A comparison of the entity’s profitability to industry trends, which
management cannot manipulate, may indicate trends or differences
for further consideration when identifying risks of material misstate-
ment due to fraud.

® A comparison of bad debt write-offs to comparable industry data,
which employees cannot manipulate, may provide unexplained rela-
tionships that could indicate a possible theft of cash receipts.

® An unexpected or unexplained relationship between sales volume as
determined from the accounting records and production statistics
maintained by operations personnel—which may be more difficult for
management to manipulate—may indicate a possible misstatement of
sales.

.78 The auditor also should consider whether responses to inquiries
throughout the audit about analytical relationships have been vague or im-
plausible, or have produced evidence that is inconsistent with other evidential
matter accumulated during the audit.

.74 Evaluating the risks of material misstatement due to fraud at
or near the completion of fieldwork. At or near the completion of field-
work, the auditor should evaluate whether the accumulated results of auditing
procedures and other observations (for example, conditions and analytical
relationships noted in paragraphs .69 through .73) affect the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement due to fraud made earlier in the audit. This
evaluation primarily is a qualitative matter based on the auditor’s judgment.
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Such an evaluation may provide further insight about the risks of material
misstatement due to fraud and whether there is a need to perform additional
or different audit procedures. As part of this evaluation, the auditor with final
responsibility for the audit should ascertain that there has been appropriate
communication with the other audit team members throughout the audit
regarding information or conditions indicative of risks of material misstate-
ment due to fraud.?

.75 Responding to misstatements that may be the result of fraud.
When audit test results identify misstatements in the financial statements, the
auditor should consider whether such misstatements may be indicative of
fraud.? That determination affects the auditor’s evaluation of materiality and
the related responses necessary as a result of that evaluation.®

.76 If the auditor believes that misstatements are or may be the result of
fraud, but the effect of the misstatements is not material to the financial
statements, the auditor nevertheless should evaluate the implications, espe-
cially those dealing with the organizational position of the person(s) involved.
For example, fraud involving misappropriations of cash from a small petty cash
fund normally would be of little significance to the auditor in assessing the risk
of material misstatement due to fraud because both the manner of operating
the fund and its size would tend to establish a limit on the amount of potential
loss, and the custodianship of such funds normally is entrusted to a nonman-
agement employee.?! Conversely, if the matter involves higher-level manage-
ment, even though the amount itself is not material to the financial
statements, it may be indicative of a more pervasive problem, for example,
implications about the integrity of management.?? In such circumstances, the
auditor should reevaluate the assessment of the risk of material misstatement
due to fraud and its resulting impact on (a) the nature, timing, and extent of
the tests of balances or transactions and (o) the assessment of the effectiveness
of controls if control risk was assessed below the maximum.

.77 If the auditor believes that the misstatement is or may be the result
of fraud, and either has determined that the effect could be material to the
financial statements or has been unable to evaluate whether the effect is
material, the auditor should:

a. Attempt to obtain additional evidential matter to determine whether
material fraud has occurred or is likely to have occurred, and, if so,
its effect on the financial statements and the auditor’s report
thereon.®

28 To accomplish this communication, the auditor with final responsibility for the audit may want
to arrange another discussion among audit team members about the risks of material misstatement
due to fraud (see paragraphs .14 through .18).

29 See footnote 4.

30 Section 312.34 states in part, “Qualitative considerations also influence the auditor in reach-
ing a conclusion as to whether misstatements are material.” Section 312.11 states, “As a result of the
interaction of quantitative and qualitative considerations in materiality judgments, misstatements of
relatively small amounts that come to the auditor’s attention could have a material effect on the
financial statements.”

31 However, see paragraphs .79 through .82 of this section for a discussion of the auditor’s
communication responsibilities.

32 Section 312.08 states that there is a distinction between the auditor’s response to detected
misstatements due to error and those due to fraud. When fraud is detected, the auditor should
consider the implications for the integrity of management or employees and the possible effect on
other aspects of the audit.

33 See section 508 for guidance on auditors’ reports issued in connection with audits of financial
statements.
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b. Consider the implications for other aspects of the audit (see para-
graph .76).

c. Discuss the matter and the approach for further investigation with an
appropriate level of management that is at least one level above those
involved, and with senior management and the audit committee.®*

d. If appropriate, suggest that the client consult with legal counsel.

.78 The auditor’s consideration of the risks of material misstatement and
the results of audit tests may indicate such a significant risk of material
misstatement due to fraud that the auditor should consider withdrawing from
the engagement and communicating the reasons for withdrawal to the audit
committee or others with equivalent authority and responsibility.?> Whether
the auditor concludes that withdrawal from the engagement is appropriate
may depend on (a) the implications about the integrity of management and (b)
the diligence and cooperation of management or the board of directors in
investigating the circumstances and taking appropriate action. Because of the
variety of circumstances that may arise, it is not possible to definitively
describe when withdrawal is appropriate.?® The auditor may wish to consult
with legal counsel when considering withdrawal from an engagement.

Communicating About Possible Fraud to Management,
the Audit Committee, and Others®’

.79 Whenever the auditor has determined that there is evidence that
fraud may exist, that matter should be brought to the attention of an appropri-
ate level of management. This is appropriate even if the matter might be
considered inconsequential, such as a minor defalcation by an employee at a
low level in the entity’s organization. Fraud involving senior management and
fraud (whether caused by senior management or other employees) that causes
a material misstatement of the financial statements should be reported di-
rectly to the audit committee. In addition, the auditor should reach an under-
standing with the audit committee regarding the nature and extent of
communications with the committee about misappropriations perpetrated by
lower-level employees.

.80 If the auditor, as a result of the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement, has identified risks of material misstatement due to fraud that
have continuing control implications (whether or not transactions or adjust-
ments that could be the result of fraud have been detected), the auditor should

34 If the auditor believes senior management may be involved, discussion of the matter directly
with the audit committee may be appropriate.

35 See footnote 11.

36 If the auditor, subsequent to the date of the report on the audited financial statements,
becomes aware that facts existed at that date that might have affected the report had the auditor
been aware of such facts, the auditor should refer to section 561, Subsequent Discovery of Facts
Existing at the Date of the Auditor’s Report, for guidance. Furthermore, section 315, Communications
Between Predecessor and Successor Auditors, paragraphs .21 and .22, provide guidance regarding
communication with a predecessor auditor.

37 The requirements to communicate noted in paragraphs .79 through .82 extend to any
intentional misstatement of financial statements (see paragraph .03). However, the communication
may use terms other than fraud—for example, irregularity, intentional misstatement,
misappropriation, or defalcations—if there is possible confusion with a legal definition of fraud or
other reason to prefer alternative terms.
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consider whether these risks represent reportable conditions relating to the
entity’s internal control that should be communicated to senior management
and the audit committee.?® (See section 325, Communication of Internal Con-
trol Related Matters Noted in an Audit, paragraph .04). The auditor also should
consider whether the absence of or deficiencies in programs and controls to
mitigate specific risks of fraud or to otherwise help prevent, deter, and detect
fraud (see paragraph .44) represent reportable conditions that should be
communicated to senior management and the audit committee.

.81 The auditor also may wish to communicate other risks of fraud
identified as a result of the assessment of the risks of material misstatements
due to fraud. Such a communication may be a part of an overall communication
to the audit committee of business and financial statement risks affecting the
entity and/or in conjunction with the auditor communication about the quality
of the entity’s accounting principles (see section 380.11).

.82 The disclosure of possible fraud to parties other than the client’s
senior management and its audit committee ordinarily is not part of the
auditor’s responsibility and ordinarily would be precluded by the auditor’s
ethical or legal obligations of confidentiality unless the matter is reflected in
the auditor’s report. The auditor should recognize, however, that in the follow-
ing circumstances a duty to disclose to parties outside the entity may exist:

a. To comply with certain legal and regulatory requirements®®

b. To asuccessor auditor when the successor makes inquiries in accord-
ance with section 315, Communications Between Predecessor and
Successor Auditors*

c¢. Inresponse to a subpoena

d. To a funding agency or other specified agency in accordance with
requirements for the audits of entities that receive governmental
financial assistance®!

Because potential conflicts between the auditor’s ethical and legal obligations
for confidentiality of client matters may be complex, the auditor may wish to
consult with legal counsel before discussing matters covered by paragraphs .79
through .81 with parties outside the client.

Documenting the Auditor’s Consideration of Fraud
.83 The auditor should document the following:

® The discussion among engagement personnel in planning the audit
regarding the susceptibility of the entity’s financial statements to
material misstatement due to fraud, including how and when the
discussion occurred, the audit team members who participated, and
the subject matter discussed (See paragraphs .14 through .17.)

38 Alternatively, the auditor may decide to communicate solely with the audit committee.

39 These requirements include reports in connection with the termination of the engagement,
such as when the entity reports an auditor change on Form 8-K and the fraud or related risk factors
constitute a reportable event or is the source of a disagreement, as these terms are defined in Item 304
of Regulation S-K. These requirements also include reports that may be required, under certain
circumstances, pursuant to Section 10A(b)1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 relating to an
illegal act that has a material effect on the financial statements.

40 Section 315 requires the specific permission of the client.

41 For example, Government Auditing Standards (the Yellow Book) require auditors to report
fraud or illegal acts directly to parties outside the audited entity in certain circumstances.
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® The procedures performed to obtain information necessary to identify
and assess the risks of material misstatement due to fraud (See
paragraphs .19 through .34.)

®  Specific risks of material misstatement due to fraud that were identi-
fied (see paragraphs .35 through .45), and a description of the auditor’s
response to those risks (See paragraphs .46 through .56.)

® [fthe auditor has not identified in a particular circumstance, improper
revenue recognition as a risk of material misstatement due to fraud,
the reasons supporting the auditor’s conclusion (See paragraph .41.)

® The results of the procedures performed to further address the risk of
management override of controls (See paragraphs .58 through .67.)

®  Other conditions and analytical relationships that caused the auditor
to believe that additional auditing procedures or other responses were
required and any further responses the auditor concluded were appro-
priate, to address such risks or other conditions (See paragraphs .68
through .73.)

® The nature of the communications about fraud made to management,
the audit committee, and others (See paragraphs .79 through .82.)

Effective Date

.84 This section is effective for audits of financial statements for periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2002. Early application of the provisions of
this section is permissible.
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.85
Appendix

Examples of Fraud Risk Factors

A.1 This appendix contains examples of risk factors discussed in para-
graphs .31 through .33 of the section. Separately presented are examples
relating to the two types of fraud relevant to the auditor’s consideration—that
is, fraudulent financial reporting and misappropriation of assets. For each of
these types of fraud, the risk factors are further classified based on the three
conditions generally present when material misstatements due to fraud occur:
(a) incentives/pressures, (b) opportunities, and (c¢) attitudes/rationalizations.
Although the risk factors cover a broad range of situations, they are only
examples and, accordingly, the auditor may wish to consider additional or
different risk factors. Not all of these examples are relevant in all circum-
stances, and some may be of greater or lesser significance in entities of different
size or with different ownership characteristics or circumstances. Also, the
order of the examples of risk factors provided is not intended to reflect their
relative importance or frequency of occurrence.

Risk Factors Relating to Misstatements Arising From
Fraudulent Financial Reporting

A.2 The following are examples of risk factors relating to misstatements
arising from fraudulent financial reporting.

Incentives/Pressures

a. Financial stability or profitability is threatened by economic, indus-
try, or entity operating conditions, such as (or as indicated by):

— High degree of competition or market saturation, accompanied
by declining margins

— High vulnerability to rapid changes, such as changes in technol-
ogy, product obsolescence, or interest rates

— Significant declines in customer demand and increasing busi-
ness failures in either the industry or overall economy

— Operating losses making the threat of bankruptcy, foreclosure,
or hostile takeover imminent

— Recurring negative cash flows from operations or an inability to
generate cash flows from operations while reporting earnings
and earnings growth

— Rapid growth or unusual profitability, especially compared to
that of other companies in the same industry

— New accounting, statutory, or regulatory requirements

b. Excessive pressure exists for management to meet the requirements
or expectations of third parties due to the following:

— Profitability or trend level expectations of investment analysts,
institutional investors, significant creditors, or other external
parties (particularly expectations that are unduly aggressive or
unrealistic), including expectations created by management in,
for example, overly optimistic press releases or annual report
messages
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— Need to obtain additional debt or equity financing to stay
competitive—including financing of major research and devel-
opment or capital expenditures

— Marginal ability to meet exchange listing requirements or debt
repayment or other debt covenant requirements

— Perceived or real adverse effects of reporting poor financial
results on significant pending transactions, such as business
combinations or contract awards

c. Information available indicates that management or the board of
directors’ personal financial situation is threatened by the entity’s
financial performance arising from the following:

— Significant financial interests in the entity

— Significant portions of their compensation (for example, bo-
nuses, stock options, and earn-out arrangements) being contin-
gent upon achieving aggressive targets for stock price, operating
results, financial position, or cash flow!

— Personal guarantees of debts of the entity

d. There is excessive pressure on management or operating personnel
to meet financial targets set up by the board of directors or manage-
ment, including sales or profitability incentive goals.

Opportunities

a. The nature of the industry or the entity’s operations provides oppor-
tunities to engage in fraudulent financial reporting that can arise
from the following:

— Significant related-party transactions not in the ordinary course
of business or with related entities not audited or audited by
another firm

— A strong financial presence or ability to dominate a certain
industry sector that allows the entity to dictate terms or condi-
tions to suppliers or customers that may result in inappropriate
or non-arm’s-length transactions

— Assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenses based on significant
estimates that involve subjective judgments or uncertainties
that are difficult to corroborate

— Significant, unusual, or highly complex transactions, especially
those close to period end that pose difficult “substance over form”
questions

— Significant operations located or conducted across international
borders in jurisdictions where differing business environments
and cultures exist

— Significant bank accounts or subsidiary or branch operations in
tax-haven jurisdictions for which there appears to be no clear
business justification

1 Management incentive plans may be contingent upon achieving targets relating only to certain
accounts or selected activities of the entity, even though the related accounts or activities may not be
material to the entity as a whole.

AICPA Professional Standards AU §31585



300-8

The Standards of Field Work

There is ineffective monitoring of management as a result of the
following:

— Domination of management by a single person or small group
(in a nonowner-managed business) without compensating controls

— Ineffective board of directors or audit committee oversight over
the financial reporting process and internal control

There is a complex or unstable organizational structure, as evidenced
by the following:

— Difficulty in determining the organization or individuals that
have controlling interest in the entity

— Overly complex organizational structure involving unusual legal
entities or managerial lines of authority

— High turnover of senior management, counsel, or board members
Internal control components are deficient as a result of the following:

— Inadequate monitoring of controls, including automated controls
and controls over interim financial reporting (where external
reporting is required)

— High turnover rates or employment of ineffective accounting,
internal audit, or information technology staff

— Ineffective accounting and information systems, including situ-
ations involving reportable conditions

Attitudes/Rationalizations

Risk factors reflective of attitudes/rationalizations by board members, manage-
ment, or employees, that allow them to engage in and/or justify fraudulent
financial reporting, may not be susceptible to observation by the auditor.
Nevertheless, the auditor who becomes aware of the existence of such informa-
tion should consider it in identifying the risks of material misstatement arising
from fraudulent financial reporting. For example, auditors may become aware
of the following information that may indicate a risk factor:

® Ineffective communication, implementation, support, or enforcement
of the entity’s values or ethical standards by management or the
communication of inappropriate values or ethical standards

® Nonfinancial management’s excessive participation in or preoccupa-
tion with the selection of accounting principles or the determination
of significant estimates

® Known history of violations of securities laws or other laws and
regulations, or claims against the entity, its senior management, or
board members alleging fraud or violations of laws and regulations

® [Excessive interest by management in maintaining or increasing the
entity’s stock price or earnings trend

® A practice by management of committing to analysts, creditors, and
other third parties to achieve aggressive or unrealistic forecasts

® Management failing to correct known reportable conditions on a
timely basis

® An interest by management in employing inappropriate means to
minimize reported earnings for tax-motivated reasons

® Recurring attempts by management to justify marginal or inappropri-
ate accounting on the basis of materiality
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® The relationship between management and the current or predecessor

auditor is strained, as exhibited by the following:

— Frequent disputes with the current or predecessor auditor on
accounting, auditing, or reporting matters

— Unreasonable demands on the auditor, such as unreasonable time
constraints regarding the completion of the audit or the issuance
of the auditor’s report

— Formal or informal restrictions on the auditor that inappropri-
ately limit access to people or information or the ability to com-
municate effectively with the board of directors or audit
committee

— Domineering management behavior in dealing with the auditor,
especially involving attempts to influence the scope of the audi-
tor’s work or the selection or continuance of personnel assigned to
or consulted on the audit engagement

Risk Factors Relating to Misstatements Arising From
Misappropriation of Assets

A.3 Risk factors that relate to misstatements arising from misappropria-
tion of assets are also classified according to the three conditions generally
present when fraud exists: incentives/pressures, opportunities, and attitudes/
rationalizations. Some of the risk factors related to misstatements arising from
fraudulent financial reporting also may be present when misstatements arising
from misappropriation of assets occur. For example, ineffective monitoring of
management and weaknesses in internal control may be present when mis-
statements due to either fraudulent financial reporting or misappropriation of
assets exist. The following are examples of risk factors related to misstatements
arising from misappropriation of assets.

Incentives/Pressures

a. Personal financial obligations may create pressure on management
or employees with access to cash or other assets susceptible to theft
to misappropriate those assets.

b. Adverse relationships between the entity and employees with access
to cash or other assets susceptible to theft may motivate those
employees to misappropriate those assets. For example, adverse
relationships may be created by the following:

— Known or anticipated future employee layoffs

— Recent or anticipated changes to employee compensation or
benefit plans

— Promotions, compensation, or other rewards inconsistent with
expectations

Opportunities

a. Certain characteristics or circumstances may increase the suscepti-
bility of assets to misappropriation. For example, opportunities to
misappropriate assets increase when there are the following:

— Large amounts of cash on hand or processed

— Inventory items that are small in size, of high value, or in high
demand

AICPA Professional Standards AU §31585



300-10

The Standards of Field Work

— Easily convertible assets, such as bearer bonds, diamonds, or
computer chips

— Fixed assets that are small in size, marketable, or lacking
observable identification of ownership

Inadequate internal control over assets may increase the suscepti-
bility of misappropriation of those assets. For example, misappro-
priation of assets may occur because there is the following:

— Inadequate segregation of duties or independent checks

— Inadequate management oversight of employees responsible for
assets, for example, inadequate supervision or monitoring of
remote locations

— Inadequate job applicant screening of employees with access to
assets

— Inadequate recordkeeping with respect to assets

— Inadequate system of authorization and approval of transac-
tions (for example, in purchasing)

— Inadequate physical safeguards over cash, investments, inven-
tory, or fixed assets

— Lack of complete and timely reconciliations of assets

— Lack of timely and appropriate documentation of transactions,
for example, credits for merchandise returns

— Lack of mandatory vacations for employees performing key
control functions

— Inadequate management understanding of information technol-
ogy, which enables information technology employees to perpe-
trate a misappropriation

— Inadequate access controls over automated records, including
controls over and review of computer systems event logs.

Attitudes/Rationalizations

Risk factors reflective of employee attitudes/rationalizations that allow them
to justify misappropriations of assets, are generally not susceptible to observa-
tion by the auditor. Nevertheless, the auditor who becomes aware of the
existence of such information should consider it in identifying the risks of
material misstatement arising from misappropriation of assets. For example,
auditors may become aware of the following attitudes or behavior of employees
who have access to assets susceptible to misappropriation:

® Disregard for the need for monitoring or reducing risks related to
misappropriations of assets

® Disregard for internal control over misappropriation of assets by
overriding existing controls or by failing to correct known internal
control deficiencies

® Behavior indicating displeasure or dissatisfaction with the company
or its treatment of the employee

® (Changes in behavior or lifestyle that may indicate assets have been
misappropriated
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Amendment to Section 230, Due Professional Care in
the Performance of Work

1. This section amends section 230, Due Professional Care in the Perform-
ance of Work, paragraphs .12 and .13, to include a discussion about the
characteristics of fraud and a discussion about collusion. (The new language is
shown in boldface italics; deleted language is shown by strikethrough.)

Reasonable Assurance

.10 The exercise of due professional care allows the auditor to obtain reason-
able assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether caused by error or fraud. Absolute assurance is not attainable because
of the nature of audit evidence and the characteristics of fraud. Therefore, an
audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards may
not detect a material misstatement.

.11 The independent auditor’s objective is to obtain sufficient competent
evidential matter to provide him or her with a reasonable basis for forming an
opinion. The nature of most evidence derives, in part, from the concept of
selective testing of the data being audited, which involves judgment regarding
both the areas to be tested and the nature, timing, and extent of the tests to be
performed. In addition, judgment is required in interpreting the results of audit
testing and evaluating audit evidence. Even with good faith and integrity,
mistakes and errors in judgment can be made. Furthermore, accounting
presentations contain accounting estimates, the measurement of which is
inherently uncertain and depends on the outcome of future events. The auditor
exercises professional judgment in evaluating the reasonableness of accounting
estimates based on information that could reasonably be expected to be avail-
able prior to the completion of field work.? As a result of these factors, in the
great majority of cases, the auditor has to rely on evidence that is persuasive
rather than convincing.®

.12 Because of the characterlstlcs of fraud p&r&eﬂ-}&r-ly—t-hese—lfwel-wng—eeﬂ-
e sforgery), a properly planned
and performed audlt may not detect a mater1al mlsstatement Characteristics
of fraud include (a) concealment through collusion among manage-
ment, employees, or third parties; (b) withheld, misrepresented, or
falsified documentation; and (c) the ability of management to override
or instruct others to override what otherwise appears to be effective

controls For example, an—audit—eondueted—in—aeceordance—with—generally

Alse;—auditing procedures may be 1neffect1ve for detectlng an 1ntent10na1
misstatement that is concealed through collusion among elient—personnel
within the entity and third parties or among management or employees of the
elient-entity. Collusion may cause the auditor who has properly per-
formed the audit to conclude that evidence provided is persuasive when
it is, in fact, false. In addition, an audit conducted in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards rarely involves authentication
of documentation, nor are auditors trained as or expected to be experts
in such authentication. Furthermore, an auditor may not discover the
existence of a modification of documentation through a side agreement
that management or a third party has not disclosed. Finally, manage-
ment has the ability to directly or indirectly manipulate accounting
records and present fraudulent financial information by overriding
controls in unpredictable ways.

AICPA Professional Standards AU §31586



300-12 The Standards of Field Work

.13 Since the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements is based on the
concept of obtaining reasonable assurance, the auditor is not an insurer and
his or her report does not constitute a guarantee. Therefore, the subsequent
discovery that a material misstatement, whether from error or fraud, exists in
the financial statements does not, in and of itself, evidence (a) failure to obtain
reasonable assurance, (b) inadequate planning, performance, or judgment, (c)
the absence of due professional care, or (d) a failure to comply with generally
accepted auditing standards.

5 See section 342, Auditi